Instruction Manual



FRENIC-MEGA FRENIC-HVAC FRENIC-HVAC-P FRENIC-AQUA FRENIC-ACE

# OPC-PRT3 Multiprotocol Ethernet Interface



# 

Thank you for purchasing the OPC-PRT3 Multiprotocol Ethernet Interface.

- This product is designed to connect the FRENIC-MEGA, FRENIC-HVAC, FRENIC-HVAC-P, FRENIC-AQUA, and FRENIC-Ace series of inverters to Ethernet communication networks. Please read this instruction manual thoroughly in order to become familiar with the proper interface handling, installation and usage procedures.
- Improper handling may inhibit correct operation or cause premature interface failure.
- Please deliver this instruction manual to the end user of the interface, and retain it in an
  accessible location.
- For inverter usage instructions, please refer to the applicable inverter instruction manual.



**OPC-PRT3** Multiprotocol Ethernet Interface Instruction Manual

#### Part Number 11162 Printed in U.S.A. ©2022 Industrial Control Communications, Inc. All rights reserved

Industrial Control Communications, Inc. reserves the right to make changes and improvements to its products without providing notice.

#### Notice to Users

PRODUCTS ARE NOT AUTHORIZED FOR USE AS CRITICAL COMPONENTS IN LIFE-SUPPORT DEVICES OR SYSTEMS. Life-support devices or systems are devices or systems intended to sustain life, and whose failure to perform, when properly used in accordance with instructions for use provided in the labeling and user's manual, can be reasonably expected to result in significant injury.

No complex software or hardware system is perfect. Bugs may always be present in a system of any size. In order to prevent danger to life or property, it is the responsibility of the system designer to incorporate redundant protective mechanisms appropriate to the risk involved.

### Preface

This instruction manual has been prepared to help you connect your FRENIC-MEGA, FRENIC-HVAC, FRENIC-HVAC-P, FRENIC-AQUA, or FRENIC-Ace inverter to Industrial Ethernet networks using the OPC-PRT3 Multiprotocol Ethernet interface card. This instruction manual does not contain inverter usage instructions. Please refer to this instruction manual in conjunction with the applicable inverter instruction manual in order to become familiar with the proper handling, installation and operation of this product. Improper handling or installation procedures may result in incorrect operation or premature product failure.

### Related Publications

Listed below are publications that are necessary for reference in conjunction with this instruction manual and are subject to change without notice. Please be sure to refer to the most recent available versions.

- RS-485 User's Manual (24A7-E-0082)
- FRENIC-MEGA Instruction Manual (INR-SI47-1457-E)
- FRENIC-MEGA User's Manual (MEHT536)
- FRENIC-HVAC Instruction Manual (INR-S147-1610-E)
- FRENIC-HVAC User's Manual (24A7-E-0069)
- FRENIC-HVAC-P Addendum (FEA-ACDR-IN-123)
- FRENIC-AQUA Instruction Manual (INR-S147-1611-E)
- FRENIC-AQUA User's Manual (24A7-E-0077)
- FRENIC-Ace Instruction Manual (INR-SI47-1733a-E)
- FRENIC-Ace User's Manual (24A7-E-0043E)

### Safety precautions

Please read this instruction manual thoroughly prior to proceeding with installation, connections, operation, or maintenance and inspection. Additionally, ensure that all aspects of the system are fully understood, and familiarize yourself with all safety information and precautions before operating the inverter.

Safety precautions in this instruction manual are classified into the following two categories:

Failure to heed the information indicated by this symbol may lead to dangerous conditions, possibly resulting in death or serious bodily injuries.
Failure to heed the information indicated by this symbol may lead to dangerous conditions, possibly resulting in minor or light bodily injuries and/or substantial property damage.

Failure to heed the information contained under the CAUTION title can also result in serious consequences. These safety precautions are of utmost importance and must be observed at all times.

### Security information

ICC provides products and solutions that support the operation of plants, systems, machines and networks. In order to protect these critical assets against cyber threats, it is necessary to implement and continuously maintain a holistic, state-of-the-art industrial security concept. ICC's products and solutions comprise only one element of such a concept.

Customers are solely responsible for preventing unauthorized access to their plants, systems, machines and networks. Systems, machines and components should be connected to the enterprise network or the internet only if appropriate security measures (such as the use of firewalls and network segmentation) are employed to the extent necessary.

ICC's products and solutions undergo continuous development to make them more secure. ICC strongly recommends the application of product updates as soon as they are available. The use of product versions that are no longer supported, and the failure to apply the latest available updates may increase the customer's exposure to cyber threats.

### Installation and Wiring

# 

- To avoid electrical shock, remove all power from the inverter and wait at least five minutes prior to starting installation. Additionally, confirm that the DC link bus voltage as measured between the P (+) and N (-) terminals is less than 25 VDC.
- Installation should be performed only by qualified personnel.
- To avoid electrical shock, do not operate the inverter with the front cover or wiring cover removed, as accidental contact with exposed high-voltage terminals and internal components may occur.
- To prevent explosions or similar damage, ensure that all cables are properly connected to the correct terminals, and observe all wiring polarity indicators.

# 

- Do not install or operate the interface if it is damaged or has parts missing.
- Prevent conductive items such as screws and metal fragments, or flammable substances such as oil, lint, paper fibers and sawdust from entering the inverter and interface card enclosure.
- Incorrect handling during installation or removal may cause equipment failure.
- Do not subject the cables to scratches, excessive stress, heavy loads or pinching.
- To prevent damage due to electrostatic discharge, always touch a grounded piece of metal prior to touching any equipment.
- Do not stand on or rest heavy objects on the equipment.
- To prevent burns from hot components, do not touch the inverter while power is on, or for some time after power is removed.
- Electrical noise may be emitted from the inverter, motor and wires. Always implement appropriate countermeasures to prevent nearby sensors and devices from malfunctioning due to such noise.

### Operation

## 

- To avoid electrical shock, do not open the front cover of the inverter while power is on or while the inverter is running.
- To avoid electrical shock, do not operate switches with wet hands.
- If the inverter's function codes are incorrectly configured, or configured without adequate understanding of the appropriate inverter Instruction Manual and User's Manual, the motor may rotate with a torque or at a speed not permitted for the machine. Confirm the settings of all function codes prior to running the inverter.



### Maintenance, inspection, and parts replacement

# 

- To avoid electrical shock, remove all power from the inverter and wait at least five minutes prior to starting inspection. Additionally, confirm that the DC link bus voltage as measured between the P (+) and N (-) terminals is less than 25 VDC.
- Maintenance, inspection, and parts replacement should be performed only by qualified personnel.
- Remove all watches, rings and other metallic objects prior to starting work.
- To avoid electrical shock or other injuries, always use insulated tools.

### Disposal

## 

Contact the local or state environmental agency in your area for details on the disposal of electrical components and packaging.

### Other

## 

- Do not attempt to modify the equipment: doing so may cause electrical shock or injuries.
- For clarity purposes, illustrations in this manual may be drawn with covers or safety guards removed. Ensure all covers and safety guards are properly installed prior to starting operation.
- Do not perform hi-pot tests on the equipment.
- Performing a data initialization (function code H03) may reset all inverter function codes to their factory default settings. After performing this operation, remember to reenter any custom function code values prior to starting operation.

### Icons

The following icons are used throughout this manual:



Indicates information which, if not heeded, can result in the product not operating to full efficiency, as well as information concerning incorrect operations and settings which may result in accidents.



Indicates information that can prove handy when performing certain settings or operations.



Indicates a reference to more detailed information.

### - TABLE OF CONTENTS -

1	P	RE-OPERATION INSTRUCTIONS	8
	1.1	Product Overview	.8
	1.2	Features and Specifications	.8
	1.3	Unpacking and Product Confirmation	13
	1.3	3.1 Shipment Confirmation	13
	1.3	3.2 Component Overview	14
	1.4	LED Indicators	15
	1.4	4.1 Network Status LED	15
	1.4	4.2 Module Status LED	15 15
	1.4		15
2	IN	ISTALLATION 1	6
	2.1	Pre-Installation Instructions	16
	2.2 FRE	Installation Procedure for FRENIC-MEGA, FRENIC-HVAC, FRENIC-HVAC-P, NIC-AQUA, non-Ace Inverters	16
	2.3	Installation Procedure for FRENIC-Ace Inverter	18
3	IN	IVERTER FUNCTION CODE SETTINGS	23
	3.1	Inverter Control-Related Settings	23
	3.2	Inverter Reaction to Network Timeout Conditions	24
4	FI	UNCTION CODE NUMBERING AND BEHAVIOR	25
-	4 1	Register Numbers	25
	4.2	Scanned Function Codes	28
	4.2	Commonly Used Function Codes	20
E	ч.5 ті		-3
5			)
6	F	UJI CONFIGURATION STUDIO 3	\$2
	6.1	Overview	32
	6.2	General Object Editing Activities	34
	6.3	Device Settings	35
	6.4	Ethernet Settings	35
	6.4	4.1 Authentication	35
	6.4	4.2 Network Configuration	35
	6.5	Batch Update Mode	35
	6.6	Internal Logic Settings	36
	6.0	6.1 Fail-safe Values	36
		6.6.1.2 Timeout Time	37
		6.6.1.3 Timeout Object Configuration	37
	6.0	6.2 Fail-safe Example	37
	v./	UISCOVERY OVER ETNERNET	58 00
	6.1	7.1 Discovery UN Local Ethernet Network	38 38
	0.1	6.7.2.1 How to Configure Remote Sites	39
	6.8	Manage Device Parameters	40

	6.9	Мо	nitor Device Parameters	40
	6.10	Bac	ckup and Restore Parameters	41
	6.11	Res	store Factory Settings	42
	6.12	Hel	p	42
_			·	
7	E	MBE	EDDED WEB SERVER	43
	7.1	Ove	erview	43
	7.2	Cus	stomizing the Embedded Web Server	43
	7.2	2.1	Customization Overview	43
	7.2	2.2	XTPro Overview	43
	7.2	2.3	XTPro Web Browser-Based Implementation	44
	7.2	2.4	XTPro HMI-Based Implementation	45
	7.2	2.5	XTPro Supported Commands	45
8	FI	LE :	SYSTEM	46
-	8 1	Ove	arview	46
	0.1		B with Windows Explorer	16
	0.2	03	B with Windows Explorer	40
	8.3	FIF	with Windows Explorer	47
	8.4	Loa	ading New Web Server Content	47
9	FI	RM	WARE	49
-	0.1	<b>Ov</b>		10
	0.1	Una	data Bragadura	40
	9.2	opt		43
1(	)	PR	OTOCOL-SPECIFIC INFORMATION	50
	10.1	Mo	dbus/TCP	50
	10	.1.1	Overview	50
	10	.1.2	Unit ID	50
	10	.1.3	Functions	50
	10	.1.4	Holding & Input Registers	50
	10	.1.5	Coil & Discrete Input Mappings	51
	10	.1.6	Connection Timeout Options	51
	10	.1.7	Node Settings	52
	10	.1.8	Holding/Input Register Remap Settings	52
	10.2	Eth	erNet/IP	53
	10	.2.1	Overview	53
	10	.2.2	Server Settings	53
	10	.2.3	Connection Timeout Options	54
	10	2.4	Conorio Class 1 //O Produced and Consumed Data Settings	54 55
	10	2.5	AC/DC Drive Profile Class 1 (1/O) Connection Access	55
	10	2.2.0	Evolicit Messaging Via Get/Set Attribute Single Services	57
	10	2.8	Explicit Messaging Via Data Table Read/Write Services	58
	10	.2.9	Inverter Function Code Access Tag Format	58
	10	.2.10	ControlLogix Examples: Setup	58
	10	.2.11	ControlLogix Example: EDS Add-On Profile (AOP)	60
		10.2	2.11.1 ControlLogix Example: EDS Add-On Profile (AOP) Generic I/O Messaging	62
		10.2	2.11.2 ControlLogix Example: EDS Add-On Profile (AOP) AC/DC Drive Profile	63
	10	.2.12	ControlLogix Example: I/O Messaging	65
		10.2	2.12.1 ControlLogix Example: Generic Default I/O Add-On Instruction	67
	10	10.2	COntrolLogix Example: AC/DC Drive Profile Add-On Instruction	69 72
	10	.2.13	י סטרוניטובטעוג באמוזוףופ. הפמע מ סוטטג טו דעווטנוטוז לטעפצ	12

10.2.14 <b>10.3 All</b>	4 ControlLogix Example: Reading and Writing MSG Instructions	
10.3.1	Overview	77
10.3.2	Explicit Messaging Via Read/Write Services	
10.3.3	Inverter Function Code File Number Offset Format	
10.3.4	SI C-5/05 Example: Read Function Codes	79
10.3.5	SI C-5/05 Example: Reading and Writing	
10.4 BA	Cnet/IP	85
10.4.1	Dratacal Implementation Conformance Statement	05
10.4.1	Protocol Implementation Contormance Statement	
10.4.2	Default Supported Objects	
10.4.3	Server Softings	
10.4.4	Nodo Sottings	
10.4.5	Node Settings	
10.4.0	BACnet Object Settings	
10.4.7	Analog Input Object Settings	
10.4.0	Analog Autout Object Settings	
10.4.9	Analog Value Object Settings	
10.4.1	1 Binany Input Object Settings	
10.4.1	2 Binary Autout Object Settings	
10.4.12	2 Binary Value Object Settings	
10.4.1	A Multi-state Input Object Settings	
10.4.1	5 Multi-state Nutrut Object Settings	
10.4.1	6 Multi-state Value Object Settings	
10.4.N		
10.3 FK		
10.5.1		
10.5.2	Device Settings	
10.5.3	Connection Timeout Options	
10.5.4	Cyclic I/O Produced and Consumed Data Access Settings	
10.5.5	PROFIGNVE Profile	
10.	5.5.1 PROFIdrive Standard Telegram 1	
10.	5.5.2 PROFIDINE Control and Status Words	
10.	5.5.4 PROFIdrive State Diagram	
10.	5.5.5 PROFIdrive-Specific Parameters	
10.5.6	Acyclic Data Access	102
10.5.7	TIA Portal (STEP 7) Hardware Configuration Example	102
10.	5.7.1 Register the GSDML File	102
10.	5.7.2 Add the Device to the Configuration	104
10.	5.7.3 Select the IO Controller	104
10.	5.7.4 Assign IO Module	
10.	5.7.5 Configure the Device Properties	
10.	5.7.6 Online Device Discovery and Conliguration	
10.5.8	GE Proficy Configuration Example	
10	5.8.1 Register the GSDML File	107
10.	5.8.2 Add the Device to the Configuration	
10.	5.8.3 Assign IO Module	109
10.	5.8.4 Configure the Device Properties	110
10.	5.8.5 Save the Configuration	111
11 TR	OUBLESHOOTING	112

### **1 PRE-OPERATION INSTRUCTIONS**

### 1.1 Product Overview

The OPC-PRT3 Multiprotocol Ethernet interface allows information to be transferred seamlessly between a FRENIC-MEGA, FRENIC-HVAC, FRENIC-HVAC-P, FRENIC-AQUA, or FRENIC-Ace inverter and several Ethernet-based fieldbus networks with minimal configuration requirements. The interface installs directly onto the inverter, and presents two RJ-45 jacks with an embedded 10BASE-T/100BASE-TX Ethernet switch for connection to the Ethernet network. In addition to the supported fieldbus protocols, the interface also hosts a fully-customizable embedded web server, which provides access to inverter information via a standard web browser for remote monitoring and control.

Before using the interface, please familiarize yourself with the product and be sure to thoroughly read the instructions and precautions contained in this manual. In addition, please make sure that this instruction manual is delivered to the end user of the interface, and keep this instruction manual in a safe place for future reference or unit inspection.

Note that different interface firmware versions may provide varying levels of support for the various protocols. When using this manual, therefore, always keep in mind the release date of the firmware version running on your interface as it must correspond to this manual's respective release date in order for all documented aspects to apply.

### Supported Protocols

The interface currently provides server support for the following fieldbus protocols:

- Modbus/TCP Server
- EtherNet/IP Server (DLR node)
- Allen Bradley CSP Server (also known as "PCCC" and "AB Ethernet")
- BACnet/IP Server
- PROFINET IO Device (MRP client)

### 1.2 Features and Specifications

Item	Description
Simultaneous Protocols	Supports all standard unmodified Ethernet (SUE) protocols simultaneously
Fuji Configuration Studio	Graphical user interface for discovery, configuration, and firmware update
WEB Server (HTTP)	Customizable with XTPro
Communication Loss Detection	Configurable actions for "fail-safe" conditions
Field Upgradeable	Firmware updates automatically handled by the studio
Parameter Management	Advanced management of parameter access and scan priority
Parameter Backup and Restore	Drive cloning

### Table 1: Features



### **Table 2: General Hardware Specifications**

Item	Description
Power Supply	Directly powered by the inverter
Grounding	Referenced to inverter's 5V power supply ground
LED Indicators	Module Status, Network Status, 2 x Ethernet Link/Activity
USB Port	USB 2.0, mini-B 5-pin

### **Table 3: Ethernet Hardware Specifications**

Item	Description
Number of Ports	2 (internal switch)
Standard	IEEE 802.3 10BASE-T/100BASE-TX Ethernet compliant
Communication Speed and Duplex	100Mbps full (auto sense optimal speed and duplex)
Connector Type	RJ-45 Shielded
Auto MDI-X	Yes (supports all straight-through and cross-over cables)
Cable Type	CAT5-type 8-conductor UTP patch cables
Cable Length	100m per segment max
Topologies	Star/Tree, Linear/Bus/Daisy-chain, Ring (DLR, MRP)

### Table 4: Modbus/TCP Specifications

Item	Description
Conformance Class	Class 0, Class 1 (partial), Class 2 (partial)
Read Function Codes	Read coils (1), Read input status (2), Read multiple registers (3), Read input registers (4), Diagnostics (8)
Write Function Codes	Write coil (5), Write single register (6), Force multiple coils (15), Write multiple registers (16)
Number of Connections	8
Max Read Register Size	125 registers
Max Write Register Size	123 registers
Register Data Type	16-bit integer
Unit (slave) ID	Ignored, echoed in response
TCP Port	502
Response Time	Min 160us, Typically less than 1ms

### Table 5: EtherNet/IP Specifications

Item	Description
Conformance Tested	ODVA EtherNet/IP Declaration of Conformity (CT-13)
Product Type Code	2 (AC Drive)
AC/DC Drive Profile	Yes
UCMM	Yes
Class 3 (Explicit) Messaging	Yes
Class 1 (Implicit I/O) Messaging	Yes
Class 1 Unicast T→O	Yes
Class 1 Multicast T→O	Yes
Number of Connections	16 (Total for both Class 1 and Class 3)
RPI	Min 1ms
I/O Input Size	Max 32 input words, user configurable
I/O Output Size	Max 32 output words, user configurable
Generic (User Configurable) Assembly Instances	100 (input) and 150 (output)
AC/DC Drive Profile Assembly Instances	20 (input) and 70 (output), 21 (input) and 71 (output)
Data Table Read/Write	Yes
DLR	Device Level Ring Node
Class 1 UDP Port	2222 (0x08AE)
Explicit Messaging Port	44818 (0xAF12)
Explicit Messaging Response Time	Min 160us, Typically less than 1ms



### Table 6: Allen Bradley CSP (PCCC) Specifications

Item	Description
Read Services	PLC5 Read (DF1 protocol typed read, 0x68) , PLC5 Word Range Read (DF1 protocol word range read, 0x01), SLC Read (DF1 protocol protected typed logical read with three address fields, 0xA2)
Write Services	PLC5 Write (DF1 protocol typed write, 0x67) , PLC5 Word Range Read (DF1 protocol word range write, 0x00), SLC Read (DF1 protocol protected typed logical write with three address fields, 0xAA)
Data Type	16-bit Integer
File Type	N (Integer)
Logical ASCII Addressing	Yes
Logical Binary Addressing	Yes
Max Read Size	240 bytes (120 16-bit Integers)
Max Write Size	240 bytes (120 16-bit Integers)

### Table 7: BACnet/IP Specifications

Item	Description
BACnet IP	Annex J
Protocol Revision	2
Standard Device Profile (Annex L)	BACnet Application Specific Controller (B-ASC)
BACnet Interoperability Building Blocks (BIBB)	ReadProperty-B (DS-RP-B), ReadPropertyMultiple-B (DS-RPM-B), WriteProperty-B (DW-WP-B), Dynamic Device Binding-B (DM- DDB-B), Dynamic object Binding-B (DM-DOB-B)
Segmentation	No
Max APDU Length	1444 bytes
Character Sets	ANSI X3.4
Object Types	Analog Output, Analog Input, Analog Value, Binary Output, Binary Input, Binary Value, Multi-state Output, Multi-state Input, Multi-state Value
Priority Array	Yes
UDP Port	47808 (0xBAC0, configurable)
Response Time	Min 160us, Typical less than 1ms

### Table 8: PROFINET Specifications

Item	Description
Conformance Tested	PNIO Tester V3.2.1 (4432), PROFINET V2.31
Protocol Level	RT (real-time)
RT Conformance Class	Class B
Netload Class	ш
I/O Cycle Time	Min 1ms
I/O Input Size	Max 32 input words, user configurable
I/O Output Size	Max 32 output words, user configurable
MRP	Media Redundancy Protocol Client
DCP	Discovery, set station name, set IP address
LLDP	Yes
I&M	1&M0
Alarms	Plug, Pull
Number of Controllers	Allows access to only 1 controller

### Table 9: Applicable Inverters

Series	Туре	Capacity	ROM version
FRENIC-MEGA	FRN000G10-00	All capacities	1000 or higher
FRENIC-HVAC	FRN000AR10-00	All capacities	1100 or higher
FRENIC-HVAC-P FRENIC-AQUA	FRNaaaAQ1a-aa	All capacities	1100 or higher
FRENIC-Ace	FRN000E20-00	All capacities	0300 or higher

### Table 10: Environmental Specifications

Item	Description
Operating Environment	Indoors, less than 1000m above sea level, do not expose to direct sunlight or corrosive / explosive gasses
Operating Temperature	-10 ~ +50°C (+14 ~ +122°F)
Storage Temperature	-40 ~ +85°C (-40 ~ +185°F)
Relative Humidity	20% ~ 90% (without condensation)
Vibration	5.9m/s <sup>2</sup> (0.6G) or less (10 ~ 55Hz)
Cooling Method	Self-cooled
RoHS (Lead free)	Yes



### 1.3 Unpacking and Product Confirmation

### 1.3.1 Shipment Confirmation

Check the enclosed items. Confirm that the correct quantity of each item was received, and that no damage occurred during shipment.

Note Some drives may require an additional option attachment or enclosure: Contact Fuji.

- OPC-PRT3 interface board (refer to Figure 1).
- Two M3 x 6mm mounting screws (see Figure 2).





### 1.3.2 Component Overview

Figure 3 provides an overview of the important interface card components.



Figure 3: OPC-PRT3 Component Overview

### Positioning Notch

Aligns with the positioning key on the inverter chassis to ensure that the interface card is installed into the correct communication port (refer to section 2.2).

### PORT1 and PORT2 Ethernet Jacks

Either jack can freely be used in star topology networks (with external switch). In linear topologies, a series of cards can be connected together by daisy-chaining one of the ports to the next inverter in line. In ring topologies, MRP (Media Redundancy Protocol) or DLR (Device Level Ring) must be supported by all devices on the network.

### Standoff Mounting Hardware

The provided M3 x 6mm screws are used to secure the card to the standoffs located on the inverter's control board. Refer to section 2.2.

#### Inverter Control Board Connector

Attaches to the inverter's connector board, which may vary depending on the inverter model.

### USB Port

USB 2.0 port with mini-B connector. Used to access the card via the Fuji Configuration Studio (refer to section 6) and as a USB flash drive (refer to section 8).

### Module Status and Network Status LEDs

These LEDs indicate the current status of the interface card and protocols in use. Refer to section 1.4.

### Ethernet Link and Activity LEDs

One set of LEDs are provided for each Ethernet port. These LEDs provide insight into the Ethernet network's status and activity. Refer to section 1.4.

### 1.4 LED Indicators

### 1.4.1 Network Status LED

LED Activity	Status	Note
Off	Device Off	The inverter power is off
Green Blink / Red Blink	Startup	Startup blink sequence
Green Blink	No Connection	EtherNet/IP connection is not established
Green Off	No Connection	PROFINET connection is not established
Green On	Connection Established	EtherNet/IP or PROFINET connection is established

### 1.4.2 Module Status LED

LED Activity	Status	Note
Off	Device Off	The inverter power is off
Green Blink / Red Blink	Startup	Startup blink sequence
Green On	Device On	Normal status
Green Blink	Discovery identification	PROFINET discovery and identification (DCP)
Red Blink	Error Code	Record the error code sequence and contact technical support

### 1.4.3 Ethernet Link/Activity LEDs

LED Activity	Status	Note
Green On	Link	A valid Ethernet link exists: communication is possible on this port
Green Off	No Link	A valid Ethernet link does not exist: communication is not possible on this port
Red Blink	Activity	Indicates when a packet is transmitted or received on this port



### 2 INSTALLATION

### 2.1 Pre-Installation Instructions

# 

- To avoid electrical shock, remove all power from the inverter and wait at least five minutes prior to starting installation. Additionally, confirm that the DC link bus voltage as measured between the P (+) and N (-) terminals is less than 25 VDC.
- Installation should be performed only by qualified personnel.
- To avoid electrical shock, do not operate the inverter with the front cover or wiring cover removed, as accidental contact with exposed high-voltage terminals and internal components may occur.
- To prevent explosions or similar damage, ensure that all cables are properly connected to the correct terminals, and observe all wiring polarity indicators.
- Only one additional option card may be used when the OPC-PRT3 is installed in the inverter. If two additional option cards are required, please consult with the factory first to confirm compatibility.

### 2.2 Installation Procedure for FRENIC-MEGA, FRENIC-HVAC, FRENIC-HVAC-P, FRENIC-AQUA, non-Ace Inverters



Before installing the interface card, perform all wiring for the main circuit terminals and control circuit terminals.

- Remove the front cover from the inverter to expose the control printed circuit board (control PCB). As shown in Figure 4, there are three option connection ports (A-port, B-port and C-port). The card is mechanically keyed for, and can only be installed into, the A-port (bottom-most) position.
  - To remove the front cover, refer to the applicable inverter Instruction Manual.



Figure 4: Option Port Locations on 0.4 kW Inverter



- Rest the left-hand side of the interface card on the control PCB's A-port mounting support. Align the positioning notch on the interface card with the A-port positioning key, and then slide the interface card to the left to engage the key into the notch. Refer to step ① in Figure 5.
- Rotate the right-hand side of the interface card downward to engage connector CN1 (on the back of the interface card) into the A-port connector (CN4) on the inverter's control PCB. Ensure that the connectors are fully engaged. Refer to step ② in Figure 5.



Ensure that the interface card is fully aligned and seated into the communication port and be sure to perform steps ① and ② in the proper order. Failure to do so may lead to insufficient connector insertion and result in contact failure.



Figure 5: Mounting the Interface Card

4. Secure the interface card to the connector board PCB by first tightening the included M3 x 6mm screw into the inverter standoff located at the lower-right hand corner of the interface card. Next, install and tighten the included M3 x 6mm screw into the standoff mounting hole located at the upper-left hand corner of the interface card. Refer to Figure 6.



Figure 6: Interface Card Mounting Completed

- 5. Connect the network cables as necessary. Insert the Ethernet cables into the Ethernet jacks, making sure that they are fully seated. Ensure that the cables are routed in such a way that they will not be pinched and are not located near any power-carrying wiring, such as the inverter's input power or motor wires.
- 6. Reinstall all covers removed in step 1. Take a moment to confirm that the Ethernet cables are not being pinched and are not routed near any power-carrying wiring.
  - For reinstallation instructions, refer to the applicable inverter Instruction Manual.

### ICC

### 2.3 Installation Procedure for FRENIC-Ace Inverter



Before installing the interface card, perform all wiring for the main circuit terminals and control circuit terminals.



Some drives may require an additional option attachment or enclosure: Contact Fuji.

 Remove the front cover from the inverter to expose the control printed circuit board (control PCB). Install the interface card according to the inverter capacity as shown in Figure 7, Figure 8, or Figure 9. Otherwise, refer to the FRENIC-ACE <u>Instruction Manual</u> or contact technical support for the appropriate installation instructions.

To remove the front cover, refer to the FRENIC-Ace Instruction Manual.



Figure 7: Installation for 15 kW and Smaller Inverters







Figure 9: Installation for 30 kW and Larger Inverters

 Engage connector CN1 (on the back of the interface card) into the connector on the connector board. Ensure that the connectors are fully engaged.



 Ensure that the interface card is fully aligned and seated into the communication port. Failure to do so may lead to insufficient connector insertion and result in contact failure.

- 3. Secure the interface card to the connector board PCB by first tightening the included M3 x 6mm screw into the inverter standoff located at the lower-right hand corner of the interface card. Next, install and tighten the included M3 x 6mm screw into the standoff mounting hole located at the upper-left hand corner of the interface card.
- 4. Connect the network cables as necessary. Insert the Ethernet cables into the Ethernet jacks, making sure that they are fully seated. Ensure that the cables are routed in such a way that they

### 166

will not be pinched and are not located near any power-carrying wiring, such as the inverter's input power or motor wires.

- 5. Reinstall all covers removed in step 1. Take a moment to confirm that the Ethernet cables are not being pinched and are not routed near any power-carrying wiring.
  - For reinstallation instructions, refer to the FRENIC-Ace Instruction Manual.

# 3 INVERTER FUNCTION CODE SETTINGS

Depending on the desired operation of the overall application, the inverter function codes listed in Table 11 are important for proper operation of the end-to-end communication system. Although there may be many other function codes that will require configuration for your specific application, it is important to understand the manner in which the following function codes will impact successful control of the inverter.

Ŵ

For further details regarding these function codes, please refer to the "FUNCTION CODES" section in the applicable inverter Instruction Manual, and RS-485 User's Manual (24A7-E-0082), Chapter 5, Section 5.2 "Data Formats."

Code	Name	Setting Range	Required Value
Y98	Bus Link Function (Mode Selection)	0 to 3	3

### Table 11: Function Code Settings Overview

### 3.1 Inverter Control-Related Settings

The following function codes relate to whether or not the inverter is to be controlled (command word and/or frequency command) from the network, or whether the inverter will be locally-controlled (and therefore only monitored and/or configured via the network.)

### Bus Link Function (Mode Selection) (y98)

If the inverter is to be controlled from the network, then set the value of y98 to 3 (fieldbus option). A setting of 3 for y98 may also be appropriate even if H30 is configured for an alternate (local) control scheme.

When the inverter is controlled from the network, a selection of reference commands and monitor parameters (S## and M## function codes as defined in Table 12) are available for controlling and monitoring the inverter's speed. If multiple reference commands are being modified from the network, then the interface card invokes a hierarchy to determine which reference is to be passed to the inverter as its main reference command. This will also determine which monitor parameter is passed from the inverter to the interface card as the main monitor parameter.

The S## and M## function code hierarchy is listed from highest to lowest priority in Table 12.

S## Function Code	M## Function Code	Hierarchy Priority	Description
S01	M06	Highest	frequency / per-unit
S05	M09	2 <sup>nd</sup> Highest	frequency / Hz
S19	M79	3 <sup>rd</sup> Highest	speed
S02	M07	4 <sup>th</sup> Highest	torque
S03	M08	5 <sup>th</sup> Highest	torque current
S13	M73	Lowest	PID

Table 12: S## and M## Function Code Hierarchy

The highest-priority S## function code with a non-zero value will be used as the inverter's main reference command. The corresponding M## function code should be monitored.

### 3.2 Inverter Reaction to Network Timeout Conditions

Function codes o27 and o28 specify the inverter's reaction when a network timeout occurs. Table 13 lists the settings for o27 and o28.

o27 Value	o28 Value	Inverter reaction when a timeout occurs	Remarks
0, 4 to 9		Immediately coast to a stop and trip $Er5$ .	
1	0.0s to 60.0s	After the time specified by o28, coast to a stop and trip $E_{r}$ 5.	
2	0.0s to 60.0s	If the communications link is restored within the time specified by o28, ignore the communications error. After the timeout, coast to a stop and trip Er5.	
3, 13 to 15		Maintain present operation, ignoring the communications error (no Er5 trip).	
10		Immediately decelerate to a stop. Trip Er5 after stopping.	Inverter function code F08 specifies the deceleration time
11	0.0s to 60.0s	After the time specified by o28, decelerate to a stop. Trip Er5 after stopping.	Same as above
12	0.0s to 60.0s	If the communications link is restored within the time specified by o28, ignore the communications error. After the timeout, decelerate to a stop and trip ξr5.	Same as above

### Table 13: Inverter Reaction to Network Timeout Conditions (Function Codes o27 and o28)

For details regarding the interface-specific timeout behavior and configuration, please refer to section 6.6.1.

# 4 FUNCTION CODE NUMBERING AND BEHAVIOR

### 4.1 Register Numbers

All accessible inverter function codes can be referenced by their Modbus register indices, as defined in the **RS-485 User's Manual (24A7-E-0082)**, section 3 (Table 3.2) and can be conveniently referenced in the configuration studio (section 6.8). These same register numbers are used when accessing function codes via certain Ethernet protocols. The terms "function code" and "register" refer to data stored on the inverter and will be used interchangeably throughout this documentation. The max supported register number is 13668. Because the RS-485 User's Manual contains information for several Fuji inverter families, the relevant information will be paraphrased here for the specific case of the FRENIC-MEGA, FRENIC-HVAC, FRENIC-HVAC-P, FRENIC-AQUA, and FRENIC-Ace inverters.

All inverter function codes are exposed as register indices according to a mathematical conversion formula which combines two elements (a function code group number and function code offset) to create a unique register number for each function code. Each function code group ("E" / Extension Terminal Functions, for example) is assigned a specific function code group number (refer to Table 14). Each function code also has an offset number, which is the function code without the leading letter (the offset number for function code E05, for example, is 5). To determine the register number for a given function code, is represed mathematically via Equation 1.

As an example, let's calculate the register number for output frequency (function code M09). According to Table 14, the group number for the "M" function code group is 8. It is also evident that the offset number for M09 is 9. Inserting the group number and offset number into Equation 1, we arrive at the result indicated in Equation 2.

$$(8 \times 256) + 9 + 1 = 2058$$
 Equation 2

For convenience, the function code to register number mapping can be referenced in the Configuration Studio (refer to section 6.8).

Note that not all of the available registers that exist in the interface card's register map have corresponding function codes that exist in the inverter. In other words, if a read from or write to a register number that does not correspond to an existing inverter function code takes place, the read/write may be successful (depending on the specific register accessed; refer to section 4.2), but the data will have no meaning. This feature is beneficial in situations where the accessing of non-contiguous registers can be made more efficient by accessing an all-inclusive block of registers (some of which correspond to inverter function codes and some of which do not), while only manipulating those in your local programming that are known to exist.



### Table 14: Function Code-to-Register Conversion Examples

Function Code Group Group Bogister Exam		Group	Devictor Francis Using Frankfur 4
Code	Name	Number	Register Example Using Equation 1
			F00: (0 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 1
F	Fundamental Functions	0	F07 (acceleration time 1): (0 x 256) + 7 + 1 = 8
			: F99: (0 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 100
	Extension		E00: (1 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 257
E	Terminal Functions	1	E98 (terminal [FWD] function): (1 x 256) + 98 + 1 = 355 E99: (1 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 356
			C00: (2 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 513
С	Control Functions	2	C20 (jogging frequency): (2 x 256) + 20 + 1 = 533
			C99: (2 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 612
			P00: (3 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 769
Р	Motor 1 Parameters	3	P03 (motor 1 rated current): (3 x 256) + 3 + 1 = 772
			P99: (3 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 868
	Link		H00: (4 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 1025
н	Performance	4	: H11 (deceleration mode): (4 x 256) + 11 + 1 = 1036
	Functions		: H99 (4 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 1124
			A00: (5 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 1281
А	Motor 2 Parameters	5	A05 (motor 2 torque boost): (5 x 256) + 5 + 1 = 1286
			A99: (5 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 1380
	Operational		$000: (6 \times 256) + 0 + 1 = 1537$
0	Functions	6	$001. (0 \times 250) + 1 + 1 = 1550$ : $0001. (0 \times 250) + 00 + 1 = 1526$
			$033. (0 \times 230) + 39 + 1 = 1030$ $000. (7 \times 256) + 0 + 1 = 1703$
0	Command	7	Sub. $(7 \times 250) + 0 + 1 = 1795$ : Sub. (frequency commond): (7 × 256) + 5 + 1 - 1708
5	Data	7	Sub (frequency command): $(7 \times 250) + 5 + 1 = 1798$ :
			S99. (7 x 250) + 99 + 1 = 1692
	Manitan Data 4	0	$\begin{array}{l} \text{M00:} (8 \times 256) + 0 + 1 = 2049 \\ \vdots \\ \text{M00:} (a + 1 + 1 + 2049) \\ \end{array}$
IVI	Monitor Data 1	Ø	1009 (output frequency): (6 x 256) + 9 + 1 = 2058 : N000 (8 x 256) + 0 + 4 - 2448
			$ V 33. (0 \times 250) + 3 + 1 = 2148$
	Motor 4	40	ruu: (10 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 2561 ; ;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;
r	Parameters	10	r02 (motor 2 base frequency): (10 x 256) + 6 + 1 = 2563
			r99: (10 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 2660

ICC			
Function	on Code Group	Group	
Code	Name	Number	Register Example Using Equation 1
	Customizable		U00: (11 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 2817
U	Functions	11	: U99: (11 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 2916
			J00: (13 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 3329
J	Application Functions 1	13	J03 (PID proportional gain): (13 x 256) + 3 + 1 = 3332
			J99: (13 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 3428
			y00: (14 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 3585
У	Link Functions	14	y98 (bus link function): (14 x 256) + 98 + 1 = 3683 y99: (14 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 3684
			W00: (15 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 3841
W	Monitor Data 2	15	W32 (PID output): (15 x 256) + 32 + 1 = 3873
			W99 (15 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 3940
~	Alorm Doto 1	16	X00 (alarm history / latest): (16 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 4097
^	Alanni Dala T	10	X99: (16 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 4196
			Z00: (17 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 4353
Z	Alarm Data 2	17	Z53 (3 <sup>rd</sup> last alarm torque): (17 x 256) + 53 + 1 = 4406
			Z99: (17 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 4452
			b00: (18 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 4609
b	Motor 3 Parameters	18	b12 (motor 3 starting frequency): (18 x 256) + 12 + 1 = 4621
			b99: (18 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 4708
			d00: (19 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 4865
d	Application Functions 2	19	d24 (zero speed control): (19 x 256) + 24 + 1 = 4889
			d99: (19 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 4964
\\/1	Monitor Data 3	22	W100: (22 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 5633
VVI	MONITON Data 3	22	W199 (22 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 5732
W/2	Monitor Data 4	22	W200: (23 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 5889
٧٧Z	WOILIOI Data 4	25	W299 (23 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 5988
W/2	Monitor Data 5	24	W300: (24 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 6145
		24	W399 (24 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 6244
¥1	Alarm Data 2	25	X100: (25 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 6401
	Alami Dala 3	20	X199 (25 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 6500

Function Code Group		Group	Devictor Exemple Using Equation 4
Code	Name	Number	Register Example Using Equation 1
K	Keypad	29	K00: (28 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 7169
ĸ	Functions	20	K99 (28 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 7268
т	Timer	20	T00: (29 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 7425
I	Functions	25	T99 (29 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 7524
⊔1	High	21	H100: (31 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 7937
	Functions 1	51	H199 (31 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 8036
01	Operational	27	o100: (37 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 9473
01	Functions	57	o199: (37 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 9572
1.11	Customizable	30	U100: (39 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 9985
01	Functions 1	55	U199: (39 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 10084
11	PID Control 1	48	J100: (48 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 12289
51		40	J199: (48 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 12388
12	PID Control 2	49	J200: (49 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 12545
02			J299: (49 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 12644
и	Pump APP	51	J400: (51 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 13057
34	Functions	51	J499: (51 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 13156
15	External PID 1	52	J500: (52 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 13313
	Functions	52	J599: (52 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 13412
16	External PID 2	53	J600: (53 x 256) + 0 + 1 = 13569
50	Functions	55	J699: (53 x 256) + 99 + 1 = 13668

### 4.2 Scanned Function Codes

122

The interface card provides network access to the specified list of function codes. These function codes are constantly being read and/or written (as applicable), and their current values are therefore mirrored in the interface card's internal memory. Only those function codes selected in the **Manage Device Parameters** configuration windows in the Configuration Studio (refer to section 6.8) will represent meaningful values.

The principle disadvantage of scanned function codes is that write data checking is not available. This means that when the value of a scanned function code is modified via a network protocol, the interface card itself is not able to determine if the new value will be accepted by the inverter (the value may be out-of-range, or the inverter may be in a state in which it will not accept new values being written via communications, etc.) For example, if a write is performed to a scanned command function code with a data value that is out-of-range, the interface card will not generate a corresponding error. However, if end-to-end confirmation of such data writes is required, then the function code can be read over the network at a later time to confirm that the written value "took hold" in the inverter.

Accesses to any function code (?00...?99, where "?" is any valid function code group letter from Table 14) will always be successful. Even if an inverter function code corresponding to a given register does not exist in the **Manage Device Parameters**, the interface card still maintains a placeholder location in

its internal mirroring memory for that function code. This feature allows for the block access of noncontiguous registers (function codes) as described in section 4.1. Care must be taken to utilize only the function codes that are known to exist and that are also specified in the **Manage Device Parameters**.

### 4.3 Commonly Used Function Codes

For a complete listing of all available function codes, their bit mappings, scaling values, etc., please refer to the applicable inverter <u>Instruction Manual</u> and the **Fuji RS-485 User's Manual (24A7-E-0082)**. As a user convenience, the structures of the commonly-used "Operation command" (function code S06), "Operation status" (function code M14) and "Rotation Speed" (function code W08) are replicated here (refer to Table 15, Table 16 and Table 17, respectively).

### Table 15: Structure of "Operation command" (Function code S06)

#### 15 14 13 12 11\*1 10 9 7 Λ 3 RST XR XF 0 EN X9 X8 X7 X6 X5 X4 X3 X2 X1 REV FWD (REV) (FWD) Unused FN General-purpose General-purpose input 1 FWD: Forward terminal input command Alarm reset **REV: Reverse** command

Data format [14] Operation command

\*1 bit11: The EN terminal is a bit dedicated for monitor and the terminal command cannot be input through communications. (Applicable only with FRN G1 - E and FRN G1 - A.)

(All bits are turned ON when set to 1.)

(Example) When S06 (operation command) = FWD, X1 = ON

0000 0000 0000 0101b = 0005H Consequently,

00 <sub>H</sub>	05 <sub>H</sub>
OOH	OOH

 $\Rightarrow$ 

### Table 16: Structure of "Operation status" (Function code M14)

7

6

4

2

1 0

Bit	Symbol	Description		Su	pport*1		Bit	Symbol	Description		Su	pport*1	
			Mini	Eco	Multi	MEGA				Mini	Eco	Multi	MEGA
0	FWD	During forward rotation	0	0	0	0	8	IL.	During current limiting	0	0	0	0
1	REV	During reverse rotation	0	0	0	0	9	ACC	During acceleration	0	0	0	0
2	EXT	During DC braking (or during pre-exciting)	0	0	0	0	10	DEC	During deceleration	0	0	0	0
3	INT	Inverter shut down	0	0	0	0	11	ALM	Alarm relay (for any fault)	0	0	0	0
4	BRK	During braking (fixed to 0 for FRENIC-Mini)	×	0	0	0	12	RL	Communicati ons effective	0	0	0	0
5	NUV	DC link circuit voltage established (0 = undervoltage)	0	0	0	0	13	0	<u></u>	×	×	×	×
6	TL	During torque limiting	×	×	0	0	14	0		×	×	×	×
7	VL	During voltage limiting	0	0	0	0	15	BUSY	During function code data writing	0	0	0	0

\*1 The "Support" column indicates whether each inverter type supports the corresponding bit or not. The symbol "O" means the code is supported and the symbol "X" means that the code is not supported (fixed to 0).

### Table 17: Structure of "Rotation Speed" (Function code W08)

Data format [37] Floating point data (load rotation speed, etc.)

15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
										1	8 53				
Expo	onent							Man	tissa						

Exponent: 0-3 Mantissa: 1 to 9999

The value expressed by this format = the mantissa  $\times 10^{(exponent-2)}$ 

Numeric value	Mantissa	Exponent	10 <sup>(exponent-2)</sup>
0.01 to 99.99	1 to 9999	0	0.01
100.0 to 999.9	1000 to 9999	1	0.1
1000 to 9999	1000 to 9999	2	1
10000 to 99990	1000 to 9999	3	10

Data format [16] Operation status

122

# 5 TIMEOUT PROCESSING

The interface card can detect breaks in network communications and trigger a timeout event. The card's timeout options are configured on a per-protocol basis by the connection timeout options settings. Refer to the specific protocol section in section 10 for details on these settings. If a timeout timer is enabled, a timeout event will be triggered when a break in network communications exceeds the configured timeout time. If no timeout timers are enabled, timeout processing will be disabled.

The card supports two, mutually exclusive, timeout actions when a timeout event is triggered. When the timeout action is set to "Fault Drive", the card continuously reports the health of the network to the inverter using a timeout flag. The timeout flag is set when a timeout event is triggered. The timeout flag is cleared when network communications resume. The inverter can be configured to fault if the timeout flag remains set for a specific period of time. Refer to o27 and o28 in section 3.2 for details on this inverter setting.

Alternatively, when the timeout action is set to "Apply Fail-safe Values", the card can write fail-safe values to any inverter function codes when a timeout event is triggered. Refer to section 6.6.1 for details on how to configure fail-safe values.



Figure 10: Timeout Processing Diagram

Figure 10 above shows the relative timing of the various signals, settings, and events associated with timeout processing when the card's timeout action is set to "Fault Drive". The diagram depicts three different scenarios:

- A. Ethernet communications are briefly interrupted, but recover before the card's timeout time has elapsed. Therefore, no timeout event is triggered and the card's timeout flag remains deasserted.
- B. Ethernet communications are interrupted for a period of time exceeding the card's timeout time. This triggers a timeout event and the card asserts its timeout flag. However, communications recover and the card deasserts its timeout flag before the inverter's o28 time has elapsed. Therefore, no fault is triggered.
- C. Ethernet communications are interrupted for a period of time exceeding the card's timeout time. This triggers a timeout event and the card asserts its timeout flag. The timeout flag remains asserted for a period of time exceeding the inverter's o28 time and the inverter may fault (depending on o27). Communications recover and the card deasserts its timeout flag. However, the inverter remains faulted until the fault is reset.

# 6 FUJI CONFIGURATION STUDIO

### 6.1 Overview

The interface card is discovered, configured and updated by the Fuji Configuration Studio PC application (refer to Figure 11). The studio typically requires an Ethernet connection for remote discovery, network setting, configuration, real-time monitoring, and firmware updates. Configuration, real-time monitoring and firmware updates are also possible via USB. Otherwise, under normal operation, USB should be disconnected. To obtain the latest release of the Configuration Studio, refer to the <u>product web page</u> on the internet or contact technical support. The remainder of this section will provide only a brief introduction to the configuration concepts. For protocol specific configuration, refer to the relevant protocol section 10.

			* 8 X (1.4)	ie bent	- 0 X	Analog Input - OUTPUT R	IO() Settings	0				
Device Confi	ourations		-			Charles Married	lo men					
Online Device						Instance						
- Online Derico						Bunchise Dode Group	Mr. Mount	tar Data 1				
B OFC-PETS						Contra Cale Marcha						
- Ethernet						Parada code mande						
<ul> <li>BAChetyse Si</li> </ul>	srver					Unes	herts.					
- Node	(This are					Line Venie						
Device	Coject											
Analon	Input - CULURE CLIRRENT											
Analog	Input - OUTPUT VOLTAGE											
Analog	Input - INPUT_POWER											
Analog	Input - OUTPUT_POWER											
Analog	Output - FREQ_REF											
Analog	Output - ACCEL TIME											
Analog	Output - DECEL_TIME											
2.100	POUL PARTY POLI STATUS											
Binary	allor - Larry 1651 2190100											
Binary	input - REV_ROT_STATUS		*									
Binary Binary	Input - REV_ROT_STATUS	*1	X Opertiel									
Binary Binary Anakgi Obj	Input - REV_ROT_STATUS	* 1	X Object link Object Type Object Name	Instance Function Code Gro	up Function Code No	unter Units Unit Val	ke Strack	Active Text	ractive Text Po	anta Reinquist De	els.át	
Binary Binary Analogi Analogi Dig Binary City City City City City City City Cit	Input - REV_ROT_STATUS	* 1	X Digest Deb Object Type Object Name Awarg Input Duclinus (NBD)	Instance Function Code Gro 1 M Movime Date 1	ip Function Code No	unber Units Unit Val	ke Bitnask Nys	Active Text	racive Text Po	anty Relinquish De	thult	
Sinary Binary Anaky Oly Ind Ind Ind Ind Ind Ind Ind Ind Ind Ind	Input - REV_ROT_STATUS Input - REV_ROT_STATUS Input - GUTPUT_REQ Summary an Name OUTPUT_REQ where 1 etch 20de Oscip Millionetar Date 1 ctor 20de Number 9	* 1	X Digest Left Object Type Digest Name Awarg Input DUTPUT (UTP) Awarg Input DUTPUT (UTPUT)	Instance Function Code Gro 1 No Manifer Data 1 2 VV Viontor Data 2 3 W Viontor Data 2	up Function Code No 9 3	unber Units Unit Val Netty X/A amperes X/A	ke Bitnack Noli Noli Noli	Adve led No No No	ractive Test Po grá Po grá Po grá Po	anty Relinquist De h N/A h N/A h N/A	daut.	
Sinary Binary Anaky Dig Inc La La Uni	Input - REV_ROT_STATUS Input - REV_ROT_STATUS Input - GUTPUT_INEQ Summary an Name OUTPUT_INEQ Input - GUTPUT_INEQ Input - REV_ROT_STATUS Input -	* x	X Operties Object Type Delect Name Averagingue Dutieut 7000 Analog Input DUTIPUT/OUREN Analog Input DUTIPUT/OUREN Analog Input DIPUT/20088	Instance Function Code Gro 1 Mit Monitor Data 1 2 W Monitor Data 2 4 W Monitor Data 2 4 W Monitor Data 2	up Function Code No 9 5 6 21	unber Units Unit Val Nettr N/A amperes N/A other N/A clowate N/A	ke Bitnak Nil Nil Nil Nil	Active Test Nois Nois Nois Nois	ractive Test Po QA No QA No QA No	anty Relinquistr De N RyA N RyA N RyA N RyA	thuit.	
Sitziy Birary Anaky Og ing Ing Ing Ing Ing Ing Ing Ing Ing Ing I	Input - REV_ROT_STATUS Input - REV_ROT_STATUS	* 4	Copert Let     Object Type     Object     O	Instance Function Code Gro h Mitchine Data 1 W Monitor Data 2 W Monitor Data 2 W Monitor Data 2 W Monitor Data 2 5 W Miniter Data 2	up Function Code No 9 5 21 22	inter Units Unit fail new V/A ampere V/A closults V/A closults V/A	ke Strack N.S. N.S. N.S. N.S. N.S.	Active Test NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA	ractive Test Pri grá No grá No grá No grá No grá No	anty Relinguisti De N NVA N NVA A NVA A NVA	Healt .	
sitary Birary Pertectionit attas Arakgi Dig Inte Inte Inte Inte Inte Inte Inte Inte	Input - REV_ROT_STATUS Input - REV_ROT_STATUS Input - COUTTING Summary and Name Office J REQ America Court Court (Status) Status) court Court Status) court Court Status) court Court Status) Status)	÷3	X Opertion Depth System Digital Name Awarg Input District Name Awarg Input District OutPut Awarg Input District OutPut Awarg Input District Over Awarg Input OutPut District Name Awarg Input District Pointer Awarg Input District Name	Instance Function Code Gro N Monitor Data 1 2 W Monitor Data 2 3 W Monitor Data 2 4 W Manitor Data 2 3 W Manitor Data 2 1 Si Command Data	up Function Code No 9 5 21 22 1	unter Units Unit Val rener X/A ampere X/A volta X/A chosutta X/A rener X/A	ke Bitnatk NG NG NG NG NG NG NG	Active Test No. No. No. No. No. No. No.	1945/ve Test Pr 194 Pr 194 Pr 194 Pr 194 Pr 194 Pr 194 Pr	anty Reinquist De NVA NVA NVA NVA NVA NVA NVA NVA	tsuit.	
sitary Bipary spot CONTI HUS Arakgi Dig line La fan ta Un	Input - REV, ROT, STATUS Input - REV, ROT, STATUS Annual an News OLTPUT, IREQ Summary an News OLTPUT, IREQ even Code (sinup, 6): Montan Uses 1 chan Code (sinup, 6): Montan Uses 1 b; Nerg	* 1	Copertial Operating Dependence Annual plane District Name Annual plane DUTPUT_COME Annual plane DUTPUT_COME Annual plane DUTPUT_COME Annual plane DUTPUT_COME Annual plane DUTPUT_COME Annual plane DUTPUT_COME Annual plane DUTPUT_COME	Instance Function Code Gro 1 Mi Monter Date 1 2 W Monter Date 2 3 W Monter Date 2 4 W Monter Date 2 3 W Monter Date 2 4 W Monter Date 2 4 St Command Date 2 Ni Command Date	op Function Code No 9 5 5 21 22 5 8	unter Units Unit Val neer V.A ampere V.A obsults V.A obsults V.A choutts V.A nerr V.A nerr V.A	ke Strack NG NG NG NG NG NG	Active Test Noi Noi Noi Noi Noi Noi Noi Noi	ractive Test Pri grá tri grá tri grá tri grá tri grá tri grá tri	anty Relinquist De N RVA A RVA A RVA A RVA A RVA A RVA A B A B	ts.it	
Sittin Birary I Stary I Anska De De De De De De De De De De De De De	Ingul - REV, ROT, STATUS Ingul - REV, ROT, STATUS Meridian CUTPUT, REQ Summary am Name CUTPUT, FRQ meridi meridian context context context for the meridian context context for the status of	* 1	Copercise     Opercise	Instance Function Code Silo 1 In Monitor Data 1 2 W Monitor Data 2 4 W Monitor Data 2 3 W Minitor Data 2 1 Science Data 2 5 Science	up Function Code Nu 9 5 6 21 22 5 5 7 9	Inter Units Unit Val ventr V/A volts V/A closetts V/A closetts V/A ventr V/A ventr V/A ventrs V/A ventrs V/A	lue Streek N.S. N.S. N.S. N.S. N.S. N.S. N.S. N.S	Active Test NG NG NG NG NG NG NG NG	ractive Test Pri grá tri grá tri grá tri grá tri grá tri grá tri grá tri grá tri	anty Relinquist De N RVA A NVA A NVA A NVA A NVA A D A D A D A D A D A D A D	dult	
Bindy Bindy Performent interes Archag Dig Interes Inte	Input: REV.RCT_STATUS Input: REV.RCT_STATUS Input: REV.RCT_STATUS Input: REVER Input: REVER Inp	*1	X Departure Departure Among Input Departure Among Input Among	Instance Function Code Gro 1 M Alexand Team 2 W Monitor Team 4 W Monitor Team 4 W Monitor Team 5 W Minister Team 5 Cammand Team 5 Si Cammand Team 5 Si Cammand Team	9 Function Code No 9 5 6 21 22 5 8 7 7	where Divis Unit Vall Amere N/A Ampres N/A Closedts N/A Closedts N/A Ameres N/A Seconds N/A Loss ameres	he Streek NG NG NG NG NG NG NG NG NG	active lest Noa Noa Noa Noa Noa Noa Noa Noa Noa	ractive Test. Po grá ho grá ho grá ho grá ho grá ho grá ho grá ho grá ho grá ho	anty Relinquist De Ny A Ny A Ny A Ny A Ny A Ny A Ny A Ny A	steat:	
sindy Binay oper children crists Arekgi So oper ka ka ka ka ka ka	Instant THE CONSTRUCT STATUS INSTANT AND A STATUS STATUS INSTANT INSTANT AND A STATUS INSTANT AND A STATUS INSTANT	*3	X Expert for Depart law Object York Jacob peak District York Jacob peak	Instance Function Code Gro M. Monitor Data 1 2 W. Monitor Data 2 4 W. Monitor Data 2 4 W. Monitor Data 2 5 W. Minitor Data 2 5 Command Data 3 Science Data 2 5 Command Data 5 Command Data	P Function Code No 9 5 5 21 22 5 8 7 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 1	where Sinds Unite Mall New N/A Aropheres N/A Colonalto N/A Clonalto N/A Clonalto N/A New N/A New N/A New N/A	lue Bitmack N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A	Active Test NoA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NG	native Test Po 1976 No 1976 No	anty Reinquist De N N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A	deut:	
sindy Binay oper children crists Arkey Bin Sin La La La La La	The second secon	* 1	Coperitor Operation Operat	Instance Function Code Gro 1 Nr Meetan Eals 1 2 W Monto Data 2 3 W Meetan Data 2 4 W Minite Data 2 3 W Minite Data 2 3 Science Data 2 3 Science Data 2 3 Science Data 2 4 Science Data 2 5 Command Data	up Function Code Ru 9 5 6 21 22 1 5 5 7 1 7 7 7 7 7 8 7 8 8 8 8 8 9 8 7 8 9 7 7 8 8 8 8	unter 10vts UnerVall Netre 5,2,3 Vota 5,2,4 Klowatta 5,2,4 Vota 5,2,4 Vota 5,2,4 Netre 5,	kue Bitmask Nya Nya Nya Nya Nya Nya Nya Nya Nya Nya	Active Test NoA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NG	1900/00 [est Pr 90 No 90	anty Relinquist De NYA NYA NYA NYA NYA NYA NYA NYA NYA NYA	ts.tt	
Binay Binay et CHINI China Ackay China Chi	ngan THE CASE STATUS INTEL AND A STATUS INTE	*1	Eligent Law     Organit Signame     Annang Repair     Annang	Instance Function Code Grin M. Monto Data 1 2 W. Monto Data 1 3 W. Monto Data 2 4 W. Monto Data 2 5 W. Monto Data 2 5 W. Monto Data 2 5 S. Stromman Data 3 S. Command Data 3 S. Command Data 4 W. Monto Data 2 9 S. Command Data 4 W. Monto Data 2 9 S. Command Data 4 W. Monto Data 2 9 S. Command Data 5 S.	up Function Code Nu 9 5 5 1 1 2 1 5 5 5 5 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	where Suns Unic Val were Suns amperes Suns voltes Suns elevantes Suns elevantes Suns recentes Suns r	ke Bitmask Nya Nya Nya Nya Nya Nya Nya Nya Nya Nya	Active level NeA NeA NeA NeA NeA NeA NeA NeA NeA NeA	native lest. Pr 94 No 94 No 100 No 100 NO N	anty: Relinquist De N RVA NVA NVA NVA NVA NVA NVA NVA N	864 860	
Binary Binary en during Anky Bin In In In In In In In In	EVEN DE SECONDENT DE LA CONTRACTA DE LA C	*3	Coperited Organitize Dependitions Among type Coperities Dependitions Among type Coperities Copering Among type Copering Copering Among Copering Microsoft Copering Copering	Instance Function Code Groo 1 Michael Cale 1 2 W Monte Data 1 3 W Monte Data 2 4 W Monte Data 2 5 W Mente Data 2	up Function Code Ni 9 5 5 21 22 4 8 9 11 11 12 22 5 1 1 12 22 5 1 1 12 22 5 1 1 22 5 5 5 7 12 22 5 7 12 22 5 5 5 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	amber Brinds Units MA samp NAS amperes NAS official NAS clowalts NAS execute NAS seconds N	lue Bitmask N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A	Active lent NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA Street 	radive lint Pi 94 N 94 N 94 N 94 N 94 N 94 N 94 N 94 N	anty Reinquist De N N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A	thuit MOS XX.	
Billiony Billiony Ackey Ackey Billion	Constraints (Constraints)     Constraints	*3 1 1 71	Copyrelate Organization Amangingun Dispert Name Amangingun Dispert Name Amangingun Dispert Amangingun Dispert Amangingun Dispert Amangingungun Hild Jahr Amang Dispert Hild Jahr	Addates Function Cold Silv     M Monitor Data     White Data     Scannand Data	yp Function Code No 9 5 0 21 22 5 7 1 7 7 7 8 Partis 4 500 50	unter Units Unit VA Ampers VA Values VA Values VA Clowells VA Clowells VA Clowells VA Hand VA	lue Bitmack No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No.	active feet Non Non Non Non Non Non Non Non Non Non	1965/49 Fed Pe 1976 No 1976 No 1976 No 1974 No 1974 No 1976 No 1976 No 1976 No 1976 No 1976 No	Pelogush De No No No No No No No No No No No No No No N	46.41 ACD X0_1 X0_2	
Bilday Binay Peter Guild Bills Arakag Dog Be In In In In In In In In In In In In In	piper 1 SV2 - SC2 -	• 4 1 71 0	Copyrel of Copyrel Name, Anna y Sanger, Copyrel Name, Anna y Sanger, Copyrel Name, Anna y Sanger, Copyrel Name, Annay Sanger, Copyrel Name, Copyrel Nam	Instance         Function Code Gross           1         M. Monescheine J.           2         W. Nonescheine J.           3         W. Nonescheine J.           4         W. Nonescheine J.           5         W. Nonescheine J.           5         W. Nonescheine J.           5         S. Command Data           5         S. Command Data           5         S. Command Data           5         S. Command Data           6         S. Command Data           7         S. Command Data           8         S. Command Data           600         S.	sp Function Code No 9 5 5 21 22 5 5 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	ambe Divis Unice Mail New N/A ampoint X/A clineatis X/A clineatis X/A clineatis X/A mecanis X/A mecani	lue Bitmack Non Non Non Non Non Non Non Non Non Non	Active Test NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA NGA	1900/9 Test Po 1974 No 1974 No	Period         Period<	MOI 	

Figure 11: Fuji Configuration Studio

### Creating a Device Configuration

A device can be added to the **Project** panel for configuration by first selecting the **Device Configurations** list heading and then:

- Double-clicking on the device in the Available Devices panel.
- Right-clicking on the device in the Available Devices panel and choosing Add from the contextsensitive menu.
- Hitting the <ENTER> key on the keyboard when the device is selected in the Available Devices panel.
- Dragging the device from the Available Devices panel into the Project panel.
- Selecting it and selecting Add Selected Device from the Edit menu.
- Selecting it and clicking the Add button in the toolbar.

The device will then be added to the list of Device Configurations.

### Going Online with a Device

All connected devices are automatically added to the **Discovered Devices** panel. This panel is shown by selecting the **Online Devices** list heading in the **Project** panel. To go online with a device:

- Double-click on it in the Discovered Devices panel.
- Right-click on it in the Discovered Devices panel and choose Go Online from the contextsensitive menu.
- Hit the <ENTER> key on the keyboard when the device is selected in the Discovered Devices panel.
- Drag it from the Discovered Devices panel into the Project panel.

### ICC

- Select it and select Go Online with Device from the Edit menu.
- Select it and click the Go Online button in the toolbar.

When the studio goes online with a device, its configuration is automatically read. While the studio is online with a device, it will appear in green text in the **Discovered Devices** panel. The studio may be online with multiple devices simultaneously. Note that the online configuration is read-only. The online configuration must first be uploaded into a project before it can be modified.

### Uploading a Device's Configuration into a Project

The current configuration of an online device can be uploaded into the **Project** panel by selecting a device under the **Online Devices** list heading and then:

- Right-clicking on it and choosing Upload Configuration from the context-sensitive menu.
- Dragging it from the Online Devices heading into the Device Configurations heading.
- Selecting it and selecting Upload Configuration to Project from the Device menu.
- Selecting it and clicking the Upload Configuration button in the toolbar.

The device's configuration will then be added to the list of **Device Configurations**. Once the configuration is uploaded into the project, it may be modified.

### Removing a Device Configuration from a Project

A configuration can be removed from a project by:

- Selecting the device in the **Project** panel and dragging it. A trash can icon will appear at the bottom of the **Project** panel, and dragging and dropping the device in the trash will remove it from the project.
- Hitting the <DELETE> key on the keyboard when the device is selected in the Project panel.
- Right-clicking on the device in the **Project** panel and choosing **Remove** from the context-sensitive menu.
- Selecting Remove Selected Item from the Edit menu when the device is selected.
- Clicking on the **Remove** button in the toolbar when the device is selected.

### Going Offline with a Device

To go offline with a device:

- Select the device in the **Project** panel and drag it. A trash can icon will appear at the bottom of the **Project** panel, and dragging and dropping the device in the trash will go offline with it.
- Hit the <DELETE> key on the keyboard when the device is selected in the Project panel.
- Right-click on the device in the Project panel and choose Go Offline from the context-sensitive menu.
- Select Go Offline with Device from the Edit menu when the device is selected.
- Click on the Go Offline button in the toolbar when the device is selected.

### Downloading a Configuration to a Device

To download a configuration to an online device, first select the device under the **Device Configurations** heading in the **Project** panel, and then navigate to **Device...Download Configuration to Device**. If the studio is currently online with only one compatible device, then the configuration will be downloaded to the online device. Otherwise, a device selection prompt is displayed to select which device to download the configuration to. Do not power off the device or interrupt the connection once the download is in progress as this may corrupt the firmware and/or the configuration.

Note Stop all other communication to the device when downloading.

### Updating Firmware

The studio automatically manages firmware updates when going online with a device and downloading a configuration to a device. Download the latest studio from the <u>product web page</u> to obtain the latest firmware. Do not power off the device or interrupt the connection once the update is in progress as this may corrupt the firmware and/or the configuration.

### ICC

### Resetting an Online Device

To reset an online device, first select the device in the **Project** panel and then navigate to **Device...Reset Device**.

### General Configuration Process

To configure a device, add the desired protocol(s) and configure any objects associated with the respective protocol(s). Any changes will take effect once the configuration is downloaded to a device.

Note that numeric values can be entered not only in decimal but also in hexadecimal by including "0x" before the hexadecimal number.

### 6.2 General Object Editing Activities

The following editing activities apply for all types of configuration objects and project elements.

### Adding an Object

To add an object, click on an item (protocol driver or Node, for example) in the **Project** panel. Any available objects for that item will be listed in the **Available Objects** panel (the panel title depends on the currently-selected item). An object can then be added to the item by:

- Double-clicking on it.
- Right-clicking on it and choosing Add from the context-sensitive menu.
- Hitting the <ENTER> key on the keyboard when the object is selected.
- Dragging it into the **Project** panel.
- Selecting it and selecting Add Selected Device from the Edit menu.
- Selecting it and clicking the Add button in the toolbar.

The object's configurable fields can then be populated with valid values (where applicable).

### Viewing an Object

In the **Project** panel, select a parent object to display a summary of all its child objects. For example, selecting a protocol driver will display the driver's configuration in the **Summary** panel and list of current objects in the **Object List** panel.

### Updating an Object

To update an object, select the object in the **Project** panel and make any required changes in the **Settings** panel.

### Deleting an Object

An object can be deleted by performing one of the three following actions:

- Selecting the object in the Project panel and dragging it. A trash can icon will appear at the bottom
  of the Project panel, and dragging the object to the trash will then delete it from the project.
- Hitting the <DELETE> key on the keyboard when the object is selected in the Project panel.
- Right-clicking on the object in the **Project** panel and choosing **Remove** from the context-sensitive menu.
- Selecting Remove Selected Item from the Edit menu when the object is selected.
- Clicking on the Remove button in the toolbar when the object is selected.

Note that this action cannot be undone. Deleting an object will also delete all of its child objects.

### Copying and Pasting an Object

To copy an object, first click on an item in the **Project** panel. An object can then be copied by:

- Right-clicking on it and choosing **Copy** from the context-sensitive menu.
- Pressing the <CTRL+C> keys on the keyboard.
- Holding the <CTRL> key and dragging the item to the desired location in the **Project** panel.
- Dragging the item to a new location under a different parent object in the **Project** panel.
- Selecting Copy Selected Item from the Edit menu.



Clicking on the Copy button in the toolbar.

To paste an object, first click on an item at the desired location in the **Project** panel. An object can then be pasted by:

- Right-clicking on it and choosing **Paste** from the context-sensitive menu.
- Pressing the <CTRL+V> keys on the keyboard.
- Dropping an item onto the desired location in the **Project** panel after holding the <CTRL> key and dragging the item.
- Dropping an item onto a new location under a different parent object in the **Project** panel after dragging the item.
- Selecting Paste Item from the Edit menu.
- Clicking on the **Paste** button in the toolbar.

After pasting an object, the object's configurable fields can then be modified with valid values (where applicable).

Note that the studio allows you to copy and paste items between different locations, including different devices. This is useful for copying partial configurations from one device to another.

#### Reordering Objects

Objects can be reordered in the **Project** panel by dragging the item to the desired location. If the item is dragged outside of the items in the project tree, it will be moved to the end.

### 6.3 Device Settings

The following fields can be configured for a device. To view or edit device settings, click on the device in the Project panel. The settings are then available in the **Settings** panel.

#### Device Description

Each device added to a project can be individually tagged with a unique description string of up to 32 characters in length. This allows the devices within a project or an automation system to be clearly identifiable with their location or functional purpose.

### 6.4 Ethernet Settings

The **Ethernet Settings** panel contains Ethernet-related items that are not specific to any given protocol. These settings must be appropriately configured regardless of any Ethernet control protocols that may be enabled. The **Ethernet Settings** panel is then available whenever the **Ethernet** port is selected in the **Project** panel.

#### 6.4.1 Authentication

Be sure to make a note of the new settings whenever authentication credentials are changed, as they must be entered whenever an FTP session is initiated.

### User Name

The username is case-sensitive and can contain letters ("a...z" and "A...Z") and numbers ("0...9").

### Password

The password is case-sensitive and can contain letters ("a...z" and "A...Z") and numbers ("0...9").

### 6.4.2 Network Configuration

The card supports a static IP address. The IP Address, Subnet Mask and Default Gateway fields must be configured. Please consult with your network administrator for the proper settings of these fields.

### 6.5 Batch Update Mode

The Configuration Studio supports a batch update mode for quickly updating firmware, and optionally, the configuration on all discovered devices without user interaction. While in batch update mode, the studio will automatically go online with a card, update the firmware, update the configuration if a
## ICC

matching configuration is found in the project, and then go offline with the card. It will do this for all discovered devices while in this mode. For each discovered device, the studio creates a log entry in the batch update log detailing the actions performed on the card.

#### Entering Batch Update Mode from within the Studio

To start batch update mode when the studio is open, select **Start Batch Update Mode** from the **Tools** menu. After the studio has entered batch update mode, pressing the ESC key will exit batch update mode. If any devices were discovered while in batch update mode, the studio will display a prompt to view the batch update log.

#### Launching the Studio in Batch Update Mode

The batch update mode can also be started when the studio is launched by using the "-b" or "-B" command line switch, and optionally, specifying a project file path to load. For example, the command line options "-b MyProject.gcsproj" will load the project titled "MyProject" and start batch update mode. When batch update mode is entered using this method, the user cannot exit batch update mode using the ESC key.

Note that the command line options can also be used with a custom shortcut by appending them to the executable path in the **Target** field of the shortcut. This would allow a user to double click on the shortcut to launch the studio in batch update mode.

#### Viewing the Batch Update Log

After the studio has updated a card while in batch update mode, a log is available that can be accessed by selecting **Open Batch Update Log** from the **Help** menu. The log details the actions that the studio performed on discovered devices during the last batch update session.

At the end of the log, the studio records statistics for the batch update session. The statistics include the following information:

#### Devices Discovered

The total number of devices discovered while in batch update mode.

#### Successful

The total number of devices that were updated successfully.

#### Failed

The total number of devices that the studio failed to update.

#### Not Updated

The total number of devices that were not updated. This can occur if a device is already up to date, or if a device has limited network connectivity and cannot be updated.

#### Firmware Updated

The total number of firmware updates performed.

#### Configuration Updated

The total number of configuration updates performed.

#### Errors

The total number of devices that encountered an error while being updated. Note that this does not necessarily imply that the device failed to update.

#### 6.6 Internal Logic Settings

#### 6.6.1 Fail-safe Values

#### 6.6.1.1 Overview

The card can be configured to perform a specific set of actions when network communications are lost (timeout event). This allows each inverter parameter to have its own unique "fail-safe" condition in the event of network interruption. Support for this feature varies depending on the protocol: refer to the protocol-specific section of this manual for further information.

## ICC

There are two separate elements that comprise the timeout configuration:

- The timeout time
- Timeout Object configuration

#### 6.6.1.2 Timeout Time

The timeout time is the maximum number of milliseconds for a break in network communications before a timeout will be triggered. This timeout setting is configured at the protocol level as part of a driver's configuration, and used by the protocol drivers themselves to determine abnormal loss-ofcommunications conditions. These conditions then trigger timeout processing events. If it is not desired to have a certain protocol trigger timeout processing events, then the protocol's timeout time may be set to 0 (the default value) to disable this feature.

For some protocols, the timeout time is set by the master device (PLC, scanner, etc.), and a timeout time setting is therefore not provided in the Configuration Studio's driver configuration. Additionally, not all protocols support timeout detection: refer to the protocol-specific sections of this manual for more information.

#### 6.6.1.3 Timeout Object Configuration

A timeout object is used as part of the timeout processing to set certain parameters to "fail-safe" values. When a timeout event is triggered by a protocol, the timeout objects are parsed and written to the corresponding function code(s). The timeout object(s) will be executed sequentially from first to last. To add a timeout object, select the device in the **Project** panel, then add **Internal Logic...Fail-safe** Values...**Timeout Object**. The following paragraphs describe the configurable fields of a timeout object:

#### Description

This field is strictly for user reference: it is not used at any time by the device.

#### Function Code

Enter the function code (refer to section 4).

#### Data Type

This is the size of valid values and is fixed to "16-Bit Unsigned" allows for a range of timeout values between 0 and 65535.

#### Value

Enter the "fail-safe" timeout value that the function code encompassed by this timeout object will be automatically written with upon processing a timeout event triggered by a protocol.

#### 6.6.2 Fail-safe Example

This example will demonstrate how to add one timeout object which will assign a value of 2000 (20.00Hz) to function code S05 (frequency command). In the **Project** panel, select the device and add **Internal Logic...Fail-safe Values...Timeout Object** as shown in Figure 12. The red error indicators are normal at this stage as the **Timeout Object Settings** have not yet been configured.



Figure 12: Timeout Object Project Panel

Next, configure the Timeout Object Settings as shown in Figure 13.

meout Object Settings		
Description		
Function Code Group	S: Command Data	
Function Code Number	5	
Data Type	16-Bit Unsigned	
Value	2000	

Figure 13: Timeout Object Settings

The example is complete.

#### 6.7 Discovery over Ethernet

#### 6.7.1 Discovery On Local Ethernet Network

Depending on the currently-enabled driver, the Configuration Studio will automatically discover the device on the Ethernet network, regardless of whether or not the card's network settings are compatible with the subnet upon which they reside. All connected devices are automatically added to the **Discovered Devices** panel. This panel is shown by selecting the **Online Devices** list heading in the **Project** panel. In the **Discovered Devices** panel, discovered Ethernet devices will be listed under **Ethernet** and will display the firmware version in brackets and the current IP address in parentheses to the right of the device name (refer to Figure 14.)

In order for the studio to discover devices, certain UDP Ethernet traffic (port 4334) must be allowed in and out of the computer, and firewall applications (such as Windows Firewall) are often configured to block such traffic by default. If the studio is unable to discover any

Discovered Devices	٠	џ	×
💿 💐 Ethernet			
PC-PRT3 [1.1.28] (192.168.17.103)			

#### Figure 14: Configuration Studio Discovery over Ethernet

devices on the current subnet, be sure to check the computer's firewall settings during troubleshooting, and add the studio as a program exception to the firewall configuration if necessary. It may be necessary to restart your PC before the new firewall configuration can take effect.

The network settings of a discovered card can be configured remotely by:

- Right-clicking on the device in the Project panel and choosing Configure Network Settings... from the context-sensitive menu.
- Selecting the device in the Project
  panel and navigating to
  Device...Configure Network
  Settings...

The network settings pop-up should appear

Configure Network Settings





#### 6.7.2 Discovery over the Internet

The studio supports connecting to remote devices over the internet. However, due to internet routing limitations, the studio cannot automatically discover remote devices in the same manner as on the local Ethernet network. Therefore, some configuration is required to provide details to the studio on how to connect to the remote device. This is performed by opening the **Remote Sites** window by navigating to **Discovery...Remote Sites**....

O R	emote Site	5								- 0
ile	Help									
$\odot$	Enabled	Name	NAT	Starting IP Address	Ending IP Address	IP Address/Hostname	Discovery Port	FTP Port	Data Port	Site
•	~	Campus VPN	No							Add Public/VPN Site
	1	Building 1		192.168.1.100	192.168.1.124					Add NAT Site
	1	Building 2		192.168.2.101	192.168.2.109					Remove Site
	1	Building 3		192.168.3.210	192.168.3.210					
	1	Factory	Yes							Device
-	1	Device F1 R100				68.117.125.141	10001	10002	10003	Add Device
	1	Device F1 R101				68.117.125.141	10004	10005	10006	Remove Device
	1	Device F1 R102				68.117.125.141	10007	10008	10009	
	1	Device F2 R200				68.117.125.141	20001	20002	20003	
	4	Device F2 R201				68.117.125.141	20004	20005	20006	
2	1	Office	Yes							
	1	AHU				office1.company.local	4334	21	843	
										Apply Changes

Figure 16: Remote Sites Window

#### 6.7.2.1 How to Configure Remote Sites

To enable discovery of devices at remote sites, add a site then add one or more devices to the site. There are three types of remote sites Public, Virtual Private Network (VPN), and Network Address Translation (NAT).

#### Public Sites

Devices at public sites are directly accessible via the internet and have a public IP address assigned to them.



This is the simplest site type but is not very common, as it is a security risk to expose devices directly to the internet.

#### VPN Sites

VPN sites require a VPN connection to be established between your computer or network and the site's network.



If your site has VPN access, this is the easiest and most secure way to connect to devices remotely.

#### NAT Sites

These sites use a NAT router that has a public IP address or hostname. Devices behind the router have private IP addresses and are not directly accessible from the internet. The router must be configured for port forwarding to map publicly accessible ports to private IP address and port combinations.



This is the most complex site type because public to private IP address and port mappings must be configured in both the site's NAT router and in the studio.

#### Configuring Public/VPN Sites

Public/VPN sites are configured by defining one or more device ranges. A device range is a block of consecutive IP addresses from a starting IP address to an ending IP address.

#### Configuring NAT Sites

NAT sites are configured on a per-device basis by entering the publicly accessible IP address or hostname of the NAT router and the public ports on the router for discovery, FTP, and data that are forwarded to the appropriate ports on each device.

#### Configuring NAT Routers for Port Forwarding

Your site's network administrator must configure the site's NAT router to forward public ports to the following private ports for each device that will be accessed remotely.

Discovery Port: 4334 (UDP)

#### 6.8 Manage Device Parameters

The accessibility and scan priority of the inverter parameters can be adjusted (refer to Figure 17). This is an advanced feature and must only be used after consulting technical support to determine the appropriate settings for the target application. The **Manage Device Parameters** configuration window is found by:

- Right-clicking on the device in the **Project** panel and choosing **Manage Parameters...** from the context-sensitive menu.
- Selecting the device in the **Project** panel and navigating to **Device...Manage Device Parameters...**

A parameter is accessible and actively scanned (read from and written to the inverter) only if its corresponding checkbox is enabled. Likewise, a parameter is inaccessible if its checkbox is disabled.

Parameters that are accessed more frequently or require a faster update rate should be set to high priority. All other parameters should be set to low priority.

Note

The parameter list serves as a useful reference when configuring objects.

		Priority	Parameter Number	Communications Number	Description
LOW	~	Priority	F: Fundamental Fu	nctions 44 Total	
LOW		100000	F00	1	Data Protection
LOW			F01	2	Frequency Command 1
LOW			F02	3	Operation Method
LOW			F03	4	Maximum Frequency 1
LOW			F04	5	Base Frequency 1
LOW			F05	6	Rated Voltage at Base Frequency 1
LOW			F06	7	Maximum Output Voltage 1
LOW			F07	8	Acceleration Time 1
LOW			F08	9	Deceleration Time 1
LOW			F09	10	Torque Boost 1
LOW			F10	11	Electronic Thermal Overload Protection for Motor 1 (Select motor characteristics
LOW			F11	12	Electronic Thermal Overload Protection for Motor 1 (Overload detection level)
LOW			F12	13	Electronic Thermal Overload Protection for Motor 1 (Thermal time constant)
LOW			F14	15	Restart Mode after Momentary Power Failure (Mode selection)
LOW			F15	16	Frequency Limiter (High)
LOW			F16	17	Frequency Limiter (Low)
				Load from File	e Save to File Cancel
	LOW LOW LOW LOW LOW LOW LOW LOW LOW LOW	LOW	LUW - Principy LOW - LOW	LOW         Priority         F1 matamental Fu           LOW         F00           LOW         F01           LOW         F02           LOW         F02           LOW         F03           LOW         F04           LOW         F05           LOW         F06           LOW         F07           LOW         F08           LOW         F09           LOW         F10           LOW         F12           LOW         F14           LOW         F15           LOW         F16	Uow         F Fundamental functions         44 / data           LOW         F00         1           LOW         F01         2           LOW         F01         2           LOW         F02         3           LOW         F03         4           LOW         F03         4           LOW         F03         6           LOW         F05         6           LOW         F05         7           LOW         F05         9           LOW         F06         9           LOW         F08         9           LOW         F10         11           LOW         F11         12           LOW         F12         13           LOW         F15         16           LOW         F15         16           LOW         F16         17           Load from Fil         12         Load from Fil

Figure 17: Manage Device Parameters

#### 6.9 Monitor Device Parameters

The inverter's parameter values can be monitored and commanded in real-time (refer to Figure 18). The **Monitor Device Parameters** window is found by:

- Right- clicking on the online device in the **Project** panel and choosing **Monitor Parameters...** from the context-sensitive menu.
- Selecting the online device in the **Project** panel and navigating to **Device... Monitor Device Parameters...**

Radix and data type selections are available at the top of the window to select the display format of the **Value** column. The **Bits 15...0** column shows the current value of each bit in the parameter's value, starting at bit 15 on the left and continuing to bit 0 on the right. The bits are grouped into 4-bit nibbles for readability purposes.

# A filter option, found at the top of the window, can be used to filter which parameters are shown. The filter function compares the filter text to each parameter's description, group name, parameter number, and communications number to display matching parameters. To use the filter function, simply type a word, or portion of a word, into the filter entry box. To reset the filter, click the X button to the right of the

Radix		Data Typ	e	Filter		
Decimal C	Hex	16-Bit	Unsigned Y			X
Parameter Number	r Communications	Number	Description		Value	Bits 150
F: Fundamental Fu	Inctions 44 Total					
F00	1		Data Protection		0	0000 0000 0000 0000
F01	2		Frequency Comma	nd 1	0	0000 0000 0000 0000
F02	3		Operation Method		2	0000 0000 0000 0010
F03	4		Maximum Frequen	cy 1	600	0000 0010 0101 1000
F04	5		Base Frequency 1		500	0000 0001 1111 0100
F05	6		Rated Voltage at Ba	ase Frequency 1	200	0000 0000 1100 1000
F06	7		Maximum Output \	/oltage 1	200	0000 0000 1100 1000
F07	8		Acceleration Time	1	600	0000 0010 0101 1000
F08	9		Deceleration Time	1	600	0000 0010 0101 1000
F09	10		Torque Boost 1		71	0000 0000 0100 0111
F10	11		Electronic Thermal	Overload Protection for Motor 1 (Select motor characteristics)	1	0000 0000 0000 0001
F11	12		Electronic Thermal	Overload Protection for Motor 1 (Overload detection level)	0	0000 0000 0000 0000
F12	13		Electronic Thermal	Overload Protection for Motor 1 (Thermal time constant)	50	0000 0000 0011 0010
F14	15		Restart Mode after	Momentary Power Failure (Mode selection)	1	0000 0000 0000 0001
F15	16		Frequency Limiter	(High)	700	0000 0010 1011 1100
F16	17		Frequency Limiter	Low)	0	0000 0000 0000 0000
F18	19		Bias (Frequency co	mmand 1)	0	0000 0000 0000 0000
F20	21		DC Braking 1 (Brak	ing starting frequency)	0	0000 0000 0000 0000

Figure 18: Monitor Device Parameters

#### 6.10 Backup and Restore Parameters

filter entry box. The filtering function is case insensitive.

The parameter values can be backed up from the inverter and restored to the inverter (refer to Figure 19 and Figure 20). This allows for easy inverter cloning. The backup parameter values are stored as a CSV file. A parameter value can be excluded from the list by disabling the corresponding checkbox. The parameter value can also be modified before the backup and restore is executed. Note that backup and restore does not modify the parameter list (refer to section 6.8). The backup and restore parameter configurations are found by:

- Right-clicking on the device in the **Project** panel and choosing **Backup Parameters...** or **Restore Parameters...** from the context-sensitive menu.
- Selecting the device in the **Project** panel and navigating to **Device...Backup Parameters from Device...** or **Restore Parameters to Device...**

0		Parameter Number	Communications Number	Description	Value
9		F: Fundamental Fu	nctions 44 Total		
	$\checkmark$	F00	1	Data Protection	0
	•	F01	2	Frequency Command 1	0
	~	F02	3	Operation Method	2
	$\checkmark$	F03	4	Maximum Frequency 1	600
	~	F04	5	Base Frequency 1	500
	$\checkmark$	F05	6	Rated Voltage at Base Frequency 1	200
	1	F06	7	Maximum Output Voltage 1	200
	$\checkmark$	F07	8	Acceleration Time 1	600
	1	FOS	9	Deceleration Time 1	600
	1	F09	10	Torque Boost 1	71
		F10	11	Electronic Thermal Overload Protection for Motor 1 (Select motor characteristics)	1
	-	F11	12	Electronic Thermal Overload Protection for Motor 1 (Overload detection level)	0
	~	F12	13	Electronic Thermal Overload Protection for Motor 1 (Thermal time constant)	50
	~	F14	15	Restart Mode after Momentary Power Failure (Mode selection)	1
	-	F15	16	Frequency Limiter (High)	700
	$\checkmark$	F16	17	Frequency Limiter (Low)	0
	~	F18	19	Bias (Frequency command 1)	0
	$\checkmark$	F20	21	DC Braking 1 (Braking starting frequency)	0
	•	F21	22	DC Braking 1 (Braking level)	0
	114		-	Backup Cancel	

Figuro	10.	Backup	Daramotore
rigure	19.	Баскир	Farameters

<b>F</b> O	Rest	ore Parameters to De	vice - FRENIC-Ace	-		×
0	V	Parameter Number	Communications Number	Description	Va	lue
0	$\mathbf{V}$	F: Fundamental Fu	nctions 44 Total			9
	$\checkmark$	F00	1	Data Protection	0	
	$\checkmark$	F01	2	Frequency Command 1	0	
	1	F02	3	Operation Method	2	
	$\checkmark$	F03	4	Maximum Frequency 1	60	0
		F04	5	Base Frequency 1	50	0
	$\checkmark$	F05	6	Rated Voltage at Base Frequency 1	20	0
	2	F06	7	Maximum Output Voltage 1	20	0
	$\checkmark$	F07	8	Acceleration Time 1	60	0
	1	F08	9	Deceleration Time 1	60	0
	•	F09	10	Torque Boost 1	71	
	V	F10	11	Electronic Thermal Overload Protection for Motor 1 (Select motor characteristics	1	
		F11	12	Electronic Thermal Overload Protection for Motor 1 (Overload detection level)	0	
	$\checkmark$	F12	13	Electronic Thermal Overload Protection for Motor 1 (Thermal time constant)	50	
	$\checkmark$	F14	15	Restart Mode after Momentary Power Failure (Mode selection)	1	
	1	F15	16	Frequency Limiter (High)	70	0
	$\checkmark$	F16	17	Frequency Limiter (Low)	0	
	$\mathbf{V}$	F18	19	Bias (Frequency command 1)	0	
		F20	21	DC Braking 1 (Braking starting frequency)	0	
	4	F21	22	DC Braking 1 (Braking level)	0	
				Restore Cancel		
Tot	tal: 9	57			Selected	d: 957

Figure 20: Restore Parameters

#### 6.11 Restore Factory Settings

The interface card (connected via USB) can be restored to the factory settings. Note that the filesystem will be reformatted, which will destroy all custom modifications and configurations. Please backup the configuration before executing this feature. The factory settings can be restored by:

- Right-clicking on the device in the Project panel and choosing Restore Factory Settings.
- Selecting the device in the **Project** panel and navigating to **Restore Factory Settings**.

#### 6.12 Help

Links to videos and documents can be found in the **Help** menu. Please review these links before contacting technical support for more in-depth assistance.

## 166\_\_\_\_\_

#### 7 EMBEDDED WEB SERVER

#### 7.1 Overview

The interface supports a web server (also known as an HTTP server), which allows users to load a custom web interface to access the inverter's internal data with web browsers such as Microsoft Edge or Mozilla Firefox. In this way, the inverter can be monitored and controlled from across the room or from across the globe. To access an interface's embedded web server, directly enter the target unit's IP address into the address (URL) field of your web browser. In order to access the web server and view the parameter values, destination TCP ports 80 and 843 must be accessible from the client computer.

#### 7.2 Customizing the Embedded Web Server

#### 7.2.1 Customization Overview

It is possible for end-users to customize the embedded web server in order to create their own application-specific or corporate "look and feel". Knowledge of authoring dynamic web content is required. Using windows explorer, it is possible to load customized web server content into the "WEB" folder on the interface card's file system (refer to section 8.2). Usually, this web server content contains programming which implements the XML socket-based XTPro protocol (refer to section 7.2.2). Via XTPro, the embedded web server can gain access to any inverter parameter and the interface card file system resources, and manipulate them as required.

#### Notes

- There is an XML file located in the "WEB" folder called "param.xml", which contains definitions for all inverter function codes that are available via the interface card. This file is configured using the Manage Device Parameters (refer to 6.8) and must not be removed, as it contains the definition of all available parameters not only for active web server content, but also for the interface card itself. All other files in the "WEB" folder may be deleted or replaced if desired by the user.
- The default HTML file targeted by the web server is "index.htm". Therefore, when customizing the web server content, ensure that file "index.htm" exists.
- All files accessed by the web server itself must reside in the "WEB" folder. Note that this does not
  restrict active web server content to using only the "WEB" folder, however, as XTPro "read\_file"
  and "write\_file" commands can access any existing location on the file system.
- If the factory-default "WEB" folder contents need to be recovered (if they are accidentally deleted, for example), they can be downloaded from the <u>product web page</u> on the internet.
- Two simultaneous web server sessions are supported. Note that the number of available simultaneous web server sessions is independent of the number of available simultaneous XTPro XML sockets.

#### 7.2.2 XTPro Overview

XTPro is an acronym for XML TCP/IP **Pro**tocol. The XTPro specification is an application-layer (positioned at level 7 of the OSI model) messaging protocol that provides XML-based client/server communication via TCP port 843. Typically, XTPro is used for the implementation of graphical user interfaces (GUIs), such as advanced web servers or HMIs that have the ability to request information via XML sockets, and then manipulate and/or display the information in a rich application-specific manner.

XTPro is a request/response protocol that provides services specified by commands. For more information on XTPro, refer to the separate <u>XTPro Specification</u>. This section will cover the device-specific implementation of the XTPro protocol.

#### 7.2.3 XTPro Web Browser-Based Implementation

A representative implementation based upon using a web browser as the client is detailed in Figure 21. In this scenario, the client application is developed by using an active web server authoring tool (such as Adobe Flash®). The active content is then embedded into one or more HTML files and loaded onto the device's file system (refer to section 7.2.1 for detailed information regarding customization of the web server content). Accessing the device's web server via a standard web browser then loads the active content, which initiates communication with the server.



Figure 21: Web Browser-Based Implementation

#### 7.2.4 XTPro HMI-Based Implementation

122

A representative implementation based upon a stand-alone HMI client is detailed in Figure 22. In this scenario, the client application is developed by using tools provided by the HMI manufacturer, and is hosted independently of the actual server device.



Figure 22: HMI-Based Implementation

#### 7.2.5 XTPro Supported Commands

For a summary of XTPro commands, refer to Table 18.

Command	Supported	Notes	
noop	Yes	-	
vzn	Yes	Supports XTPro specification version 1	
id	Yes	-	
read_data	Yes	"reference" is the inverter's function code (e.g. "F07" for	
write_data	Yes	acceleration time #1), while "data_value" is a 16-bit hexadecimal value (e.g. "1F4" for a decimal value of 500)	
load_file Yes		The shaelute file noth must start with a ferward sleep ''	
store_file	Yes	The absolute the path must start with a forward stash /	
reinit No Reinitializes only the configurable drivers and servi perform a complete device soft reboot)		Reinitializes only the configurable drivers and services (does not perform a complete device soft reboot)	
auth	Yes	Authorization is not required	
cov	Yes	COV notification messages are sent every 200ms	

Table 18:	Supported	XTPro	Commands
-----------	-----------	-------	----------

#### Notes

Two simultaneous XTPro connections are available.

## ICC.

#### 8 FILE SYSTEM

#### 8.1 Overview

The interface card's on-board file system is used by the application firmware. Currently, the application firmware's main use of the file system is to store XML-encoded configuration files and the embedded web server. The studio must be used to manage the configuration via USB or FTP. Do not manually access the configuration files unless instructed by technical support.

The configuration is only read at unit boot-up. Therefore, if a new configuration file is loaded, that unit must be rebooted for the new configuration take effect. Rebooting a unit can be performed by power-cycling the inverter in which the card is installed.

The embedded web server is customizable and is located in the "WEB" folder. All web page related items should reside in the "WEB" folder.

Interacting with the file system can be performed via USB (using a mini-B USB cable) as the interface card enumerates as a standard USB mass storage device ("flash drive"). The file system can also be accessed via FTP if the card has compatible network settings. Users can interact with the files on the interface card's file system in the same manner as though they were traditional files stored on a local or remote PC.

Note that the USB and FTP connection will prevent the file system from being accessed by other interfaces, such as the web server. Therefore, USB and FTP should only be connected when performing maintenance and configuration. USB and FTP should be disconnected while the card is running normally in a production environment.

#### 8.2 USB with Windows Explorer

To use Microsoft Windows Explorer, first open either "Windows Explorer" or "My Computer". Refer to Figure 23. Note that the indicated procedure, prompts and capabilities outlined here can vary depending on such factors as the installed operating system and service packs.

The interface card will typically be displayed as a removable medium such as a "Removable Disk". Refer to Figure 24.



Figure 24: Removable Disk with Windows Explorer

Windows Explorer will then display the file system's contents (refer to Figure 25.) You can now perform normal file manipulation actions on the available files and folders (cut, copy, paste, open, rename, dragand-drop transfers etc.) in the same manner as though you were manipulating any traditional file and folder stored on your computer's hard drive.



Figure 25: USB File Access via Windows Explorer

#### 8.3 FTP with Windows Explorer

To use FTP with Microsoft Windows Explorer, first open either "Windows Explorer" or "My Computer". Please note that the indicated procedure, prompts and capabilities outlined here can vary depending on such factors as the installed operating system, firewalls and service packs.

In the "Address" field, type in "ftp://admin:admin@" and then the IP address of the target interface card (if the user name and password have been changed from its default, then replace the first "admin" with the new user name and the second "admin" with the password.) Refer to Figure 26.



Figure 26: FTP via Windows Explorer

Note that the behavior of Windows Explorer FTP will vary from PC to PC. If you are having issues connecting FTP, there are other FTP client tools available such as Windows Command Prompt, Core FTP, FileZilla, SmartFTP etc. that can also be used to reliably access the card's file system.

#### 8.4 Loading New Web Server Content

The interface card's web server resides in the file system and can be updated in the field. This section will discuss how to update the web server.

Besides the new "WEB" folder containing the new web server, the update requires a USB or FTP connection as described earlier in this section. To update the web server, complete the following steps:

- 1. Navigate to the card's file system (see section 8.2 or 8.3).
- 2. Backup the "WEB" folder if desired by copying it to the local computer.
- 3. Delete the "WEB" folder from the card's file system.
- 4. Copy the new "WEB" folder to the card's file system.



- Although it is not typical, if your *param.xml* file was specially modified (for a custom application, for example), it may be necessary to re-apply those modifications using the **Manage Device Parameters** (refer to section 6.8). Please consult technical support for any questions related to customized versions of *param.xml*.
- 6. Power-cycle or reset the card.
- 7. Clear your internet browser's cache to ensure that the new web server content will be properly loaded from the interface card.



#### 9 FIRMWARE

#### 9.1 Overview

The interface card's embedded firmware can be updated in the field. Firmware updates may be released for a variety of reasons, such as custom firmware implementations, firmware improvements and added functionality as a result of user requests. Additionally, it may be necessary to load different firmware onto the unit in order to support various protocols. In order to ensure that the firmware update is successful, and in the interest of equipment and personnel safety, it is strongly recommended to stop all of the card's production activities prior to initiating the firmware update procedure.

#### Note Failure to follow the firmware update procedure could result in corrupt firmware!

#### 9.2 Update Procedure

- 1. Always back up your configuration to a PC for later recovery if necessary.
- Download and install the latest Configuration Studio, which can be obtained from the product web page.
- Please be sure to read the firmware release notes and updated user's manual for any important notices, behavior precautions or configuration requirements prior to updating your firmware.
- 4. Ensure that the device is in a safe state prior to initiating the firmware update. The card may be temporarily inaccessible during the firmware update process.
- <u>Locally via USB</u>: Connect a USB cable between the card and the PC and open the studio. If the studio contains newer firmware, it will automatically prompt you to update the firmware. Proceed with the firmware update.
- <u>Remotely Via FTP:</u> Connect an Ethernet cable and ensure that the card has compatible network settings.
- Once the firmware update process has started, do not interrupt the card as this may corrupt the firmware. Do NOT manually power-cycle the inverter or reboot the card. Do NOT disturb the USB or Ethernet (FTP) connection.
- After the firmware update has been completed, the card will reset automatically. When the card boots up again, it will be running the new application firmware, which can be confirmed by observing the version displayed in the Configuration Studio.

## ICC.

#### **10 PROTOCOL-SPECIFIC INFORMATION**

This section will discuss topics that are specific to each of the supported protocols.

#### 10.1 Modbus/TCP

#### 10.1.1 Overview

The interface card supports Schneider Electric's Modbus/TCP protocol, release 1.0. The interface is conformance class 0 and partial class 1 and class 2 compliant. Other notes of interest are:

- Supports up to 8 simultaneous connections.
- Modbus/TCP should not be confused with Modbus (serial) over TCP. Modbus over TCP is not compatible with Modbus/TCP and is not supported.
- The driver can be configured to detect a timeout (communication loss) and perform a timeout action.

#### 10.1.2 Unit ID

The "unit identifier" (UI) field (also known as the slave ID and node ID) of the request packet is ignored and is echoed in the response. Any Unit ID value is allowed.

#### 10.1.3 Functions

The supported Modbus/TCP functions are indicated in Table 19.

Function Code	Function	Modbus/TCP Class
1	Read coils	1
2	Read input status	1
3	Read multiple registers	0
4	Read input registers	1
5	Write coil	1
6	Write single register	1
8	Diagnostics (subfunction 0 only)	-
15	Force multiple coils	2
16	Write multiple registers	0

#### Table 19: Supported Modbus/TCP Functions

#### 10.1.4 Holding & Input Registers

The inverter registers by default are mapped as both holding registers (4X) and input registers (3X) and are accessed by using the inverter register numbers described in section 4.1. Examples are shown in Table 20.

#### Table 20: Modbus Register Examples

Function Code	Holding/Input Register Number
S05 (Frequency command)	1798
M09 (Output frequency)	2058

The 4X and 3X only serve as a naming convention for holding register and input register respectively, and should NOT be included as part of the actual on-the-wire register number. To further clarify, Modbus register 42058 is the same as Modbus holding register 2058. The same description applies to input registers (3X).

For example, from a Modbus/TCP master's point of view, in order to access the output frequency (function code M09, register 2058) as a holding register, the Modbus/TCP master must execute the Read Multiple Registers function code and target register 2058. This will similarly apply when accessing an inverter function code as an Input Register.

#### 10.1.5 Coil & Discrete Input Mappings

The Modbus/TCP driver provides read/write support for coils (0X references) and read-only support for discrete inputs (1X references). These will collectively be referred to from here on out as simply "discretes". Accessing discretes does not reference any new physical data: discretes are simply indexes into various bits of existing registers. What this means is that when a discrete is accessed, that discrete is resolved by the interface into a specific register, and a specific bit within that register. The pattern of discrete-to-register/bit relationships can be described as follows:

Discrete 1...16 map to register #1, bit0...bit15 (bit0=LSB, bit15=MSB) Discrete 17...32 map to register #2, bit0...bit15, and so on.

Arithmetically, the discrete-to-register/bit relationship can be described as follows: For any given discrete, the register in which that discrete resides can be determined by:

register = 
$$\left| \frac{\text{discrete} + 15}{16} \right|$$

Equation 3

Where the bracket symbols "L ]" indicate the "floor" function, which means that any fractional result (or "remainder") is to be discarded, with only the integer value being retained.

Also, for any given discrete, the targeted bit in the register in which that discrete resides can be determined by:

Equation 4

Where "discrete"  $\in$ [1...65535], "bit"  $\in$ [0...15], and "%" is the modulus operator, which means that any fractional result (or "remainder") is to be retained, with the integer value being discarded (i.e. it is the opposite of the "floor" function).

For clarity, let's use Equation 3 and Equation 4 in a calculation example. Say, for instance, that we are going to read coil #34. Using Equation 3, we can determine that coil #34 resides in register #3, as  $\lfloor 3.0625 \rfloor = \lfloor 3 \text{ r1} \rfloor = 3$ . Then, using Equation 4, we can determine that the bit within register #3 that coil #34 targets is (34-1)%16 = 1, as 33%16 = mod(2 r1) = 1. Therefore, reading coil #34 will return the value of register #3, bit #1.

#### 10.1.6 Connection Timeout Options

In the studio's Project panel, navigate to **OPC-PRT3...Ethernet...Modbus/TCP Server**. The following configuration options will determine the actions to be taken if the connection is abnormally terminated or lost. While this feature provides an additional level of fail-safe functionality for those applications that require it, there are several ramifications that must be understood prior to enabling this capability. Note that a certain degree of caution must be exercised when using the timeout feature to avoid "nuisance" timeouts from occurring.

#### Enable Supervisory Timer

This timer provides the ability for the driver to monitor timeout occurrences on the overall receive activity for all connections.

- The timer will start after receiving the first request. Once the timer is started, it cannot be disabled.
- If the driver experiences no receive activity for more than the **Timeout** time setting, then the driver
  assumes that the client or network has experienced some sort of unexpected problem, and will
  perform the **Timeout Action**.

#### Enable Connection Timer

This timer provides the ability for the driver to monitor timeout occurrences and errors within the scope of each client connection.

- If a particular open socket experiences no activity for more than the **Timeout** time setting, then the driver assumes that the client or network has experienced some sort of unexpected problem, and will close that socket and perform the **Timeout Action**.
- If a socket error occurs (regardless of whether the error was due to a communication lapse or abnormal socket error), the driver will perform the **Timeout Action**. Specifically, do not perform inadvisable behavior such as sending a request from the client device, and then closing the socket prior to successfully receiving the server's response. The reason for this is because the server will



experience an error when attempting to respond via the now-closed socket. Always be sure to manage socket life cycles "gracefully", and do not abandon outstanding requests.

#### Timeout

Defines the maximum number of milliseconds for a break in network communications before a timeout event will be triggered.

#### Timeout Action

Select an action from the dr	op down menu:
"None"	No effect. The inverter will continue to operate with the last available
	settings.
"Apply Fail-safe Values"	. Apply the fail-safe values as described in section 6.6.1.
"Fault Drive"	The behavior will depend on the timeout conditions set by the inverter
	(function codes o27 and o28), which may result in an Er5 fault. Refer to section 3.2.

#### Enable Drive Fault Reset

This will clear the Er5 fault once communication is re-established. This option is only available if the **Timeout Action** is set to "Fault Drive".

#### 10.1.7 Node Settings

There are no node settings. A node is simply a container for objects.

#### 10.1.8 Holding/Input Register Remap Settings

## In the studio's Project panel, add OPC-PRT3...Ethernet...Modbus/TCP Server...Node...Holding/Input Register Remap.

The holding/input register remap objects are **OPTIONAL**. By default, all inverter function codes are already mapped as both holding (4X) and input (3X) registers (refer to section 10.1.2). For user convenience, register remap objects can be created to map any inverter function code to holding/input register 5001 to 5050.

At times, it may be convenient to access inverter function codes in bulk Modbus transactions. This may be especially true in situations where it is desired to access certain function codes that are noncontiguous. For example, if it were desired to read the inverter's output frequency (function code M09, register 2058), operation status (function code M14, register 2063), and Life of cooling fan (function code M48, register 2097), this could be accomplished in two different ways:

- 1. Implement three separate Modbus read transactions, each one reading one register only, or
- Implement one single Modbus read transaction, starting at register 2058 for a quantity of 40 registers. Then, pick out the registers of interest and ignore the rest of the response data.

While both of these methods will certainly work, neither one of them is optimized for the task at hand, which is to access three specific register values. A fully optimized solution can be realized by making use of the register remap objects. Non-contiguous inverter function codes can be grouped together in any order and accessed efficiently via the Modbus/TCP "read multiple registers" and "write multiple registers" function codes. The net effect is one of being able to transfer larger blocks of registers using fewer Modbus transactions, which results in improved network utilization and simpler data manipulation code on the Modbus master device.

#### Description

This 32-character (max) field is strictly for user reference: it is not used at any time by the driver.

#### Remap Register

Remap register that maps to the specified inverter function code. Select from 5001 to 5050.

#### Function Code

Function code (refer to section 4) that is accessed by the Remap Register.

#### Data Type

Fixed to 16-Bit Unsigned. This is equivalent to two bytes.



#### 10.2 EtherNet/IP

#### 10.2.1 Overview

EtherNet/IP is a network adaptation of ODVA's Common Industrial Protocol (CIP). The card supports the EtherNet/IP server protocol, including the CSP server variant.

The interface card supports both implicit (class 1 I/O) and explicit (UCMM and class 3) messaging. Class 1 connections support two different types of I/O messaging. One type is the generic I/O assembly instances 100 and 150, which are entirely user-configurable (refer to section 10.2.5). The other type is the AC/DC drive profile assembly instances 20 & 70 or 21 & 71, which require no user configuration (refer to section 10.2.6). With I/O messaging, the data field contains only real-time I/O data. The meaning of the data is pre-defined at the time the connection is established. I/O messages are short and have low overhead, and therefore minimizes the processing time and allows for the time-critical performance.

With explicit messaging (refer to section 10.2.7), nodes must interpret each message, execute the requested task and generate responses. These types of messages can be used to transmit configuration, control and monitor data.

The following sections demonstrate specific examples of how to use EtherNet/IP to transfer data between the inverter and Allen-Bradley Logix-brand PLCs.

#### Some other notes of interest are:

- The interface card supports the EtherNet/IP protocol, as administered by the Open DeviceNet Vendor Association (ODVA).
- This product has been self-tested and found to comply with ODVA EtherNet/IP Conformance Test Software Version CT-13.
- The interface card's product type code is 2 (AC Drive).
- The EDS file can be downloaded from the product web page on the internet.
- Supports DLR (Device Level Ring) node.
- Supports unconnected messages (UCMM), and up to 16 simultaneous class 1 (I/O) or class 3 (explicit) connections.
- Class 1 implicit I/O supports both multicast and point-to-point (unicast) when producing data in the T→O direction.
- Point-to-point class 1 connected messages will be produced targeting the IP address of the device that instantiated the connection, UDP port 0x08AE (UDP port 2222).
- If a class 1 point-to-point connection is established in the (T→O) direction, no more class 1 connections can be established.
- If a class 1 connection's consuming half (O→T) times out, then the producing half (T→O) will also time-out and will stop producing.
- If a class 1 or class 3 connection timeout (communication loss) occurs, the driver can be
  configured to perform a timeout action. For class 1 connections, the timeout value is dictated by
  the scanner/client and is at least four times the RPI (Requested Packet Interval). For class 3
  connections, the timeout value is also dictated by the scanner/client, but is typically a much larger
  value than for class 1 connections.

#### 10.2.2 Server Settings

In the studio, navigate to OPC-PRT3...Ethernet...EtherNet/IP Server.

#### Device Name

The device name is used for identification of a device on the EtherNet/IP network. This string is accessible as the "product name" attribute of the identity object. Enter a string between 1 and 32 characters in length.

#### DLR

Device Level Ring is a ring redundancy protocol. All devices in a DLR ring must support DLR.

- If the checkbox is cleared (default setting), the interface card will not operate correctly in a DLR ring. By disabling this option, the interface card should not be installed in a DLR ring.
- If the checkbox is checked, the interface card can participate and will operate correctly in a DLR ring. By enabling this option, the interface card can be installed successfully in a DLR ring.

#### 10.2.3 Connection Timeout Options

In the studio's Project panel, navigate to **OPC-PRT3...Ethernet...EtherNet/IP Server**. The following configuration options will determine the actions to be taken if the connection is abnormally terminated or lost. While this feature provides an additional level of fail-safe functionality for those applications that require it, there are several ramifications that must be understood prior to enabling this capability. Note that a certain degree of caution must be exercised when using the timeout feature to avoid "nuisance" timeouts from occurring.

#### Scanner Idle State Behavior

EtherNet/IP scanners (such as PLCs) have the option of adding a "run/idle" header to all class 1 (I/O) data packets sent to devices. This header is intended to signify when the scanner is in the "running" state or the "idle" state. For example, an Allen Bradley ControlLogix PLC will set the run/idle header to Idle when its processor keyswitch is placed in the "PROG" position.

The Invoke Timeout on Scanner Idle State setting configures the behavior of the interface card when the scanner sets the run/idle header to idle.

- If the checkbox is not checked (default setting), then the driver will maintain the last consumed I/O
  data values received from the scanner. For example, if the scanner commanded the inverter to run
  prior to the run/idle header being set to Idle, then the inverter will continue to run.
- If the checkbox is checked, then the driver will perform the **Timeout Action**.

#### Timeout Action

Select an action from the drop down menu:

"None"	No effect. The inverter will continue to operate with the last available settings.
"Apply Fail-safe Values" "Fault Drive"	Apply the fail-safe values as described in section 6.6.1. The behavior will depend on the timeout conditions set by the inverter (function codes o27 and o28), which may result in an Er5 fault. Refer to section 3.2.

#### Enable Drive Fault Reset

This will clear the Er5 fault once communication is re-established. This option is only available if the **Timeout Action** is set to "Fault Drive".

#### 10.2.4 Generic Class 1 I/O Produced and Consumed Data Settings

The Produced Data Word and Consumed Data Word objects are only applicable when connecting to assembly instances 100 and 150 (generic I/O), which is typically the case. The Produced Data Word defines the structure of status data sent from the inverter back to the controller (T->O, target to originator). The Consumed Data Word objects will define the structure of the command data sent from the EtherNet/IP controller (for example, a ControlLogix PLC) to the inverter (O->T, originator to target). These objects allow the creation of custom-built I/O data. Up to 32 "command" function code values can be sent to the inverter, and up to 32 "status" function code values can be sent back to the controller. Therefore, up to 32 Produced and 32 Consumed Data Word objects can be created. If a consumed word offset is not defined, that data will be ignored by the inverter. If a produce word offset is not defined, the value will default to 0. The size of the actual I/O produced and word utilizes 2 bytes, the size must be an even number of bytes. The I/O data format is summarized in Table 21.

#### Description

This 32-character (max) field is strictly for user reference: it is not used at any time by the driver.

#### Produced Data Word Offset

The value from the associated inverter function code will populate this word offset of the produced data that is to be sent to the client. It is recommend to start at word offset 0.

#### Consumed Data Word Offset

The consumed data received from the client at this word offset will contain the value to be written to the associated inverter function code. It is recommend to start at word offset 0.



#### Function Code

The inverter function code (refer to section 4) associated with the word offset. For the Produced Data Word object, enter a "status" function code to be monitored. For the Consumed Data Word object, enter a "command" function code that can be written.

#### Data Type

Each data word is fixed to 16-Bit Unsigned. This is equivalent to two bytes.

Consul (PLC to	med Data Inverter)	Produc (Inverte	ed Data r to PLC)
Word Offset	Function Code	Word Offset	Function Code
0	Any	0	Any
1	Any	1	Any
:	Any	•	Any
30	Any	30	Any
31	Any	31	Any

#### Table 21: EtherNet/IP User-Configurable I/O Data Format

The default I/O configuration is described in Table 22.



Note Always use the studio to confirm the configuration before commissioning the device

Table 22: EtherNet/IP Default User-Configurable I/O Data Format

Consu (PLC t	umed Data to Inverter)	Prod (Inver	uced Data ter to PLC)
Word Offset	Function Code	Word Offset	Function Code
0	S06	0	M14
1	S05	1	M09
	None	•	None
30	None	30	None
31	None	31	None

#### 10.2.5 Generic Class 1 (I/O) Connection Access

Clients may access the class 1 endpoint by opening a connection to assembly instances 100 and 150. The structure of I/O consumed and produced data for this assembly instance pair is entirely userconfigurable (refer to section 10.2.4). The generic class 1 I/O connection is mutually exclusive of the AC/DC drive profile class 1 I/O connection. For a generic class 1 I/O application example, refer to section 10.2.11.

#### 10.2.6 AC/DC Drive Profile Class 1 (I/O) Connection Access

The interface card supports the ODVA AC/DC drive profile. No special EtherNet/IP configuration of the interface card is required when using the AC/DC drive profile: all that is needed is that the controller must target either assembly instances 20 & 70 or 21 & 71 in its connection parameters. The structure of I/O consumed and produced data for the AC/DC drive profile class 1 I/O is predefined and fixed to 4 input bytes and 4 output bytes (refer to Table 24 and Table 25). It is highly recommended to complete the reading of this section to understand the data mapping and the implications of using the AC/DC drive profile. Note that when using the AC/DC drive profile class 1 I/O, the produced word and consumed word configuration do not apply (refer to section 10.2.12). For an AC/DC drive profile class 1 I/O application example, refer to section 10.2.12.2.

The AC/DC drive profile implementation provides support for several required CIP objects, which are specified in Table 23. While the various supported attributes of all of these objects are accessible via explicit messaging, the main intent of using the AC/DC drive profile is to interact with the predefined input and output assembly instances via an I/O connection. The structure of these assembly instances is defined by the EtherNet/IP specification in order to engender interoperability among different vendor's products. This section will focus primarily on the format of the AC/DC drive profile I/O assemblies supported by the interface card, and the inverter data which their various constituent elements map to.

#### Table 23: AC/DC Drive Profile-Related Objects

Class Code	Object Name
0x04	Assembly Object
0x28	Motor Data Object
0x29	Control Supervisor Object
0x2A	AC Drive Object

#### Table 24: Output Instances 20 and 21 Detail

Instance	Byte	Bit 7	Bit 6	Bit 5	Bit 4	Bit 3	Bit 2	Bit 1	Bit 0
	0						Fault Reset		Run Fwd
20	1								
	2			Spee	d Referen	ce (Low E	Byte)		
	3			Speed	d Referen	ce (High B	Byte)		
	0		NetRef	NetCtrl			Fault Reset	Run Rev	Run Fwd
21	1								
	2			Spee	d Referen	ce (Low E	Byte)		
	3			Speed	d Referen	ce (High E	Byte)		

#### Output Instance Mapping Detail

<u>Run Fwd</u>: forward rotation command (0=forward rotation off, 1=forward rotation on). Maps to inverter function code S06, bit 0 (function code S06 / operation command word, FWD bit).

<u>Run Rev</u>: reverse rotation command (0=reverse rotation off, 1=reverse rotation on). Maps to inverter function code S06, bit 1 (function code S06 / operation command word, REV bit).

<u>Fault Reset</u>: Inverter reset command (0=no action,  $0 \rightarrow 1$  rising edge=reset). Maps to inverter function code S06, bit 15 (function code S06 / operation command word, RST bit).

NetCtrl: Not used (value is ignored).

NetRef: Not used (value is ignored).

<u>Speed Reference</u>: Inverter speed reference in RPM. Maps to function code S05 (frequency command). The speed reference component of the AC/DC drive profile output instances is always in units of RPM. Therefore, the interface card applies the RPM-to-Hz conversion indicated in Equation 5 in order to determine the appropriate frequency command value (in units of Hz) to be written to function code S05.

$$Hz = \frac{RPM \times number \ of \ motor \ poles}{120}$$

Equation 5

The "number of motor poles" term which appears in the numerator of Equation 5 is obtained from the setting of inverter function code P01 (Motor number of poles). Note that the value of P01 is read by the interface card only at boot-up, so if the value of this function code is changed, then the interface card must be rebooted in order for it to read the new value from the inverter.



Instance	Byte	Bit 7	Bit 6	Bit 5	Bit 4	Bit 3	Bit 2	Bit 1	Bit 0
	0						Running1		Faulted
70	1								
70	2				Speed A	ctual (Low B	yte)		
	3				Speed A	ctual (High B	yte)		
	0	At Reference	Ref From Net	Ctrl From Net	Ready	Running2 (REV)	Running1 (FWD)	Warning	Faulted
/1	1				D	rive State			
	2				Speed A	ctual (Low B	yte)		
	3				Speed A	ctual (High B	yte)		

#### Table 25: Input Instances 70 and 71 Detail

#### Input Instance Mapping Detail

<u>Faulted</u>: Inverter fault signal (0=not faulted, 1=faulted). Maps to function code M14, bit 11 (operation status word, ALM bit).

Warning: This bit is not used (it is always 0).

<u>Running1 (FWD)</u>: Running forward status signal (0=not running forward, 1=running forward). Maps to function code M14, bit 0 (operation status word, FWD bit).

<u>Running2 (REV)</u>: Running reverse status signal (0=not running reverse, 1=running reverse). Maps to function code M14, bit 1 (operation status word, REV bit).

<u>Ready</u>: Inverter ready signal (0=not ready, 1=ready). The Ready bit will be 1 whenever the Drive State attribute (see below) is in the Ready, Enabled or Stopping state.

CtrlFromNet: This bit is not used (it is always 0).

RefFromNet: This bit is not used (it is always 0).

<u>AtReference</u>: Up-to-speed signal (0=not up-to-speed, 1=up-to-speed). Set to 1 if the inverter is running (either Running1 = 1 or Running2 = 1) and both the ACC bit (bit #9) and DEC bit (bit #10) in the operation status word (function code M14) are 0.

<u>Drive State</u>: Indicates the current state of the Control Supervisor Object state machine. Refer to the ODVA EtherNet/IP specification (object library) for detailed information on the Control Supervisor Object state machine.

<u>Speed Actual</u>: Inverter operating speed in RPM. Maps to function code M09 (output frequency). The speed actual component of the AC/DC drive profile input instances is always in units of RPM. Therefore, the interface card applies the Hz-to-RPM conversion indicated in Equation 6 in order to determine the appropriate operating speed (in units of RPM) to be written to the network.

$$RPM = \frac{Hz \times 120}{number of motor poles}$$

Equation 6

The "number of motor poles" term which appears in the denominator of Equation 6 is obtained from the setting of inverter function code P01 (Motor number of poles). Note that the value of P01 is read by the interface card only at boot-up, so if the value of this function code is changed, then the interface card must be rebooted in order for it to read the new value from the inverter.

#### 10.2.7 Explicit Messaging Via Get/Set Attribute Single Services

Get attribute single (0x0E) and set attribute single (0x10) are common services that can access the inverter function codes by specifying the appropriate class code, instance number and attribute identifier. The class code is 0xA2. The instance number is the register number that is associated with the targeted inverter function code (refer to section 4.1). The attribute identifier is 1, which is the 16-bit value of the function code being accessed. Examples are shown in Table 26.



#### Table 26: Get/Set Attribute Single Examples

Function Code	Register Number	Service	Class	Instance	Attribute
S05 (Frequency command)	1798	0x0E / 0x10	0xA2	1798	1
M09 (Output frequency)	2058	0x0E / 0x10	0xA2	2058	1

#### 10.2.8 Explicit Messaging Via Data Table Read/Write Services

Data table read (0x4C) and data table write (0x4D) services provide a direct method of accessing the inverter function codes by reference to "tag names". Tags are read via the EtherNet/IP "data table read" service, and written via the EtherNet/IP "data table write" service.

To read data, the client must reference a starting "source element" and the "number of elements" to read. Similarly, to write data, the client must reference a starting "destination element" and the "number of elements" to write. The "number of elements" can be any quantity from 1 to the maximum allowable length, while the "source element" and "destination element" must be tag names constructed according to the naming conventions shown in section 10.2.9. The elements are 16-bit values.

#### 10.2.9 Inverter Function Code Access Tag Format

Any inverter function code (refer to section 4) can be accessed with its own unique tag name, or an array tag can be used to access a group of function codes with one PLC instruction. The "tag name" is essentially the ASCII representation of the function code itself. Tag names are generated according to the following structure:

#### [function code group][function code offset]

#### Where

[function code group] is a [1 to 2]-character field, and is the ASCII character(s) for the function code's group. The characters are case-sensitive. Refer to Table 14.

[function code offset] is a 2-character field corresponding to the function code offset. If the offset is less than 10, it must be pre-pended by 0. Valid offsets are "00" to "99".

Function Code	Service	Tag
F07 (Acceleration time 1)	0x4C / 0x4D	F07
S05 (Frequency command)	0x4C / 0x4D	S05
M14 (Operation status)	0x4C / 0x4D	M14
W22 (Output power)	0x4C / 0x4D	W22
W168 (Life of cooling fan)	0x4C / 0x4D	W168

Table 27: Data Table Read/Write Examples

For explicit messaging examples, refer to sections 10.2.13 and 10.2.14.

#### 10.2.10 ControlLogix Examples: Setup

This section will demonstrate how to initially setup a ControlLogix PLC (such as a 1756-L61) coupled with a 1756-ENBT/A communication interface (adjust this procedure according to your specific equipment). Later sections will provide specific read/write examples using this configuration with I/O or explicit messaging.

- 1) Run RSLogix 5000, and create a new configuration.
- 2) To add a 1756-ENBT/A to your I/O configuration, first switch to offline mode.
- Right click on the I/O Configuration node in the controller organizer view and choose "New Module..."
- 4) The "Select Module" window will open.
- 5) Select the "1756-ENBT/A", and click "Create". Refer to Figure 27.

	module encovery	avoites						
Ent	er Search Text for Mod	lule Type	Clear	Filter	5		Hide Filters	*
V	Modu	e Type Category Filters			Mo	dule Type Vendor Fi	Iters	*
V	Analog		H	7	Allen-Bradley			H
V	Communication			V	Advanced Micro	Controls Inc. (AMCI)		
V	Controller			V	Hardy Instrument	s, Inc.		
V	Digital			V	Molex Incorporate	ed		
1000								
Ca	talog Number	Description				Vendor	Category	*
- 1	1756-EN2T	1756 10/100 Mbps E	Ethernet Brid	ge, Tv	visted-Pair Media	Allen-Bradley	Communication	m
	1756-EN2TR	1756 10/100 Mbps E	Ethernet Brid	ge, 2-	Port, Twisted-P	Allen-Bradley	Communication	
	1756-EN2TSC	1756 10/100 Mbps E	themet Brid	ge, Ty	visted-Pair Medi	Allen-Bradley	Communication	
	1756-EN3TR	1756 10/100 Mbps E	themet Brid	ge, 2-	Port, Twisted-P	Allen-Bradley	Communication	
	1756-ENB1	1756 T0/ T00 Mbps t	themet bid	ge. Iv	vsted-Pair Media	Allen-bradley	Communication	
	1750-EIVET	1756 Ethemet Comm	Unication in	enace	Takana di Wak	Allen-bradley	Communication	
	1750-EWED	1750 Har Country Count	unternet brid	ge w/	critianced web	Allen Deadley	Communication	-
4	1750-1130	1756 High Speed Co	III			Aneri-brauley	Specially	
405		F 1					Addas From	-iter
135	of 135 Module Types	Found					Add to Favo	rites

Figure 27: Adding a New Module

6) The "New Module" window will open. Refer to Figure 28.

122

ieneral* Con	nection*	RSNetWorx*	Module Info*	Internet Protocol*	Port Configural	ation*	
Type: Vendor: Parent: Na <u>m</u> e: Descri <u>p</u> tion:	1756-E Allen-E Local EIP	NBT 1756 10/ Iradley	100 Mbps Ethe	met Bridge, Twisted	-Pair Media themet Address Private Netwo IP Address:	Change Type	
Module Def Revision: Electronic K Rack Conn Time Sync	inition leying: ection: Connectio	6.1 Compat None on: None	Char ble Module	ge	 Sl <u>o</u> t:	2	

#### Figure 28: Identifying the New Module

- Assign the Ethernet module a name (we will use "EIP") and an IP address, deselect "Open Module Properties", and click OK.
- 8) Download the configuration.
- Switch to online mode. Right click on the 1756-ENBT/A module in the I/O Configuration and choose "Properties".
- Select the Internet Protocol tab from the Module Properties dialog box and confirm that the IP Settings are configured correctly.



#### 10.2.11 ControlLogix Example: EDS Add-On Profile (AOP)

This section will demonstrate how to setup and use an EtherNet/IP I/O connection via EDS Add-On Profile. This example only applies to RSLogix5000 V20 (and later) that support EDS Add-On Profile. Otherwise, refer to the I/O examples in section 10.2.12. This section must be completed prior to attempting any of the following AOP example(s).

EtherNet/IP I/O messaging allows the inverter's function codes to be directly mapped into tags in the ControlLogix PLC. Once an I/O connection is established, it is automatically synchronized at an interval defined by the Requested Packet Interval (RPI).

 Register the interface card's EDS file. In the menu bar, navigate to Tools...EDS Hardware Installation Tool. Refer to Figure 29.



#### Figure 29: EDS Hardware Installation Tool Menu

- 2) This will start the "EDS Wizard". Click "Next".
- 3) Select "Register an EDS file(s)" and click "Next".
- 4) The "Registration" dialog will appear. Refer to Figure 30.

Registration Electronic Data Sheet file(s) will b	e added to your system for	use in Rockwell	1
Automation applications.			-
<ul> <li>Register a single file</li> </ul>			
Register a directory of EDS files	🗖 Look in su	ofolders	
Named:			
		Br	owse
		Br	owse
		Br	owse
		<u></u> Br	owse
		<u>B</u> r	owse
i) if there is an icon file (ico)	with the same name as the	<u>Br</u> file(s) you are reg	jistering
iv " If there is an icon file (ico) then this image will be assoc	with the same name as the iated with the device.	<u>B</u> r file(s) you are re <u>c</u>	jistering
if there is an icon file (ico) then this image will be assoc	with the same name as the iated with the device. To perform an installa	file(s) you are reg	owse gistering le(s), click Next
If there is an icon file (ico) then this image will be assoc	with the same name as the iated with the device. To perform an installa	file(s) you are reg	jistering le(s), click Next

#### Figure 30: EDS Registration

Click "Browse", select the interface card's EDS file, and click "Next".

- 5) Ensure that there are no errors in the test results. Click "Next".
- 6) A graphic image of the interface card is displayed. Click "Next".



- 7) The task summary will list the interface card as the device to register. Click "Next".
- 8) "You have successfully completed the EDS Wizard". Click "Finish".
- 9) The interface card is now available as a module.
- Right click on the 1756-ENBT/A node under the "I/O Configuration" in the controller organizer view and choose "New Module..."
- 11) Find the interface card in the "Select Module" dialog box as shown in Figure 31.

atalog	Module Discovery   Fa	vorites					
Ente	er Search Text for Modui	le Type	Clear	Filters		Hide Filters	*
	Module	Type Category Filters			Module Type Vendor Filters		*
<b>VVV</b>	AC Drive Device CIP Motion Drive Communication				Industrial Control Communication, Inc.		н
<	Communications Adapt	un and and and and and and and and and an	•	•	III		
	Catalog Number	Description			Vendor C	ategory	
	OPC-PRT3	OPC-PRT3			Industrial Control A	C Drive Device	ei -
• [			m				۲
3 of	318 Module Types Four	nd				Add to Favor	rites
						-	

Figure 31: Adding a New Interface Card Module

Select the interface card and click "Create".

12) The "New Module" properties dialog box will open as shown in Figure 32.

General* Con	nection	Module Info	Internet Protocol	Port Configuration	1	
Type:	OPC-F	RT3 OPC-PRT	3			
Vendor:	Indust	rial Control Co	mmunication, Inc.			
Parent:	EIP					
Name:	Interf	ace_Card			Ethernet Address	
Description:				*	<ul> <li>Private Network:</li> <li>IP Address:</li> <li>Host Name:</li> </ul>	192.168.1.
Module Defi Revision:	nition	1.1				
Electronic K	eying:	Compatible M	odule			
Connection	L.	Generic VO				
			(	Change		

Figure 32: AOP Interface Card Module Properties



Enter a "Name" which will allow easy identification of the inverter on the network (the tags created in RSLogix 5000 will be derived from this "Name"). Enter the "IP address" of the targeted interface card.

13) Click on the "Connection" tab. Refer to Figure 33.

Name		Requested Packet Interva (RPI) (ms)	Input Type	1	nput Trigger
Jeneric VO		10.0 文 1.0 - 9999.9	Unicast	Cyclic	<b>x</b>
Inhibit Module					
Inhibit Module Major Fault On Controller If Connect Adule Fault	ion Fails While in Ru	n Mode			

Figure 33: AOP New Module Properties Connection Tab

Confirm the setting of the "Requested Packet Interval (RPI)". The RPI defines the amount of time (in milliseconds) between data exchanges across an I/O connection. The smallest RPI supported by the interface card is 1ms. Click "OK" when done.

14) You should now see the interface card in the 1756-ENBT/A branch under the I/O Configuration in the controller organizer view. The full I/O Configuration tree should appear similar to Figure 34.



Figure 34: AOP Interface Card I/O Configuration

15) Continue with the AOP Generic I/O Messaging example in section 10.2.11.1 or AOP AC/DC Drive Profile example in section 10.2.11.2.

#### 10.2.11.1 ControlLogix Example: EDS Add-On Profile (AOP) Generic I/O Messaging

This section will demonstrate how to configure the EtherNet/IP Generic I/O connection.

- 1) Complete all steps in section 10.2.11.
- Locate the interface card in the 1756-ENBT/A branch under the "I/O Configuration" in the controller organizer view. Right click on the interface card, choose "Properties", and select the "General" tab.

 Configure the Generic I/O connection. Refer to Figure 35

11

In the "Connection" portion of the dialog box, enter the following information:

<u>Name:</u> In this example, select Generic I/O.

<u>Size:</u> Because all inverter data is stored as 16-bit function codes, change the data type to "INT array".

Input: The Input is the collection of monitor data that is produced by the interface

naion.	1 •	18	H				
ctronic Keying:	Compatible M	odule		•			
inections:							
Name			Size			Tag S	uffix
Generic I/O		Input:	2 Words		10		Interface_Card:I1
		Output:	2 Words	in array	Ĭ	1	Interface_Card:01
Select a connect	ian -						
		]					

#### Figure 35: AOP Generic I/O Module Definition

card and is received as an input to the PLC. Its structure is defined by the Produced Data Configuration as described in section 10.2.4. The Input Size must be set to the number of 16-bit function codes that we wish to receive from the interface card. For the purposes of this example, we are assuming that the default produced data word configuration, with 2 relevant function codes (M14 and M09). We therefore set the Input Size to 2 Words.

<u>Output:</u> The Output is the collection of command & configuration data that is sent as an output from the PLC and consumed by the interface card. Its structure is defined by the Consumed Data Configuration as described in section 10.2.4. The Output Size must be set to the number of 16-bit function codes that we wish to send to the interface card. For the purposes of this example, we are assuming that the default consumed data word configuration, with 2 relevant function codes (S06 and S05). We therefore set the Output Size to 2 Words.

When done, click "OK".

- 4) Switch to online mode and download the project to the PLC. Verify that the newly-added inverter is available and operating correctly by observing any indications shown on the inverter's icon. When the inverter's icon is selected, its status and any available error messages will be displayed in the area below the project tree. Also confirm that the interface card's "Network Status" LED should be solid green, indicating an "online/connected" state.
- 5) By double-clicking "Controller Tags" in the project tree, it is possible to view the newly-added tags. The Interface\_Card:1 tag allows viewing of the input data, and the Interface\_Card:0 tag allows modification of the output data. These tags will be synchronized with the inverter at whatever rate was established for the module's RPI. We can directly interact with these tags in order to control and monitor the inverter.

#### 10.2.11.2 ControlLogix Example: EDS Add-On Profile (AOP) AC/DC Drive Profile

This section will demonstrate how to configure the EtherNet/IP AC/DC drive profile I/O connection.

- 1) Complete all steps in section 10.2.11.
- Locate the interface card in the 1756-ENBT/A branch under the "I/O Configuration" in the controller organizer view. Right click on the interface card, choose "Properties", and select the "General" tab.
- Configure the AC/DC Drive Profile connection. Refer to Figure 36.

In the "Connection" portion of the dialog box, enter the following information:

Name: In this example, select AC/DC Drive Profile 21 71.

<u>Size:</u> Because all inverter data is stored as 16-bit function codes,

Size         Tag Suffix           JOC Drive Profile 21 71         Image: Size Size Size Size Size Size Size Size	ections:		1.0		1	
UDC Drive Profile 21 71 Ultput: 2 Interface_Card:01 ect a connection	vame	Inout	2 INT		Tag S	Interface Cardill
ect a connection	C/DC Drive Profile 21 7	1 Output:	2		1	Interface_Card:01
	elect a connection					

Figure 36: AOP AC/DC Drive Profile Module Definition



change the data type to "INT array".

When done, click "OK".

- 4) Switch to online mode and download the project to the PLC. Verify that the newly-added inverter is available and operating correctly by observing any indications shown on the inverter's icon. When the inverter's icon is selected, its status and any available error messages will be displayed in the area below the project tree. Also confirm that the interface card's "Network Status" LED should be solid green, indicating an "online/connected" state.
- 5) By double-clicking "Controller Tags" in the project tree, it is possible to view the newly-added tags. The Interface\_Card:1 tag allows viewing of the input data, and the Interface\_Card:0 tag allows modification of the output data. These tags will be synchronized with the inverter at whatever rate was established for the module's RPI. We can directly interact with these tags in order to control and monitor the inverter. The AC/DC drive profile I/O data is described in section 10.2.6.



This section will demonstrate how to setup and use an EtherNet/IP I/O connection via vendor-specific assembly instances 100 & 150 or 20 & 70 or 20 & 71. EtherNet/IP I/O messaging allows the inverter's function codes to be directly mapped into tags in the ControlLogix PLC. Once an I/O connection is established, it is automatically synchronized at an interval defined by the Requested Packet Interval (RPI).

- 1) Switch to offline mode.
- Right click on the 1756-ENBT/A node under the I/O Configuration in the controller organizer view and choose "New Module..."
- Choose "Generic Ethernet Module" in the Select Module dialog box and click "Create". Refer to Figure 37.

Ent	ter Search Text for Module 7	vpe	Clei	er Fil	rs	Hide Filters	*
V	Module Typ	e Category Filters		- 1	Module Type Vendor	Filters	*
	AC Drive Device CIP Motion Drive Communication Communications Adapter				Allen-Bradley Advanced Micro Controls Inc. (AMC Cognex Corporation Endress+Hauser	21)	
4			•		m	)	
Са	stalog Number	Description			Vendor	Category	*
	EIP4CCPU EtherNet/IP ETHERNET-BRIDGE	EIP4CCPU SoftLogix5800 EtherNet Generic EtherNet/IP CI	:/IP P Bridge		Industrial Contro Allen-Bradley Allen-Bradley	Communications Communication	,
	ETHERNET-MODULE	Generic Ethernet Modul	c	-	Allen-Bradley	Communication	
4	ETHERNET-PANELVIEW FANUC CNC FANUC Robot FR-A7N-ETH	EtherNet/IP Panelview EtherNet/IP CNC EtherNet/IP Robot Mitsubishi FR-A7N-ETH			Allen-Bradley FANUC Corpora FANUC Robotic Industrial Contro	HMI t Specialty Specialty I AC Drive Device	-
308	of 308 Module Types Foun	d				Add to Favor	ites

Figure 37: Adding a New Generic Ethernet Module

4) The module properties dialog box will open (refer to Figure 38). Enter a Name which will allow easy identification of the inverter on the network (the tags created in RSLogix 5000 will be derived from this Name). Because all inverter data is stored as 16-bit function codes, change the "Comm Format" selection to "Data-INT". Enter the IP address of the targeted interface card.

Type: Vendor	ETHERNET-MODULE Generic Ethern	et Module				
Parent	EIP					
Na <u>m</u> e:	Interface_Card	Connection Para	ameters Assemblu			
Description:			Instance:	Size:		
		<u>I</u> nput:	150	2		(16-bit)
	*	O <u>u</u> tput:	100	2	×	(16-bit)
Comm <u>F</u> orma	t Data - INT 👻	Configuration	1	0		(0 Ka)
Address / H	Host Name	Coninguration.		_		(0-Dit)
IP Addr	ess: 192 . 168 . 16 . 100	<u>S</u> tatus Input:				
○ <u>H</u> ost Na	ame:	Status Output:				

#### Figure 38: Interface Card Module Properties

In the "Connection Parameters" portion of the dialog box, enter the following information:



**Input:** The Input Assembly is the collection of monitor data that is produced by the interface card and is received as an input to the PLC. Its structure is defined by the Produced Data Configuration as described in section 10.2.4. The Input Assembly Instance must be set to 150 when connecting to the generic I/O assembly instances (or 70/71 when using the ODVA AC/DC drive profile), and the size must be set to the number of 16-bit function codes that we wish to receive from the interface card. For the purposes of this example, we are assuming that the default produced data word configuration, with two relevant function codes (M14 and M09). We therefore set the Input Size to 2.

**Output:** The Output Assembly is the collection of command & configuration data that is sent as an output from the PLC and consumed by the interface card. Its structure is defined by the Consumed Data Configuration as described in section 10.2.4. The Output Assembly Instance must be set to 100 when connecting to the generic I/O assembly instances (or 20/21 when using the ODVA AC/DC drive profile), and the size must be set to the number of 16-bit function codes that we wish to send to the interface card. For the purposes of this example, we are assuming that the default consumed data word configuration, with two relevant function codes (S06 and S05). We therefore set the Output Size to 2.

**<u>Configuration</u>**: The Configuration Assembly Instance is unused, and its instance number and size are therefore irrelevant (you can just enter "1" and "0", respectively).

When done, click "OK".

5) You should now see the new module (named "ETHERNET-MODULE Interface\_Card") in the 1756-ENBT/A branch under the I/O Configuration in the controller organizer view. Right click on this new module, choose "Properties", and select the Connection tab. Refer to Figure 39.

ieneral	Connection	Module Info				
<u>R</u> eques	ted Packet In bit Module	terval (RPI):	10.0 💼 ms	(1.0 - 3200.0)	ms)	
Majo	or Fault On Co Unicast Conn	ntroller If Conne	ction Fails While	in Run Mode		
Modu	le Fault		2010070			



Confirm the setting of the Requested Packet Interval (RPI). The RPI defines the amount of time (in milliseconds) between data exchanges across an I/O connection. The smallest RPI supported by the interface card is 1ms. Click OK when done.

- After adding the I/O Module to the configuration, the full I/O Configuration tree should appear similar to Figure 40.
- 7) Switch to online mode and download the project to the PLC. Verify that the newly-added inverter is available and operating correctly by observing any indications shown on the inverter's icon. When the inverter's icon is selected, its status and any available error messages will be displayed in the



#### Figure 40: I/O Configuration Tree

area below the project tree. Refer to Figure 41. Also confirm that the interface card's "Network Status" LED should be solid green, indicating an "online/connected" state.



- 8) By double-clicking "Controller Tags" in the project tree, it is possible to view the newly-added tags. Refer to Figure 42. The Interface\_Card:C configuration tag is unused, the Interface\_Card:I tag allows viewing of the input data, and the Interface\_Card:O tag allows modification of the output data. These tags will be synchronized with the inverter at whatever rate was established for the module's RPI.
- 9) By double-clicking "Controller Tags" in the project tree, it is possible to view the newly-added tags. Refer to Figure 42. The Interface\_Card:C configuration tag is unused, the Interface\_Card:I tag allows viewing of the input data, and the Interface\_Card:O tag allows modification of the



Figure 41: Online Module Status

output data. These tags will be synchronized with the inverter at whatever rate was established for the module's RPI.

ope: 引 EIP_Example 💌 🔄	Show S	how All			
Name 🛆	Value 🔶	Force Mask 🗲	Style	Data Type	
+ Interface_Card:C	{}	{}		AB:ETHERNET_MODULE:C:0	
- Interface_Card:I	{}	{}		AB:ETHERNET_MODULE_INT_4Bytes:1:0	
- Interface_Card:I.Data	{}	{}	Decimal	INT[2]	
+ Interface_Card:I.Data[0]	16#1021		Hex	INT	
+ Interface_Card:I.Data[1]	3558		Decimal	INT	
- Interface_Card:0	{}	{}		AB:ETHERNET_MODULE_INT_4Bytes:0:0	
- Interface_Card:0.Data	{}	{}	Decimal	INT[2]	
+ Interface_Card:0.Data[0]	16#0001		Hex	INT	
+ Interface_Card:0.Data[1]	3558		Decimal	INT	

Figure 42: Controller Tags for I/O Access

We can directly interact with these tags in order to control and monitor the inverter. In Figure 42, for example, we can see that the first 16-bit word of output data (Interface\_Card:O.Data[0]) has been set to a hexadecimal value of 0x0001. The default consumed data word configuration word offset 0 references function code S06, which is the inverter's command register. A value of 0x0001, therefore, means that the FWD (run forward) bit has been turned ON.

Similarly, we can see that the second 16-bit word of output data (Interface\_Card:O.Data[1]) has been set to a decimal value of 3558. The default consumed data word configuration word offset 1 references function code S05, which is the inverter's frequency command register. A value of 3558, therefore, equates to a frequency command of 35.58Hz.

The input data from the inverter shows similar expected results. Values of 0x1021 and 3558 corresponding to M14 (status register) and M09 (output frequency), respectively, are consistent with the inverter running at the parameters commanded by the output tag.

#### 10.2.12.1 ControlLogix Example: Generic Default I/O Add-On Instruction

The generic default I/O add-on instruction is a simple interface to command and monitor the inverter. It is based on the vendor-specific assembly instances 100 & 150 and the default produce and consume data configuration (refer to section 10.2.4). The add-on instruction is optional and provided for user convenience.

- 1) Complete all the steps in section 10.2.11.
- Right click on "Add-On Instructions" in the controller organizer view and select "Import Add-On Instruction". Browse and import the generic default I/O add-on instruction. Refer to Figure 43.



Figure 43: Generic Default IO Add-On Instruction

- Double click "Controller Tags" in the controller organizer view and select the "Edit Tags" tab at the bottom.
- 4) Create the tags in Figure 44.

ope: 🛐 logix5561	•	Show: A	II Tags 🔹	· Y. Enter A	Vame Filter		1
Name === 4	Alias For	Base Tag	Data Type	Description	External Access	Constant	-
+ freq_cmd		i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	INT		Read/Write		
+ Fuji_Inverter:C			AB:ETHERNET_MODULE:C:0		Read/Write		
+ Fuji_Inverter:I			AB:ETHERNET_MODULE_INT_4Bytes:I:0		Read/Write		E
+ Fuji_Inverter:0			AB:ETHERNET_MODULE_INT_4Bytes:0:0		Read/Write		
⊞-generic_aoi			OPCPRT3_Generic_Default_IO	Simple inte	Read/Write		
reset			BOOL		Read/Write		
run_fwd			BOOL		Read/Write		
run rev			BOOL		Read/Write		÷

Figure 44: Create Generic Default AOI Tags

- 5) Double click "MainRoutine" under Tasks ...MainTask ...MainProgram in the controller organizer view.
- Right click on the first ladder logic rung in the MainRoutine window and select "Add Ladder Element..."
- 7) The "Add Ladder Element" window appears.
- 8) Select the generic default I/O add-on instruction in the Add-On folder. Refer to Figure 45.

adder <u>E</u> lement:	OPCPRT3_Generic_Defaul	Instruction Help >>
Vame	Description	
Motion C Motion C ASCII Se ASCII St ASCII Co ASCII Co Add-On	iconfig icondinated arial Port ning anversion 2RT3_GenSimple Interface fo	r generic defau
t u		
Show Langua	ge Elements By Groups	OK
		Cancel
	24	

Figure 45: Add Generic Default Add-On Instruction

- 9) Click OK.
- 10) Edit the add-on instruction according to Figure 46.



Figure 46: Configure Generic Default AOI

- 11) The program is now complete.
- 12) Save, download and run the program.

#### 10.2.12.2 ControlLogix Example: AC/DC Drive Profile Add-On Instruction

The AC/DC drive profile add-on instruction is a simple interface to command and monitor the inverter. It is based on the assembly instances 21 & 71. The add-on instruction is optional and provided for user convenience.

 Complete all the steps in section 10.2.11. Please note that the Assembly Input Instance must be changed to 71 and the Assembly Output Instance must be changed to 21. Refer to Figure 47.

Type: Vendor:	ETHERNET-MODULE Generic Ethern Allen-Bradley	et Module			
Parent	eipscanner	Connection Par	maters		
Na <u>m</u> e: Description:	Fuj_Inverter	Connectorr as	Assembly Instance:	Size	
o coongaon.	*	Įnput:	71	2	(16-bit)
		Output:	21	2	(16-bit)
Comm <u>F</u> orma	t Data - INT 👻	Configuration	1	0	(8,52)
Address / H	Host Name				• (0-Dit)
IP Addr	ess: 192 . 168 . 16 . 28	<u>S</u> tatus Input:			
) <u>H</u> ost Na	ame:	Sjatus Output			



- Right click on "Add-On Instructions" in the controller organizer view and select "Import Add-On Instruction". Browse and import the AC/DC drive profile add-on instruction. Refer to Figure 48.
- Double click "Controller Tags" in the controller organizer view and select the "Edit Tags" tab at the bottom.
- 4) Create the tags in Figure 49.



Figure 48: AC/DC Drive Profile Add-On Instruction

Controller Tags - logix5561 (controller)							
cope: 🛐 logix5561	÷	Show: A	ll Tags 🗸 🗸	Enter Name F.	iter		
Name 📴 🛆	Alias For	Base Tag	Data Type	Description	External Access	-	
⊞-acdc_aoi		1	OPCPRT3_ACDC_Drive_Profile	Interface f	Read/Write		
+ Fuji_Inverter:C			AB:ETHERNET_MODULE:C:0	-	Read/Write		
			AB:ETHERNET_MODULE_INT_4Bytes:1:0		Read/Write		
+ Fuji_Inverter:0			AB:ETHERNET_MODULE_INT_4Bytes:0:0		Read/Write	m	
reset			BOOL		Read/Write		
run_fwd			BOOL		Read/Write		
run_rev			BOOL		Read/Write	-	
+-speed ref			INT		Read/Write	- -	

#### Figure 49: Create AC/DC Drive Profile AOI Tags

- 5) Double click "MainRoutine" under Tasks ...MainTask ...MainProgram in the controller organizer view.
- Right click on the first ladder logic rung in the MainRoutine window and select "Add Ladder Element..."
- 7) The "Add Ladder Element" window appears.
- 8) Select the AC/DC drive profile add-on instruction in the Add-On folder. Refer to Figure 50.



Figure 50: Add AC/DC Drive Profile Add-On Instruction

- 9) Click OK.
- 10) Edit the add-on instruction according to Figure 51.



#### Figure 51: Configure AC/DC Drive Profile AOI

- 11) The program is now complete.
- 12) Save, download and run the program.


## 10.2.13 ControlLogix Example: Read a Block of Function Codes

This example program will show how to continuously read a block of function codes from the inverter with a single MSG instruction. Only one read request is outstanding at any given time.

#### 1) Create new Tags.

- a) Double click "Controller Tags" in the controller organizer view.
- b) The "Controller Tags" window appears. Refer to Figure 52.

S	cope:    EIP_	example	•	Show S	how All		
	Name 🛆	Alias For	Base Tag	Data Type	Style	Description	-
•	+ connection			MESSAGE			
1	+ data_array			INT[73]	Decimal		
2							

#### Figure 52: Create New Tags

- c) Select the "Edit Tags" tab at the bottom.
- d) Create a new tag by entering "connection" in the first blank Name field, and change its Data Type to "MESSAGE". This tag will contain configuration information for the MSG instruction.
- e) Select the "Monitor Tags" tab. Expand the "connection" tag by clicking on the "+" sign next to the tag name. Scroll down to the connection.UnconnectedTimeout field and change its value from the default 30000000 (30s in 1uS increments) to 1000000 (1s). This value determines how long to wait before timing out and retransmitting a connection request if a connection failure occurs.
- f) Collapse the "connection" tag again by clicking on the "-" sign next to the tag name.
- g) Select the "Edit Tags" tab again. Create another new tag by entering "data\_array" in the next blank Name field, and change its Data Type by typing in "INT[73]" in the Data Type field. This tag is an array of INTs that will be able to hold up to 73 16-bit function codes from the inverter. Always make sure that the destination tag size is large enough to hold all elements to be read.

#### 2) Add a MSG instruction to the main program.

- a) Double click "MainRoutine" under Tasks ...MainTask ...MainProgram in the controller organizer view.
- Right click on the first ladder logic rung in the MainRoutine window and select "Add Ladder Element..."
- c) The "Add Ladder Element" window appears.
- Select the "MSG" instruction in the Input/Output folder. Refer to Figure 53.
- e) Click OK.

#### Add an XIO element to the main program.



## Figure 53: Adding a MSG Instruction

- Right click on the ladder logic rung containing the MSG instruction in the MainRoutine window and select "Add Ladder Element..." again.
- b) The "Add Ladder Element" window appears.
- c) Select the "XIO" element in the Bit folder. Refer to Figure 54.



Figure 54: Adding an XIO Element

d) Click OK.

#### 4) Configure the MSG instruction.

a) Edit the "Message Control" field on the MSG instruction to use the previously-created "connection" tag. Refer to Figure 55.

Tag Name	Data Type Description
1 + connection	MESSAGE
+ data_array	INT[73]

Figure 55: MSG Instruction Tag Assignment

b) Click the message configuration button ("...") in the MSG instruction. The "Message Configuration" window will open. Refer to Figure 56.

onfiguration Commu	inication   Tag		
Message <u>Type</u> :	CIP Data Table Read	•	
Source Element	M01		
Number Of Elements:	21 🛨		
Destination Element:	data_array[50]	•	Ne <u>w</u> Tag

Figure 56: MSG Instruction Configuration

- c) "Configuration" tab settings:
  - i) Change the "Message Type" to "CIP Data Table Read".
  - iii) In the "Source Element" field, enter the read tag you wish to access (refer to section 10.2.9). In this example, we will be reading a total of 21 function codes beginning at function code M01 (per-unit frequency reference – final command).
  - iii) Enter the Number Of Elements to read. In this example, we will read 21 function codes.



- iv) For the Destination Element, select "data\_array[50]".
- d) "Communication" tab settings (refer to Figure 57):

Infiguration* Communication* 7	[ag			
EIP, 2, 192.168.16.163				
Communication Method	<u> </u>	Destination Link	0	1
C CIP With Source Link Source ID	0	Destination Not	le: 0	
₩ Connected	I Cach	Connections 🖌		

#### Figure 57: Setting the Communication Path

- i) Enter the Path to the interface card. A typical path is formatted as "Local\_ENB,2,target\_IP\_address", where:
  - Local\_ENB is the name of the 1756-ENBx module in the local chassis (we named ours "EIP" in section 10.2.10),
  - 2 is the Ethernet port of the 1756-ENBx module in the local chassis, and
  - target\_IP\_address is the IP address of the target node.

In our example, this path would be entered as "EIP,2,192.168.16.163".

- If "Cache Connections" is enabled (checked), the connection remains open after transmission. If disabled (unchecked), the connection is opened before and closed after every transmission. For efficiency, it is recommended to enable "Cache Connections".
- Click "OK" to close the MSG Configuration dialog. At this stage, MainRoutine should look like Figure 58.



Figure 58: MainRoutine

#### 5) Assign a tag to the XIO element.

a) Double-click on the XIO element located to the left of the MSG block. In the drop-down box, double-click on the "connection.EN" field. Refer to Figure 59. This configuration causes the MSG instruction to automatically retrigger itself when it completes. While this is acceptable for the purposes of this example, it can produce high network utilization. In actual practice, it may be desirable to incorporate additional logic elements to allow triggering the MSG instruction at a specific rate or under specific conditions.

🗎 Mai	nPro	ram - MainRoutine*	
围	35 F		
0	•	connectio	^
Ů,	ě	Tag Name Data Type Description	
	e	Connection.ER BOOL	
	•	Connection.DN BOOL	_
	°	-connection.ST BOOL	=
(End)		-connection.EN BOOL	
(criw)		connection.TO BOOL	
		AConnection.EN_CCTag Name: connection.EN	
		Controller Data Type: BOOL	
		Program Description:	
		Show: Show All	~
	Main	ourune: /	•

Figure 59: Configure XIO Element

6) The program is now complete. Refer to Figure 60.

🗎 MainPro	ogram - MainRoutine	
陶雪		
0	Connection EN MSO (CP) Data Table Read (CP) (CP) Data Table Read (CP) (CP) Data Table Read (CP) (CP) (CP) (CP) (CP) (CP) (CP) (CP)	×
(End)		
1 6	, 	~
🔳 🕨 🕅 Mair	aRoutine /	

Figure 60: Complete Program

- 7) Save, download and run the program.
  - a) To view the values of the function codes being read from the interface card, double-click "Controller Tags" in the controller organizer view.
  - b) Select the "Monitor Tags" tab and expand the data\_array tag.
  - c) 21 function code values starting at function code M01 are being continuously read from the interface card and placed in the 21 sequential offsets of data\_array starting at the 50<sup>th</sup> offset (data\_array[50]).



## 10.2.14 ControlLogix Example: Reading and Writing MSG Instructions

Often times, applications may need to both read data from and write data to the inverter. To accomplish this task, multiple MSG instructions will need to be implemented in the PLC program. The configuration and execution for implementing multiple MSG instructions is in general identical to that required for implementing just one MSG instruction. Each MSG instruction will require its own message controller tag.

Figure 61 shows an example of three MSG instructions, one for reading and two for writing (the inverter's frequency command and command word). Note the addition of the en\_xx\_wr XIC elements for the write logic. The reason for the addition of these elements is that while reading from a remote device is often continuously performed (monitoring), data is typically written to the remote device only when necessary (i.e. when the value to write has changed). This conserves both network bandwidth and potentially EEPROM lifespans on the target device. The en\_xx\_wr elements in this example, therefore, would typically be replaced in an actual application program by user-provided logic that controls the conditions under which write operations would be performed.



Figure 61: Reading and Writing via MSG Instructions

Figure 62 shows the configuration details of the example fc\_wr\_connection MSG instruction. Note that the chosen "Message Type" is "CIP Data Table Write", and that this instruction will only be writing to one inverter function code: namely, the frequency command (Destination Element is S05). The Source Element in this case is the 2<sup>nd</sup> element (starting from index 0) of an INT array tag named "wr\_data".

	consect can be		
Message <u>T</u> ype:	CIP Data Table Write	•	
Source Element:	wr_data[1]		Ne <u>w</u> Tag
Number Of <u>E</u> lements:	1 🛨		
Destination Element:	S05		

Figure 62: MSG Configuration for Writing

Note that when writing data via explicit messaging, use caution to ensure that the commanded function codes are not also simultaneously being commanded in the background via I/O messaging. Indeterminate behavior can occur if MSG instructions and background I/O data transfers are both writing to the same function codes. In other words, if the I/O messaging example procedure detailed in section 10.2.11 has already been implemented, and the same program is now being modified to implement explicit messaging, then it is recommended to inhibit the target module by selecting the "Inhibit Module" checkbox in the Connection tab of the Module Properties dialog.



## 10.3 Allen Bradley CSP (PCCC)

#### 10.3.1 Overview

Ethernet-enabled Allen-Bradley legacy PLCs (such as the PLC5E, SLC-5/05, and MicroLogix series) use a protocol called CSP (Client Server Protocol) to communicate over the Ethernet network. The flavor of CSP used by these PLCs is also known as "PCCC" (Programmable Controller Communication Commands) and "AB Ethernet". The interface card supports CSP for direct connectivity to these PLCs. Note that CSP runs under EtherNet/IP and is enabled by default when EtherNet/IP is added to the configuration.

If a connection timeout or socket-level error occurs, the driver can be configured to perform a timeout action as described in section 10.2.3.

#### 10.3.2 Explicit Messaging Via Read/Write Services

Register (function code) contents are read from and written to the interface card via CSP by reference to an integer "file/section number" and an "offset/element" within that file. The supported read and write services are listed in Table 28. To read and write data, the client must reference a "target address" and the "size of elements". The target address is constructed according to the conventions shown in section 10.3.3.

Service	Code
PLC5 Typed Read	0x68
PLC5 Typed Write	0x67
PLC5 Word Range Read	0x01
PLC5 Word Range Write	0x00
SLC Typed Read	0xA2
SLC Typed Write	0xAA

#### Table 28: CSP (PCCC) Read/Write Services

#### 10.3.3 Inverter Function Code File Number Offset Format

The formula to calculate which register (function code) is targeted in the interface card is provided in Equation 7.

target register = (file number - 10) 
$$\times$$
 100 + offset

Equation 7

Refer to section 4.1 for converting function codes to register numbers. In Equation 7, "target register"  $\in$ [1...1899], "file number"  $\in$ [10...146] (which means N10...N146), and "offset" is restricted only by the limitations of the programming software (but is a value of 13668 max). Refer to section 4.1 for the function code to register mapping. Table 29 provides some examples of various combinations of file/section numbers and offsets/elements which can be used to access inverter function codes. Note that there are multiple different combinations of file/section numbers and offsets/elements that will result in the same inverter function code being accessed.

Function Code	Target Register	File/Section Number	Offset/Element	Address Format
F01	2	N10	2	N10:2
E05	262	N12	62	N12:62
S05	1798	N27	98	N27:98
d99	4964	N59	64	N59:64
J690	13659	N146	59	N146:59

Table 29: 0	CSP '	Target	Register	Examples
-------------	-------	--------	----------	----------

In addition to providing access to the inverter function codes in their "standard" numerical locations as mentioned above, the function codes can also be accessed in a special "assembly object" type format by targeting integer file N60. What this means is that when N60 is targeted for reading, what is actually returned by the interface card is the user-defined function code data as ordered by the EtherNet/IP produced data word configuration (refer to section 10.2.4). Similarly, when N60 is targeted for writing, the written data is disseminated to the inverter's function codes according to the definition contained in the EtherNet/IP consumed data word configuration. By appropriate configuration of the EtherNet/IP consumed data word configuration, therefore, bulk access to non-contiguous but frequently-used inverter function codes can be conveniently provided by performing only one read and/or write instruction targeting file N60.

Because both the EtherNet/IP consumed and produced data word configurations are comprised of 32 function code definitions, the targeted "offset/element" must be within the range of 0 to 31 inclusive. Refer to Table 30 for some examples of N60 accesses.

File/Section Number	Offset/Element	Address Format	Start Target Function Code of Configuration Array	Max Number of Accessible Elements
N60	0	N60:0	1st	32
N60	:			
N60	15	N60:15	16th	16
N60	:			
N60	31	N60:31	32nd	1

#### Table 30: Examples of EtherNet/IP-Style Bulk Access via File N60

The application PLC program uses a MSG instruction that is configured with a "Data Table Address" from which to start the access and a "Size in Elements" which determines the number of items to access (read or write). The "Data Table Address" is constructed by selecting a "File/Section Number" and an "Offset/Element" according to Equation 7. For example, a "File/Section Number" of N27 and "Offset/Element" of 99 = N27:99, which corresponds to register 1799 (the inverter's operation command register, function code S06).

## 166

## 10.3.4 SLC-5/05 Example: Read Function Codes

This example program will show how to continuously read a block of function codes from the inverter with a single MSG instruction. This action is performed via the Typed Read (a.k.a. "PLC5 Read") message type. Only one read request is outstanding at any given time. Note that the steps for the MicroLogix and PLC5E may vary slightly, but in general are similar.

#### 1) Run RSLogix 500, and create a new configuration.

#### 2) Create a control and a data file.

- Right click Data Files and select New... The "Create Data File" dialog box appears (refer to Figure 63).
- b) To create a control file, enter a file number (e.g. 20), set the type to "Integer", enter a descriptive name (e.g. "CONTROL"), and enter a number of elements (e.g. 100). Click OK to create the file. The control file is used to store configuration information pertaining to the functionality of the MSG instruction which will perform the data read.
- c) Follow the same procedure to create a data file. This file will be used to store the incoming data read from the interface card. Enter a file number (e.g. 18), set the type to "Integer", enter a descriptive name (e.g. "DATA"), and enter a number of plagate (e.g. 200). Refer to File

Create Date	a File	
File	20	
Tupe:	Integer -	
i ype.		
iname:		
Desc:		
Elements:	100 Last	
Attributes		
C Debug	n Deleting Unused Memory	
Global		
C Local	To File: 2 -	-
Protection		
Constant ☐ Memory M	C <u>S</u> tatic	
ок	Cancel	Help

#### Figure 63: Creating a Control File

elements (e.g. 200). Refer to Figure 64. Click OK to create the file.

#### 3) Add a MSG instruction to the program.

- a) If not already visible, doubleclick "LAD2" under Project...Program Files in the controller organizer view to bring up the ladder logic program.
- Right click on the default rung number on the left-hand side of the LAD2 window and select "Insert Rung".
- Right click on the rung number of the new editable rung and select "Append Instruction".
- d) Select the "MSG" instruction from the "Input/Output" classification, then click OK. Refer to Figure 65.

#### Add an XIO element to the program.

 Right click on the rung number of the rung currently being edited and select "Append Instruction" again.

create Data File		
File: 18		
Tunai Jutanas		
rype. Integer	<u> </u>	
Name: DATA		
Desc:		
Elements: 200	Last	
Attributes		
☐ <u>D</u> ebug ☐ Skip When Deleting Scope	Unused Memory	
Global		
C Local To Fi	le. 2-	*
Protection		
C Constant C	<u>S</u> tatic • <u>N</u> one	

Figure 64: Creating a Data File

Instruction Classification: Instruction Names: Search->> Advanced Math BTR - Block Transfer Rea
All Instructions 🛛 📲 BTW - Block Transfer Wri
AsciControl AsciControl AsciSting Bh Compare Compute/Math File ShiV/Sequencer File/Misc Inter/Upt Law INSC Read/Unite Message REF Read/Unite Message REF Refresh 1/0 RMF Read/Unite Message REF Refresh 1/0 RMF Read/Unite Message SVC - Service Communicat For Eventor

#### Figure 65: MSG Instruction Selection

b) Select the "XIO" instruction from the "Bit" classification, then click OK. Refer to Figure 66.

Instruction Classification: Ascii Control	Instruction Names: Search->> DDT - Diagnostic Detect FBC - File Bit Comparison OCP - One Search Environ	OK Cancel
Bit Compare Compute/Math File Shit/Sequencer File/Miss Input/Dutput Micro High Spd Chtr Move/Logical Program Control Timer/Counter Trig Functions User Customized	OTE - Output Energize OTE - Output Energize OTI - Output Latch OTU - Output Unlatch XIC - Examine if Closed XIO - Examine if Open	
	Description: XIO - Examine if Open	

Figure 66: XIO Instruction Selection

#### 5) Configure the MSG instruction.

- a) Set the "Read/Write" field to "Read", "Target Device" field to "PLC5", "Local/Remote" field to "Local", and "Control Block" to "N20:0".
- b) Upon hitting the <ENTER> key while in the "Control Block" entry box, the MSG Properties dialog box should appear (or it can be opened by clicking on the "Setup Screen" button at the bottom of the MSG instruction). Refer to Figure 67.

eral MukiHop	
his Controller Communication Command : PLC5 Read Data Table Address: N18:1 Size in Elements: 25 Channel: 1 Faget Device Message Timeout : 10 Data Table Address: N30:50 Local / Remote : Local MultiHop: Yes	Control Bits Ignore if timed out (TO): ① To be retried (NR): ① Awaiking Execution (EW): ① Continuous Run (CO): ① Error (ER): ① Message done (DN): ① Message fonbel (EN): ① Waiking for Queue Space : ① Error
Error Description No errors	

Figure 67: MSG Configuration, "General" Tab

- c) In this example, we will be reading a total of 25 function codes beginning at N30:50 (register 2050 / function code M01). To configure this, under "This Controller" set the "Data Table Address" field to N18:1, set the "Size in Elements field" to 25, and set the "Channel" field to 1 (Ethernet).
- Under "Target Device", set the "Data Table Address" field to N30:50 (starting target register=2050) and set the "MultiHop" field to Yes to cause the "MultiHop" tab to appear.
- e) Under the "MultiHop" tab settings, set the "To Address" in the first row to the inverter's IP address, and the "To Address" in the second row to 0. Refer to Figure 68.

ns = Add Hop		Del = Re	emove Hop	
From Device	From Port	To Address Type	To Address	
This SLC500 Controll ogiv Backplane	1 N/A	1756-ENet I.P. (str): 1756 Backplane Slot(dec)	192.168.16.128	
Service Standard Stand	in a			

#### Figure 68: MSG Configuration, "MultiHop" Tab

f) Close the dialog box. At this point, the program should appear as shown in Figure 69.

122

	MSG RaadWite Message Type Peer-To-Peer RaadWite Raad Taget Device PLCS Local/Remote Local Control Block Length S1 Setup Screen
001	(END)

Figure 69: PLC Program after MSG Instruction Configuration

## 6) Assign a tag to the XIO element.

122

a) Double-click on the XIO element located to the left of the MSG block. Type in N20:0/15 (MSG instruction's enable bit). This configuration causes the MSG instruction to automatically retrigger itself when it completes. While this is acceptable for the purposes of this example, it can produce high network utilization. In actual practice, it may be desirable to incorporate additional logic elements to allow triggering the MSG instruction at a specific rate or under specific conditions.

## 7) The program is now complete. Refer to Figure 70.





## 8) Save, download, and run the program.

a) To view the function codes being read from the interface card, double-click the data file N18 under "Data Files" in the controller organizer view. 25 function code values starting at register #2050 are being continuously read from the interface card and placed in the 25 sequential offsets of N18 starting at N18:1. Refer to Figure 71. We can see that N18:9 (register 2058 / output frequency / function code M09) has a value of 2525 (25.25Hz), N18:12 (register 2061 / output voltage / function code M12) has a value of 610 (61.0V), etc.

Offset	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	و
N18:0	0	8417	0	0	0	2525	8417	-183	0	2525
N18:10	120	1	610	1	4129	1	36	0	0	0
N18:20	1796	311	0	17235	100	800	0	0	0	0
•										
N1	8:0							Ra	doc Deci	mal
Symbol:									Colu	mns: 10

Figure 71: Monitoring the Data Being Read from the Inverter



#### 10.3.5 SLC-5/05 Example: Reading and Writing

Often times, applications may need to both read data from and write data to the inverter. To accomplish this task, multiple MSG instructions will need to be implemented in the PLC program. The configuration and execution for implementing multiple MSG instructions is in general identical to that required for implementing just one MSG instruction. Each MSG instruction will require its own message control file.

Figure 72 shows an example of two MSG instructions, one for reading and one for writing. It is evident from this logic that N20 and N21 are the two independent message control files created for these instructions. Note that the "Read/Write" field of each of the MSG instructions is set according to their function.



Figure 72: Reading and Writing via MSG Instructions

Figure 73 shows the configuration details of the "write" MSG instruction. Note that this instruction will only be writing to one inverter register: namely, register 1798 (function code S05 / frequency command). The source Data Table Address in this case is N18:30.

MSG - N21:0 : (51 Elements)	
General MultiHop	
This Controller Communication Command : PLC5 Write Data Table Address: N18:30 Size in Elements: 1 Channet: 1	Control Bits Ignore if timed out (TO): [0] To be retried (NR): [0] Awaiting Execution (EW): [0] Continuous Run (CO): [0]
Target Device Message Timeout : 5 Data Table Address: <u>N27-98</u> Local / Remote : <u>Local</u> MultiHop: <u>Ye</u>	Error [ER]: () Message done (DN): () Message Transmitting (ST): [] Message Enabled (EN): [] Waiting for Queue Space : ()

Figure 73: MSG Configuration for Writing

## 10.4 BACnet/IP

120

- The interface card supports the BACnet/IP (Annex J) protocol over Ethernet via a configurable UDP port (default value of 47808).
- The BACnet driver does not trigger timeout events (section 6.6.1).

#### 10.4.1 Protocol Implementation Conformance Statement

### **BACnet Protocol**

Date: January 26, 2022 Vendor Name: ICC, Inc. Product Name: Fuii FRENIC-MEGA/HVAC/HVAC-P/AQUA/Ace Product Model Number: OPC-PRT3 Applications Software Version: V1.1.48 Firmware Revision: V1.1.48 BACnet Protocol Revision: 2 Product Description: The Fuji Electric FRENIC series is a family of high-performance multifunctional inverters. Other features include ROHS compliance and built-in EMC filter.

#### BACnet Standard Device Profile (Annex L):

- BACnet Operator Workstation (B-OWS)
- BACnet Building Controller (B-BC)
- BACnet Advanced Application Controller (B-AAC)
- BACnet Application Specific Controller (B-ASC)
- BACnet Smart Sensor (B-SS)
- BACnet Smart Actuator (B-SA)

#### BACnet Interoperability Building Blocks Supported (Annex K):

Data Sharing – ReadProperty-B (DS-RP-B)

- Data Sharing ReadPropertyMultiple-B (DS-RPM-B)
- Data Sharing WriteProperty-B (DS-WP-B)
- Device Management Dynamic Device Binding-B (DM-DDB-B)
- Device Management Dynamic Object Binding-B (DM-DOB-B)

#### Segmentation Capability:

#### None

Segmented requests supported
 Segmented responses supported

Window Siz	ze
Window Siz	ze

#### Standard Object Types Supported:

See "Object Types/Property Support Table".

#### Data Link Layer Options:

BACnet IP, (Annex J)
BACnet IP, (Annex J), Foreign Device
ISO 8802-3, Ethernet (Clause 7)
ANSI/ATA 878.1, 2.5 Mb. ARCNET (Clause 8)
ANSI/ATA 878.1, RS-485 ARCNET (Clause 8), baud rate(s)
MS/TP master (Clause 9), baud rate(s): 9600, 19200, 38400, 76800
MS/TP slave (Clause 9), baud rate(s):
Point-To-Point, EIA 232 (Clause 10), baud rate(s):
Point-To-Point, modem, (Clause 10), baud rate(s):
LonTalk, (Clause 11), medium:
Other:



#### **Device Address Binding:**

Is static device binding	supporte	d? (This is	currently	for two-way	communication	with MS/TP	slaves and
certain other devise.)	Yes	🖾 No					

#### Networking Options:

Rout	er, Clause	e 6 - Lis	t all ro	uting co	onfigurations
------	------------	-----------	----------	----------	---------------

Annex H, BACnet Tunneling Router over IP

BACnet/IP Broadcast Management Device (BBMD)

Does the BBMD support registrations by Foreign Devices?

🗌 Yes	🗌 No
-------	------

#### Character Sets Supported:

Indicating support for multiple character sets does not imply that they can all be supported simultaneously.

🛛 ANSI X3.4
ISO 10646 (UCS-2)

□ IBM<sup>™</sup>/Microsoft<sup>™</sup> DBCS □ ISO 10646 (UCS-4) ☐ ISO 8859-1 ☐ JIS C 6226

If this product is a communication gateway, describe the types of non-BACnet equipment/networks(s) that the gateway supports: N/A

#### Datatypes Supported:

The following table summarizes the datatypes that are accepted (in the case of a write property service) and returned (in the case of a read property service) when targeting the present value property of each supported object type.

Object Turne	Service		
Object Type	Read Property	Write Property	
Analog Output	Real	Real, Unsigned, Integer, Null	
Analog Input	Real	N/A	
Analog Value	Real	Real, Unsigned, Integer, Null	
Binary Output	Enumerated	Enumerated, Boolean, Real, Unsigned, Integer, Null	
Binary Input	Enumerated	N/A	
Binary Value	Enumerated	Enumerated, Boolean, Real, Unsigned, Integer, Null	
Multi-state Output	Unsigned	Enumerated, Real, Unsigned, Integer, Null	
Multi-state Input	Unsigned	N/A	
Multi-state Value	Unsigned	Enumerated, Real, Unsigned, Integer, Null	

Notes:

 The Null data type is used to relinquish a previously-commanded entry at the targeted priority in the priority array.



## **Object Types/Property Support Tables:**

## Table 31: BACnet Device Object Types /Properties Supported

Property	Object Type
	Device
Object Identifier	R
Object Name	R
Object Type	R
System Status	R
Vendor Name	R
Vendor Identifier	R
Model Name	R
Firmware Revision	R
Appl Software Revision	R
Protocol Version	R
Protocol Revision	R
Services Supported	R
Object Types Supported	R
Object List	R
Max APDU Length	R
Segmentation Support	R
APDU Timeout	R
Number APDU Retries	R
Device Address Binding	R
Database Revision	R

R – readable using BACnet services W – readable and writable using BACnet services

## Table 32: BACnet Binary Object Types /Properties Supported

	Object Type		
Property	Binary Input	Binary Output	Binary Value
Object Identifier	R	R	R
Object Name	R	R	R
Object Type	R	R	R
Present Value	R	W	W
Status Flags	R	R	R
Event State	R	R	R
Out-of-Service	R	R	R
Priority Array		R	R
Relinquish Default		R	R
Polarity	R	R	
Active Text	R	R	
Inactive Text	R	R	

R – readable using BACnet services W – readable and writable using BACnet services

#### **Object Type** Property Analog Analog Analog Value Input Output Object Identifier R R R Object Name R R R Object Type R R R W Present Value R W Status Flags R R R R Event State R R R R R Out-of-Service Units R R R Priority Array R R Relinquish Default R R

## Table 33: BACnet Analog Object Types /Properties Supported

R - readable using BACnet services

W - readable and writable using BACnet services

Table 34: BACnet Multi-state Object Types /Properties Supporte
--

	Object Type			
Property	Multi-state Input	Multi-state Output	Multi-state Value	
Object Identifier	R	R	R	
Object Name	R	R	R	
Object Type	R	R	R	
Present Value	R	W	W	
Status Flags	R	R	R	
Event State	R	R	R	
Out-of-Service	R	R	R	
Number of States	R	R	R	
Priority Array		R	R	
Relinguish Default		R	R	

R - readable using BACnet services

W - readable and writable using BACnet services

## ICC

## 10.4.2 Default Supported Objects

This section will describe the default objects. Since the objects are configurable, the system integrator is responsible for managing, maintaining, and documenting the actual configuration.

Note Always use the studio to confirm the configuration before commissioning the device

Instance ID	Object Name	Description	Active/ Inactive Text
BI1	FWD_ROT_STATUS	Forward rotation status	forward/off
BI2	REV_ROT_STATUS	Reverse rotation status	reverse/off
BI3	EXT_STATUS	DC injection braking	braking/off
BI4	INVERTER_SHUTDOWN	Inverter shutdown	on/off
BI5	BRAKING	Braking	braking /off
BI6	NUV	DC bus voltage normal	on/off
BI7	TORQUE_LIMITING	Torque limited	on/off
BI8	VOLTAGE_LIMITING	Voltage limited	on/off
BI9	CURRENT_LIMITING	Current limited	on/off
BI10	ACCELERATING	Accelerating	on/off
BI11	DECELERATING	Decelerating	on/off
BI12	ALARM	Alarm	on/off
BI13	COMM_ESTABLISHED	Communications established	on/off
BI14	BUSY_WRITING	Busy writing	on/off

## Table 35: Binary Input Object Instance Summary

## Table 36: Binary Output Object Instance Summary

Instance ID	Object Name	Description	Active/ Inactive Text
BO1	FWD_ROT_CMD	Forward rotation command	forward/off
BO2	REV_ROT_CMD	Reverse rotation command	reverse/off
BO3	X1	General purpose input	on/off
BO4	X2	General purpose input	on/off
BO5	X3	General purpose input	on/off
BO6	X4	General purpose input	on/off
BO7	X5	General purpose input	on/off
BO8	X6	General purpose input	on/off
BO9	X7	General purpose input	on/off
BO10	X8	General purpose input	on/off
BO11	Х9	General purpose input	on/off
BO12	EN_TERMINAL	Enable terminal	on/off
BO13	XF_FWD	General purpose input	on/off
BO14	XR_REV	General purpose input	on/off
BO15	ALARM_RESET	Alarm reset	on/off

## Table 37: Analog Input Object Instance Summary

Instance ID	Object Name	Description	Units
Al1	OUTPUT_FREQ	Output frequency	Hz
Al2	OUTPUT_CURRENT	Output current	Amps
AI3	OUTPUT_VOLTAGE	Output voltage	Volts
Al4	INPUT_POWER	Input power	kW
AI5	OUTPUT_POWER	Output power	kW

Instance ID	Object Name	Description	Units
AO1	FREQ_REF	Frequency command	Hz
AO2	ACCEL_TIME	Acceleration time	Seconds
AO3	DECEL_TIME	Deceleration time	Seconds

#### Table 38: Analog Output Object Instance Summary

#### 10.4.3 Default Supported Object Details

This section will describe the default objects details. Since the objects are configurable, the system integrator is responsible for managing, maintaining, and documenting the actual configuration.

#### Binary Input Objects

- BI1 ...... Indicates whether the inverter is running forward. Corresponds to function code M14, bit 0.
- BI2...... Indicates whether the inverter is running reverse. Corresponds to function code M14, bit 1.
- BI3 ...... Indicates DC injection braking or pre-exciting. Corresponds to function code M14, bit 2.
- BI4...... Indicates inverter shutdown. Corresponds to function code M14, bit 3.

BI5 ...... Indicates braking. Corresponds to function code M14, bit 4.

- BI6 ...... Indicates normal DC bus voltage. Corresponds to function code M14, bit 5.
- BI7 ...... Indicates torque limited. Corresponds to function code M14, bit 6.
- BI8 ...... Indicates voltage limited. Corresponds to function code M14, bit 7.
- BI9...... Indicates current limited. Corresponds to function code M14, bit 8.
- BI10..... Indicates acceleration. Corresponds to function code M14, bit 9.
- BI11..... Indicates deceleration. Corresponds to function code M14, bit 10.
- BI12 ..... Indicates alarm. Corresponds to function code M14, bit 11.
- BI13..... Indicates communications established. Corresponds to function code M14, bit 12.
- BI14..... Indicates function code write in progress. Corresponds to function code M14, bit 15.

#### Binary Output Objects

- BO1 ..... Forward command. Corresponds to function code S06, bit 0.
- BO2 ..... Reverse command. Corresponds to function code S06, bit 1.
- BO3 ..... X1 command. Corresponds to function code S06, bit 2.
- BO4 ..... X2 command. Corresponds to function code S06, bit 3.
- BO5 ..... X3 command. Corresponds to function code S06, bit 4.
- BO6 ..... X4 command. Corresponds to function code S06, bit 5.
- BO7 ..... X5 command. Corresponds to function code S06, bit 6.
- BO8 ..... X6 command. Corresponds to function code S06, bit 7.
- BO9 ..... X7 command. Corresponds to function code S06, bit 8.
- BO10 .... X8 command. Corresponds to function code S06, bit 9.
- BO11 .... X9 command. Corresponds to function code S06, bit 10.
- BO12 .... EN terminal command. Corresponds to function code S06, bit 11.
- BO13 .... XF (FWD) command. Corresponds to function code S06, bit 13.
- BO14 .... XR (REV) command. Corresponds to function code S06, bit 14.
- BO15 .... Activates the alarm reset. Corresponds to function code S06, bit 15.

#### Analog Input Objects

- Al1...... The output frequency of the inverter in 0.01 Hertz units (6000=60.00Hz). Corresponds to function code M09.
- Al2...... The output current of the inverter in 0.1 or 0.01 Amp units (depends on inverter capacity). Corresponds to function code W05.

## 166

Al3...... The output voltage of the inverter in 0.1 Volt units (1000=100.0V). Corresponds to function code W06.

Al4...... Input power of the inverter in 0.01 kW units. Corresponds to function code W21.

AI5...... Output power of the inverter in 0.01 kW units. Corresponds to function code W22.

#### Analog Output Objects

AO1 ..... Frequency command of the inverter in 0.01 Hertz units. Corresponds to function code S05.

- AO2 ..... Sets the acceleration time in 0.1 second units. Corresponds to function code S08.
- AO3 ..... Sets the deceleration time in 0.1 second units. Corresponds to function code S09.

#### 10.4.4 Server Settings

In the studio's Project panel, navigate to OPC-PRT3...Ethernet...BACnet/IP Server.

#### UDP Port

This is the UDP port on which to transmit and receive BACnet/IP packets on the local subnet. The default value is 47808 (0xBAC0). To ensure successful communications, use caution when using a port setting other than the default value.

#### 10.4.5 Node Settings

There are no node settings. A node is simply a container for objects.

#### 10.4.6 Device Object Settings

A Device Object is automatically added to every node, and cannot be removed. The Device Object contains several configurable fields that must be appropriately set for each device residing on a BACnet network.

### Device Name

Defines the node's name. The device name must be unique across the entire BACnet network. Enter a string of between 1 and 32 characters in length.

#### Instance Number

Defines the node's instance number. The instance number must be unique across the entire BACnet network. Enter a value between 0...4194302 (0x0...0x3FFFFE).

#### 10.4.7 BACnet Object Settings

The BACnet server hosts BACnet objects which contain many different properties for any BACnet client on the network to access. The driver supports a variety of different BACnet objects. All supported properties of these objects are readable, while only the present value property is writable (for Outputs and Values only).

#### 10.4.8 Analog Input Object Settings

#### Object Name

The name of the BACnet object. Enter a string of between 1 and 32 characters in length. All object names must be unique within a node.

#### Instance

The BACnet object's instance number. Enter a value between 0...4194302 (0x0...0x3FFFFE).

## Function Code

The inverter function code (refer to section 4) that the BACnet object's present value will access.

## Data Type

Fixed to 16-bit Unsigned.

## Units

Select the desired units from this dropdown menu. If the desired units are not available in the dropdown menu, select "Other Units" and enter the appropriate enumerated value (as defined by the BACnet Specification) in the "Unit Value" field.



### Unit Value

This field is enabled only when the "Units" selection is set to "Other Units". Enter the appropriate enumerated value (as defined by the BACnet Specification.)

#### 10.4.9 Analog Output Object Settings

#### Object Name

The name of the BACnet object. Enter a string of between 1 and 32 characters in length. All object names must be unique within a node.

#### Instance

The BACnet object's instance number. Enter a value between 0...4194302 (0x0...0x3FFFFE).

#### Function Code

The inverter function code (refer to section 4) that the BACnet object's present value will access.

#### Data Type

Fixed to 16-bit Unsigned.

#### Units

Select the desired units from this dropdown menu. If the desired units are not available in the dropdown menu, select "Other Units" and enter the appropriate enumerated value (as defined by the BACnet Specification) in the "Unit Value" field.

#### Unit Value

This field is enabled only when the "Units" selection is set to "Other Units". Enter the appropriate enumerated value (as defined by the BACnet Specification.)

#### Relinguish Default

Defines the default value to be used for an object's present value property when all entries in the object's priority array are NULL.

#### 10.4.10 Analog Value Object Settings

#### Object Name

The name of the BACnet object. Enter a string of between 1 and 32 characters in length. All object names must be unique within a node.

#### Instance

The BACnet object's instance number. Enter a value between 0...4194302 (0x0...0x3FFFFE).

#### Function Code

The inverter function code (refer to section 4) that the BACnet object's present value will access.

#### Data Type

Fixed to 16-bit Unsigned.

#### Units

Select the desired units from this dropdown menu. If the desired units are not available in the dropdown menu, select "Other Units" and enter the appropriate enumerated value (as defined by the BACnet Specification) in the "Unit Value" field.

#### Unit Value

This field is enabled only when the "Units" selection is set to "Other Units". Enter the appropriate enumerated value (as defined by the BACnet Specification.)

#### Relinguish Default

Defines the default value to be used for an object's present value property when all entries in the object's priority array are NULL.



## 10.4.11 Binary Input Object Settings

#### Object Name

The name of the BACnet object. Enter a string of between 1 and 32 characters in length. All object names must be unique within a node.

#### Instance

The BACnet object's instance number. Enter a value between 0...4194302 (0x0...0x3FFFFE).

#### Function Code

The inverter function code (refer to section 4) that the BACnet object's present value will access.

#### Data Type

Fixed to 16-bit Unsigned.

#### **Bitmask**

Specifies which bit(s) in the 16-bit value designated by the "Function Code" that the binary object will map to. This mechanism allows up to 16 binary objects to be simultaneously assigned to one function code (each binary object mapping to a single bit of that 16-bit word). It is possible to map binary objects to multiple bits within the designated function code.

<u>The effect of the "Bitmask" field when reading:</u> When the present value property of a binary object is read by a BACnet client, the bitmask is used to determine the active/inactive state of the object by inspecting the value in the designated function code at the bit location(s) indicated in the bitmask. If <u>all</u> of the bit locations at the designated function code are set, then the object's state will be returned as "active". Else, the object's the will be returned as "inactive". This resultant state is reversed prior to being placed on the network if the object's "Polarity" is set to "Reverse".

#### Active Text

Specifies the description of the object's "active" state. Enter a string of up to 32 characters in length. This field is optional and may be left blank.

#### Inactive Text

Specifies the description of the object's "inactive" state. Enter a string of up to 32 characters in length. This field is optional and may be left blank.

#### Polarity

Indicates the relationship between the physical state of the object (as stored in the function code) and the logical state represented by the object's present value property. If the physical state is active high, select "Normal" from this dropdown menu. If the physical state is active low, select "Reverse" from this dropdown menu. For further detail, refer to the "Bitmask" behavioral description.

#### 10.4.12 Binary Output Object Settings

#### Object Name

The name of the BACnet object. Enter a string of between 1 and 32 characters in length. All object names must be unique within a node.

#### Instance

The BACnet object's instance number. Enter a value between 0...4194302 (0x0...0x3FFFFE).

#### Function Code

The inverter function code (refer to section 4) that the BACnet object's present value will access.

#### Data Type

Fixed at 16-Bit Unsigned.

#### **Bitmask**

Specifies which bit(s) in the 16-bit value designated by the "Function Code" that the binary object will map to. This mechanism allows up to 16 binary objects to be simultaneously assigned to one function code (each binary object mapping to a single bit of that 16-bit word). It is possible to map binary objects to multiple bits within the designated function code.

# 166

<u>The effect of the "Bitmask" field when writing:</u> When the present value property of a binary object is set to "active" by a BACnet client, then the bit(s) in the designated function code indicated by the bitmask are set. Similarly, when the present value property of the object is set to "inactive", then the bit(s) in the designated function code indicated by the bitmask are cleared. This setting/clearing behavior is reversed if the object's "Polarity" is set to "Reverse".

<u>The effect of the "Bitmask" field when reading:</u> When the present value property of a binary object is read by a BACnet client, the bitmask is used to determine the active/inactive state of the object by inspecting the value in the designated function code at the bit location(s) indicated in the bitmask. If <u>all</u> of the bit locations at the designated function code are set, then the object's state will be returned as "active". Else, the object's state will be returned as "inactive". This resultant state is reversed prior to being placed on the network if the object's "Polarity" is set to "Reverse".

## Active Text

Specifies the description of the object's "active" state. Enter a string of up to 32 characters in length. This field is optional and may be left blank.

## Inactive Text

Specifies the description of the object's "inactive" state. Enter a string of up to 32 characters in length. This field is optional and may be left blank.

## Polarity

Indicates the relationship between the physical state of the object (as stored in the function code) and the logical state represented by the object's present value property. If the physical state is active high, select "Normal" from this dropdown menu. If the physical state is active low, select "Reverse" from this dropdown menu. For further detail, refer to the "Bitmask" behavioral description.

## Relinguish Default

Defines the default value to be used for an object's present value property when all entries in the object's priority array are NULL.

## 10.4.13 Binary Value Object Settings

## Object Name

The name of the BACnet object. Enter a string of between 1 and 32 characters in length. All object names must be unique within a node.

## Instance

The BACnet object's instance number. Enter a value between 0...4194302 (0x0...0x3FFFFE).

## Function Code

The inverter function code (refer to section 4) that the BACnet object's present value will access.

## Data Type

Fixed at 16-Bit Unsigned.

#### <u>Bitmask</u>

Specifies which bit(s) in the 16-bit value designated by the "Function Code" that the binary object will map to. This mechanism allows up to 16 binary objects to be simultaneously assigned to one function code (each binary object mapping to a single bit of that 16-bit word). It is possible to map binary objects to multiple bits within the designated function code.

<u>The effect of the "Bitmask" field when writing:</u> When the present value property of a binary object is set to "active" by a BACnet client, then the bit(s) in the designated function code indicated by the bitmask are set. Similarly, when the present value property of the object is set to "inactive", then the bit(s) in the designated function code indicated by the bitmask are cleared.

<u>The effect of the "Bitmask" field when reading:</u> When the present value property of a binary object is read by a BACnet client, the bitmask is used to determine the active/inactive state of the object by inspecting the value in the designated function code at the bit location(s) indicated in the bitmask. If <u>all</u> of the bit locations at the designated function code are set, then the object's state will be returned as "active". Else, the object's state will be returned as "inactive".



#### Active Text

Specifies the description of the object's "active" state. Enter a string of up to 32 characters in length. This field is optional and may be left blank.

#### Inactive Text

Specifies the description of the object's "inactive" state. Enter a string of up to 32 characters in length. This field is optional and may be left blank.

#### Relinguish Default

Defines the default value to be used for an object's present value property when all entries in the object's priority array are NULL.

#### 10.4.14 Multi-state Input Object Settings

#### Object Name

The name of the BACnet object. Enter a string of between 1 and 32 characters in length. All object names must be unique within a node.

#### Instance

The BACnet object's instance number. Enter a value between 0...4194302 (0x0...0x3FFFFE).

#### Function Code

The inverter function code (refer to section 4) that the BACnet object's present value will access.

#### Data Type

Fixed at 16-Bit Unsigned.

#### 10.4.15 Multi-state Output Object Settings

#### Object Name

The name of the BACnet object. Enter a string of between 1 and 32 characters in length. All object names must be unique within a node.

#### Instance

The BACnet object's instance number. Enter a value between 0...4194302 (0x0...0x3FFFFE).

#### Function Code

The inverter function code (refer to section 4) that the BACnet object's present value will access.

#### Data Type

Fixed at 16-Bit Unsigned.

#### Relinguish Default

Defines the default value to be used for an object's present value property when all entries in the object's priority array are NULL.

#### 10.4.16 Multi-state Value Object Settings

#### Object Name

The name of the BACnet object. Enter a string of between 1 and 32 characters in length. All object names must be unique within a node.

#### Instance

The BACnet object's instance number. Enter a value between 0...4194302 (0x0...0x3FFFFE).

#### Function Code

The inverter function code (refer to section 4) that the BACnet object's present value will access.

#### Data Type

Fixed at 16-Bit Unsigned.



## Relinguish Default

Defines the default value to be used for an object's present value property when all entries in the object's priority array are NULL.

## 10.5 PROFINET IO

#### 10.5.1 Overview

11

The PROFINET IO device driver allows a controller to interact with the interface card via cyclic data exchange and acyclic read/write requests. The I/O data is entirely user-configurable, and is utilized when a standard I/O module is chosen during network configuration.

#### Some other notes of interest are:

- Allows simultaneous access to only 1 PROFINET controller.
- Supports conformance class B and real time (RT) communication.
- Supports the highest Netload Class III.
- Supports MRP (Media Redundancy Protocol) client.
- Supports DCP (Discovery Control Protocol).
- Supports alarms.
- Supports I&M.
- The lowest supported I/O Cycle Update Time (in STEP 7 or an equivalent hardware configuration tool) is 1ms.
- The GSDML file can be downloaded from the product web page on the internet.
- Supports several user-configurable I/O modules with up to 32 input words and 32 output words.
- Supports the PROFIdrive profile version 4.1.
- No explicit module selection is required on the interface card: the module will be selected automatically according to the controller's configuration.
- If a timeout occurs on the RT connection, the driver can be configured to trigger a timeout event as
  described in section 6.6.1. The timeout value is dictated by the PROFINET controller and is at
  least three times the IO Cycle update time. The timeout value is also known as the "IO Cycle
  Watchdog" time.

#### 10.5.2 Device Settings

In the studio's Project panel, navigate to OPC-PRT3...Ethernet...PROFINET IO.

#### Device Name

The device name / station name must be unique across the entire PROFINET network, because it is used by controllers to uniquely identify PROFINET devices. This string must conform to the device name requirements contained in the PROFINET specification.

#### 10.5.3 Connection Timeout Options

In the studio's **Project** panel, navigate to **OPC-PRT3...Ethernet...PROFINET IO**. The following configuration options will determine the actions to be taken by the card if the PROFINET IO connection is abnormally terminated or lost.

#### Controller Stop State Behavior

PROFINET controllers (such as PLCs) include an "APDU Data Status" in all cyclic (I/O) command data packets sent to devices. This status includes a "run/stop" flag intended to signify when the controller is in the "run" state or the "stop" state. For example, a Siemens SIMATIC PLC will set the run/stop flag to stop when its processor dipswitch is placed in the "STOP" position.

The Invoke Timeout on Controller Stop State setting configures the behavior of the interface card when the controller sets the run/stop flag to stop.

- If the checkbox is not checked (default setting), then the driver will maintain the last consumed I/O
  data values received from the controller. For example, if the controller commanded the inverter to
  run prior to setting the run/stop flag to stop, then the inverter will continue to run.
- If the checkbox is checked, then the driver will perform the **Timeout Action**.

#### Timeout Action

Select an action from the drop down menu:

"None"...... No effect. The inverter will continue to operate with the last available settings.



"Apply Fail-safe Values"...... Apply the fail-safe values as described in section 6.6.1.

"Fault Drive"...... The behavior will depend on the timeout conditions set by the inverter (function codes o27 and o28), which may result in an Er5 fault. Refer to section 3.2.

#### Enable Drive Fault Reset

This will clear the Er5 fault once communication is re-established. This option is only available if the **Timeout Action** is set to "Fault Drive".

#### 10.5.4 Cyclic I/O Produced and Consumed Data Access Settings

In the studio's **Project** panel, add **OPC-PRT3...Ethernet...PROFINET IO...Produced Data Word** and/or **Consumed Data Word**.

The Produced Data Word and Consumed Data Word objects are only applicable when using the I/O module "IN: 32 WORDS, OUT: 32 WORDS", which is typically the case. The Produced Data Word defines the structure of status data sent from the inverter to the controller. The Consumed Data Word objects will define the structure of the command data sent from the controller (for example, a Siemens PLC) to the inverter. These objects allow the creation of custom-built I/O data. Up to 32 "command" function code values can be sent to the inverter, and up to 32 "status" function code values can be sent to the inverter, and up to 32 "status" function code values can be sent back to the controller. Therefore, up to 32 Produced and 32 Consumed Data Word objects can be created. If a consumed word offset is not defined, that data will be ignored by the inverter. If a produce word offset is not defined, the value will default to 0. The size of the actual I/O produced and consumed data is determined by the PROFINET controller. The I/O data format is summarized in Table 39.

#### Description

This 32-character (max) field is strictly for user reference: it is not used at any time by the driver.

#### Produced Data Word Offset

The value from the associated inverter function code will populate this word offset of the produced data that is to be sent to the controller. It is recommended to start at word offset 0.

#### Consumed Data Word Offset

The consumed data received from the controller at this word offset will contain the value to be written to the associated inverter function code. It is recommended to start at word offset 0.

#### Function Code

The inverter function code (refer to section 4) associated with the word offset. For the Produced Data Word object, enter a "status" function code to be monitored. For the Consumed Data Word object, enter a "command" function code that can be written.

#### Data Type

Each data word is fixed to 16-Bit Unsigned (equivalent to two bytes.) The data word is transferred in little endian format.

Consumed Data (PLC to Inverter)		Produced Data (Inverter to PLC)	
Word Offset	Function Code	Word Offset	Function Code
0	Any	0	Any
1	Any	1	Any
:	Any		Any
30	Any	30	Any
31	Any	31	Any

#### Table 39: User-Configurable Module I/O Data Format

The default I/O configuration is described in Table 40.

Note Always use the studio to confirm the configuration before commissioning the device.

#### Table 40: Default User-Configurable Module I/O Data Format

## 166\_

Consu (PLC to	med Data Inverter)	Produced Data (Inverter to PLC)			
Word Offset	Function Code	Word Offset	Function Code		
0	S06	0	M14		
1	S05	1	M09		
:	None	:	None		
30	None	30	None		
31	None	31	None		

## 10.5.5 PROFIdrive Profile

For optimal interoperability, the interface card supports the PROFIdrive profile version 4.1. Use of the PROFIdrive profile is optional and is not recommended unless specifically required in the PROFINET system specification. No explicit configuration of the interface card is necessary in the studio when using the PROFIdrive profile. The controller **must** support the PROFIdrive profile and **must** be configured to use the "Standard Telegram 1" module on the interface card. If the controller does not support the PROFIdrive profile is only partially described in this manual due to its complexity. The complete PROFIdrive profile specifications can be obtained from <u>http://www.profibus.com/</u>.

## Some other notes of interest include:

- Implements Application Class 1 (standard drive)
- Supports only Standard Telegram 1 (ST1, PZD-2/2) on slot 1 (similar to Profibus PPO type 3)
- Supports only Speed Control Mode

## 10.5.5.1 PROFIdrive Standard Telegram 1

The standard telegram 1 mapping is described in Table 41.

Table	41:	Standard	Telegram 1
-------	-----	----------	------------

IO Data	Setpoin	t (PLC to Inverter)	Actual Value (Inverter to PLC)			
Offset	Significance	Description	Significance	Description		
0	STW1	Control word 1	ZSW1	Status word 1		
1	NSOLL_A Reference speed setpoint		NIST_A	Speed actual		

## 10.5.5.2 PROFIdrive Control and Status Words

The control word, STW1, is the principal means for controlling the drive. It is sent by the controller (PLC) to the device (inverter). The bitmapping for the control word is described in Table 42. The status word, ZSW1, returns status information from the inverter to the controller. The bitmapping for the status word is described in Table 43.

## Table 42: STW1 Control Word Mapping

Bit	Value	Significance	Description
٥	1	ON	Run command ON
0	0	OFF	Run command OFF
1	1	ON2	No coast stop
I	0	OFF2	Coast to a stop
2	1	ON3	No quick stop
2	0	OFF3	Quick stop
2	1	Enable Operation	Enable inverter operation
3	0	Disable Operation	Disable inverter operation
4	1	Enable Ramp Generator	Enable the ramp frequency generator (RFG)
4	0	Disable Ramp Generator	Hold the output frequency to 0 Hz
	1	Unfreeze Ramp Generator	Unfreeze the RFG
5	0 Freeze Ramp Generator		Freeze the RFG with the current output frequency
6	1	Enable Setpoint	Enable command



Bit	Value	Significance	Description		
	0	Disable Setpoint	Disable command		
7	1	Fault Acknowledge	Reset the alarm on a positive edge $(0\rightarrow 1)$ transition		
	0	No significance	Do not reset the alarm		
8 - 9	Not used				
10	1	Control By PLC	Enable remote control. The IO process data is valid.		
10	0	No Control By PLC	Disable remote control. The IO process data is not valid.		
11	1	Reverse Direction	Run in the reverse direction		
	0	Forward Direction	Run in the forward direction		
12 - 15	Not used				

#### Table 43: ZSW1 Status Word Mapping

Bit	Value	Significance	Description			
0	1	Ready To Switch ON	Ready to run command ON			
0	0	Not Ready To Switch ON	Not ready to run command ON			
1	1	Ready to Operate	Ready to run			
1	0	Not Ready To Operate	Not ready to run			
2	1	Operation Enabled	Running			
2	0	Operation Disabled	Running disabled			
3	1	Fault Present	Inverter tripped as indicated by ALM. Refer to function code M14 bit 11.			
3	0	No Fault	No trip present as indicated by ALM. Refer to function code M14 bit 11.			
4	1	Coast Stop Not Activated	Follows STW1 bit 1, ON2 active			
4	0	Coast Stop Activated	Follows STW1 bit 1, OFF2 active			
5	1	Quick Stop Not Activated	Follows STW1 bit 2, ON3 active			
Э	0	Quick Stop Activated	Follows STW1 bit 2, OFF3 active			
6	1	Switch ON Inhibited	Not ready to run command ON			
0	0	Switch ON Not Inhibited	Ready to run command ON			
7	Not Used					
	1	Speed Within Tolerance	Actual value equals the reference value and is within the tolerance as indicated by FAR. Refer to function codes M70 bit 1 and E30.			
8	0	Speed Out Of Tolerance	Actual value differs from the reference value or is outside of the tolerance as indicated by FAR. Refer to function codes M70 bit 1 and E30.			
	1	Control Requested	Control by PLC is enabled as indicated by RL. Refer to function code M14 bit 12.			
9	0	No Control Requested	Control is not possible by the controller as indicated by RL. Refer to function code M14 bit 12.			
10	1	Frequency Reached Or Exceeded	The actual value ≥ max reference value as indicated by FDT. Refer to function codes M70 bit 2 and E31.			
10	0	Frequency Not Reached	The actual value < max reference value as indicated by FDT. Refer to function codes M70 bit 2 and E31.			
11 - 15	Not used					

#### 10.5.5.3 PROFIdrive Reference Speed Setpoint and Actual Speed

The speed setpoint value, NSOLL\_A, is the commanded speed reference (normalized) sent from the controller to the inverter. Similarly, the speed actual value, NIST\_A, is the actual operating speed (normalized) of the inverter sent back to the controller. As the inverter natively operates in units of Hz, the following conversion equations are applied within the interface card:



<u>NSOLL A:</u> The inverter reference speed setpoint is a normalized value. The interface card applies the conversion indicated in Equation 8 in order to determine the appropriate speed command to be written to function code S01 (frequency command (p.u.)).

Speed Command = 
$$\frac{\text{NSOLL}_A \text{ x Max Frequency}}{0x4000}$$
 Equation 8

<u>NIST\_A:</u> The inverter operating actual speed is a normalized value that is calculated from inverter function code M06 (output frequency (p.u.)). The interface card applies the conversion indicated in Equation 9 in order to determine the appropriate operating speed actual (normalized).

$$NIST_A = \frac{Running Speed x 0x4000}{Max Frequency}$$
 Equation 9

The "Max Frequency" term which appears in Equation 8 and Equation 9 is obtained from the setting of inverter function code F03 (maximum frequency 1).

A normalized value of 0x4000 corresponds to 100% of the maximum frequency. A positive normalized value indicates forward rotation and a negative normalized value indicates reverse rotation.



The value of F03 is read by the interface card only at boot-up. If the value of this function code is changed, then the interface card must be rebooted in order for it to read the new value from the inverter.

#### 10.5.5.4 PROFIdrive State Diagram

The state diagram is displayed in Figure 74.





#### 10.5.5.5 PROFIdrive-Specific Parameters

The PROFIdrive-specific parameters are shown in Table 44. The parameters are read-only.

PNU	Index	Description
711	None	NSOLL_A – Speed setpoint A
712	None	NIST_A – Speed actual A
833	None	STW1 – Control word 1
834	None	ZSW1 – Status word 1
922	None	Telegram selection = 1 (Standard telegram 1)
923	1,2,5,6	List of all parameters for signals
944	None	Fault message counter
947	03	Fault number (M16M19)
964	06	Drive Unit identification
965	None	Profile identification number = Profile 3, Version 4.1
975	07	DO identification
980	05	Number list of defined parameter
1401	None	DO IO Data reference parameter

#### Table 44: PROFIdrive-Specific Parameters

#### 10.5.6 Acyclic Data Access

Any inverter function code can be accessed via PROFINET acyclic services. To accomplish this, set the API to 0 (when using the IN:xx,OUT:xx modules) or 14848 (when using Telegram 1), Slot to 1 and SubSlot to 1. The record number/index value is equivalent to the desired function code register number described in section 4.1. The length is specified according to the number of bytes to access. Since each register corresponds to 2 bytes of data, the length must be an even number.

#### 10.5.7 TIA Portal (STEP 7) Hardware Configuration Example

The following example will use TIA Portal V13 (STEP 7) to demonstrate the basic hardware configuration procedure to configure a PROFINET device. The procedure, in general, will apply to similar configuration software. The example will not cover all features of TIA Portal. Any questions regarding TIA Portal (or similar configuration software) must be directed to the vendor of the software.

This example assumes that there is already an existing TIA Portal project with the desired PLC.

#### 10.5.7.1 Register the GSDML File

Open the TIA Portal project. Navigate to Options...Manage general station description files (GSD) as shown in Figure 75.

Project Edit View Insert Online	Options Tools Window Help	
📑 🖪 Save project 🔳 🐰 💷 🗍	¥ ≦ettings	e
Project tree	Support gackages	
Devices	Manage general station <u>d</u> escription files (GSD) Start <u>A</u> utomation License Manager	
300	Show reference text	

Figure 75: Install GSD File Menu Option

Locate and select the GSDML file and click the **Install** button. Confirm that the installation was completed successfully as shown in Figure 76 and click the **Close** 

button. It is recommended to use the latest GSDML, which is available via the product web page on the internet.

	ath:	C:\				
Content	of imp	orted pat	h			
File		Version	Language	Status	Info	
GSDN	/L-V2.31-	V2.31	English	Not yet installed	PNIO communication	interface for
	Manag	e genera	station d	escription files		
	Insta	llation re	sult			
	1 14					
		Installatio	n was com	pleted successfully		
	•	in s como civ	in nos com	neteo successiony.		
د						
	1					

Figure 76: Successfully Installed GSDML File

This will update the **Hardware catalog**. Locate the device in the **Hardware catalog**. In the **Project tree**, double-click on **Device & networks**. Select the **Network view** tab and locate the device in the **Hardware catalog** as shown in Figure 77.

Dev	ices 8	a networks			_ <b>= =</b> ×	Hardware catalog		
7 To	opolog	y view 🔒 Netw	o <mark>rk view</mark>	De	vice view	Options		
ιΠ	Net	work overview	Connect	ions				Haro
^	*	Device		Туре		✓ Catalog		Iwa
=		▼ \$71500/ET200MP s	tation_1	\$71500/E	T200MP station	<search></search>	ini, init	e o
		plc1		CPU 1511	-1 PN	Filter		ata
						Controllers	^	log
						🕨 🥅 HMI		
-						PC systems		Ų.,
-						Drives & starters		0
10						Network components		
						Detecting & Monitoring		le
						Distributed I/O		00
						Field devices		s
						Other field devices		
						- D PROFINETIO		
								Ta
~						- 🛅 ICC		sks
	<				>	✓ ☐ OPCPRT3	=	
						▼ ☐ OPCPRT3		
10	Prope	rties 🛛 🗓 Info 🔒	Diag	nostics		Standard, 2 ports		5

Figure 77: Updated Hardware Catalog



## 10.5.7.2 Add the Device to the Configuration

Select the device in the **Hardware catalog** and drag the device into the **PROFINET IO** system configuration as shown in Figure 78.



Figure 78: Add Device to Configuration

#### 10.5.7.3 Select the IO Controller

On the device, click "Not assigned" and select the appropriate PLC PROFINET interface as shown in Figure 79. This will assign the device to the PROFINET IO system as shown in Figure 80.

Standard, 2 ports	DP-NORM
Select IO controller plc1.plc1_1	_

## Figure 79: Select IO Controller



Figure 80: PROFINET IO System

## 10.5.7.4 Assign IO Module

Click on the device and then click on the **Device view** tab. In the **Hardware catalog**, expand **Module** and add a module "IN: XX WORDS, OUT: YY WORDS" into **Slot** 1. The module will determine the input and output sizes. In this example, the module "IN: 02 WORDS, OUT: 02 WORDS" is selected. Select a module with the appropriate input and output sizes for your specific application. Refer to Figure 81.

example → plc1 [CPU 1511-1 PN] → Distributed I/O	PROFINET IO-System (100): PN/IE_1	opcprt3	<u> </u>		. # = X	Hardware catalog
	🚽 Topology view	Network	view 🚺	Device	view	Options
🏕 opcprt3 💌 🖽 🖾 🖼	Device overview					
^	Wodule 1	Rack	Slot I	address	Q address	✓ Catalog
	✓ opcprt3	0	0			<search></search>
3	Interface	0	0 X1			Filter
scott =	IN: 02 WORDS, OUT: 02 WORDS_1	0	1 0	)3	03	Fill Head module
DP-MORM	D	ag and	drop			[in Module     [in C2 WORDS, OUT 02 WORDS     [in C3 WORDS, OUT 02 WORDS     [in C4 WORDS, OUT 03 WORDS     [in C4 WORDS, OUT 04 WORDS     [in C4 WORDS, OUT 05 WORDS     [in C4 WORDS, OUT 05 WORDS     [in C4 WORDS, OUT 04 WORDS     [in C4 WORD     [in C4 WORDS     [in C4 WORDS     [i

Figure 81: Add IO Module



#### 10.5.7.5 Configure the Device Properties

Select the device and navigate to the **Properties** tab. Select the **PROFINET interface [X1]** node. Assign a unique and compatible **IP address** for this device as shown in Figure 82.

[Module]		Reporties	s Info 🔒 🗓 Diagnostics	
General IO tags Syst	tem constants Texts			
General     PROFINET interface [X1]     General	PROFINET interface [X1]			=
Ethernet addresses Advanced options Hardware identifier Identification & Maintenance	Name: Comment:	Interface		
Hardware identifier Shared Device				~
	Ethernet addresses			
	Interface networked with			
	Subnet:	PN/IE_1 Add new subnet		-
	IP protocol			
	Sen protocor	Set IP address in the p	project	
		IP address:	192 . 168 . 17 . 102	
		Subnet mask:		
		Router address:	0 . 0 . 0 . 0	
				~

Figure 82: Assign Unique Compatible IP Address

Assign a unique PROFINET device name as shown in Figure 83.



Figure 83: Assign Unique Device Name

Set the I/O cycle Update time and Watchdog time as shown in Figure 84.



Figure 84: Set I/O Cycle Update Time

## 10.5.7.6 Online Device Discovery and Configuration

120

In the **Project tree**, expand **plc1...Distributed I/O...PROFINET IO-System (100):PN/IE\_1**. Expand the device and double-click **Online & diagnostics**. In the next panel, expand **Functions** and select the **Assign IP address** node. Click the **Accessible devices** button. Select the appropriate **PG/PC interface** and click the **Start search** button to discover and display the PROFINET devices on the network as shown in Figure 85. Select the device and click the **Apply** button.



Figure 85: Discover PROFINET Devices on the Network

If the **IP** address does not match the values set in the configuration, click the **Assign IP** address button as shown in Figure 86.



Figure 86: Assign IP Address

Navigate to Functions...Assign name. If the PROFINET device name does not match, select the device and click the Assign name button as shown in Figure 87.

	m									
Diagnostics	Assign name									
Accion IR address										
Assign name										
Reset to factory settings	Configured PROFINET device									
		Dev	ice type.	Standard, 2 ports						
	Online access									
		Type of the PG/PC int			ce: 🖳 PN/IE					
	PG/PC interface: 🔝 TwinCAT-Intel PCI Ethernet Adapter (Gigabit) 💌 🐨 🔯						0			
	<ul> <li>Only show devices with bad parameter settings</li> <li>Only show devices without names</li> </ul>									
	Accessible device	s in the network:								
	IP address	MAC address	Device 🔺	PROFINET device nam	e Status					
	192.168.17.102	84-EB-18-96-62-EA	opcprt3	Interfacecard	V UK					

Figure 87: Assign Name

#### 10.5.7.7 Save the Configuration

100

The hardware configuration is now complete. Save and perform any necessary compilation of the configuration. Download the application and configuration to the PLC. The PLC application program can then be started. Please consult with the vendor of your PROFINET PLC software for additional programming and configuration details.

#### 10.5.8 GE Proficy Configuration Example

The following example will use GE Proficy Machine Edition SIM11 to demonstrate the basic procedure for configuring a PROFINET device. The example will not cover all features of Proficy. Any questions regarding Proficy (or similar configuration software) must be directed at the vendor of the software.

This example assumes that there is already an existing Proficy project with the desired PLC.

### 10.5.8.1 Register the GSDML File

Open the Proficy project. In the **Navigator** panel, right-click **Profinet Controller** and select **Add IO-Device...** as shown in Figure 88.


Figure 88: Add IO-Device

Click the Have GSDML... button as shown in Figure 89.

	[
. AF6 20111201-V2_2-GE	OK
GE Intelligent Platforms	
GENIUSGateway 20140605-V2_3-GE	Cancel
PAC8000PNS 20131113-V2_3-GEIP	Help>>>
BSTI-STXPNS 20131112-V2_0-GEIP	
B×3iCEP 20131030-V2_3-GEIP	
: RX3iPNS 20130717-V2_3-GEIP	Have GSDML
B×3iPNS 20140527-V2_3-GEIP	 100

Figure 89: Have GSDML

Locate and select the GSDML file. Click the **Open** button to register the GSDML as shown in Figure 90. It is recommended to use the latest GSDML, which is available via the <u>product web page</u> on the internet.

Choose a GSDML file to import		the last part of			×
JOJ I GSD	_		• +• Sea	rch GSD	,
Organize 👻 New folder				# • E	0
🔆 Favorites	-	Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
E Desktop Downloads Recent Places ConeDrive	ш	GSDML-V2.25-ICC-opcprt3-20220108.xml	05/23/2015 Sat	2:0 XML Documer	t 17 K
File <u>n</u> ame:	GSDML-	V2.25-ICC-opcprt3-20220108.xml	✓ GSDM	AL Files (GSDML*.xml;G pen 💌 Canc	SD 🔻

Figure 90: Register GSDML

This will update the **PROFINET Device Catalog**. Locate the device in the **PROFINET Device Catalog** as shown in Figure 91.



Figure 91: Updated PROFINET Device Catalog

## 10.5.8.2 Add the Device to the Configuration

Select the device in the **PROFINET Device Catalog** and click the **OK** button as shown in Figure 91. The device is added under the **Profinet Controller** node as shown in Figure 92.



Figure 92: Added Device to Configuration

#### 10.5.8.3 Assign IO Module

In the **Navigator** panel, right-click on the device and select **Change Module List...** as shown in Figure 93.



Figure 93: Change Module List



Select a module and drag the module into the available slot. The available slots and modules will vary depending on the specific device. Select a module appropriate for your application. Click the **OK** button as shown in Figure 94.

nange Modu				
New module Modules car Modules car	es can be added by drag n be moved by dragging n be copied by dragging	gging a module from g them to an empty r them to an empty ro	the list of available modules on the right to an empty row. w. while holding the Ctrl key down.	
Location	Content	Status	E- Virtual IO	
0	OPCPRT3	Fixed	- IN: 32 WORDS, OUT: 32 WORDS	
	IN: 06 WORDS, OUT	r 06 🔫 Nov	-IN: 10 WORDS, OUT: 10 WORDS	
		Drag an	drop IN: 02 WORDS, OUT: 02 WORDS Standard Telegram 1	
			Order Number	
			Description IN: 06 WORDS, OUT: 06 WORDS	
				OK Cancel

Figure 94: Add IO Module

The module will be reflected in the Navigator panel, under the device as shown in Figure 95.



Figure 95: Added IO Module

#### 10.5.8.4 Configure the Device Properties

In the Navigator panel, right-click on the device and select Properties as shown in Figure 96.



Figure 96: Select Device Properties



Set the properties to match the configuration on the device. The properties must be appropriate for the application and the PROFINET network.

Set the **Update Rate (ms)**. For this example, the **Update Rate (ms)** is set to "8" ms.

Assign a unique **Device Name**. For this example, the **Device Name** is set to "interfacecard".

Assign a unique and compatible IP Address. For this example the IP Address is set to "192.168.17.102".

nspector		
IO-Device		
Device Number	1	
Update Rate (ms)	8	
Reference Variable	<none></none>	
Network Identification		
IO LAN	LAN01	
Device Name	interfacecard	
Device Description		
IP Address	192.168.17.102	

## Figure 97: Set Device Properties

The resulting properties are shown in Figure 97.

#### 10.5.8.5 Save the Configuration

The device configuration is now complete. Save and perform any necessary compilation of the configuration. Download the application and configuration to the PLC. The PLC application program can then be started. Please consult with the vendor of your PROFINET PLC software for additional programming and configuration details.

# ICC.

# **11 TROUBLESHOOTING**

Although by no means exhaustive, Table 45 provides possible causes behind some of the most common errors experienced when using the interface card.

Problem	Symptom	Solution
No communications between the interface card and the inverter	Inverter displays "둔다내" code	<ul> <li>Confirm that the interface card connector is properly seated.</li> <li>Rebooting the interface card via the Fuji Configuration Studio disrupts the communication with the inverter. Reset the fault.</li> <li>If the card is connected in a ring topology, all devices in the ring must be configured with the same ring redundancy protocol (i.e. DLR or MRP). The appropriate ring redundancy protocol must also be enabled on the interface card. Otherwise a ring topology will create an Ethernet loop and result in undefined/erratic behavior.</li> </ul>
No communications between the network and the interface card	Communications cannot be established, the Ethernet "link" LED is off, or the Ethernet "activity" LED flashes only infrequently or not at all	<ul> <li>Confirm that the card is running normally (Module Status LED is not blinking red) and connected to the local Ethernet network.</li> <li>Ensure that the card is programmed with compatible network settings. Consult with your network administrator to determine the compatible settings.</li> <li>Confirm that the destination IP address programmed into the controller equipment or computer matches that of the interface card, as displayed by the studio.</li> <li>Confirm that intermediate firewalls or routers have been configured to allow access to the interface via the applicable TCP/UDP ports.</li> <li>Try a known working Ethernet cable and switch.</li> <li>If attempting to access the web server on a computer whose web browser is configured to use a proxy server, ensure that the proxy server is accessible to the computer, and that the interface card is accessible to the proxy server.</li> </ul>
No PROFINET communication	PROFINET I/O communication cannot be established. The "Network Status" LED is not solid green.	<ul> <li>Confirm that the card's PROFINET device name matches the name assigned in the controller's configuration.</li> <li>Confirm that the card's network settings match the settings assigned in the controller's configuration.</li> <li>Confirm that the I/O cycle update time is set to 1ms or larger.</li> <li>Ensure that the card is connected to a 100Mbps full duplex capable switch.</li> <li>Ensure that the card can be discovered using the controller's discovery tool.</li> </ul>

# Table 45: Troubleshooting

Problem	Symptom	Solution	
Unable to control the inverter via network communications	Writing to command and frequency function codes/registers has no apparent effect on inverter operation	<ul> <li>Confirm that the applicable inverter function codes are set to allow network control (refer to section 3.1).</li> <li>If using the inverter's terminal contacts, refer to the inverter's <u>Instruction Manual</u> to determine the appropriate behavior and priority.</li> </ul>	
XML XTPro socket connection failed	Message/error on web client application	TCP port 843 is blocked by a firewall, router or some other intermediate network equipment.	
New web server content not loading after web server update	Old web server content is displayed	The internet browser has cached the old web server content. Clear the internet browser's cache before attempting to load the new web server content.	
Web page does not display properly	Corrupt web server or obsoleted Adobe flash player plugin	<ul> <li>Ensure that USB and FTP are disconnected.</li> <li>Delete the "WEB" folder from the card's file system and copy a valid "WEB" folder to the card's file system.</li> <li>Adobe Flash Player is no longer supported. Use the Configuration Studio.</li> </ul>	
Studio cannot discover the card	The studio does not display the card under "Online Devices"	<ul> <li>Confirm that the card is running normally and connected via USB or to the local Ethernet network. It is preferable to connect via USB as there are scenarios in which the Ethernet discovery is not available or is disabled.</li> <li>Confirm that the module and network status LEDs blink the green/red startup sequence when power is first applied.</li> <li>Add the studio as an exception to the computer's firewall.</li> <li>Temporarily disable the computer's firewall.</li> </ul>	
Studio cannot access file system	The studio displays an error when uploading and downloading the configuration.	If the studio continually displays an error regarding access to the file system, the card's file system may be corrupt. Please format the card's file system and then restore the configuration (refer to section 6.11). If the file system cannot be formatted, please contact technical support for additional assistance.	
Firmware- generated error	"MODULE STATUS" LED is flashing red. The number of times the LED flashes indicates an error code.	Record the error code blinking pattern and contact technical support for further assistance.	



230 Horizon Drive, Suite 100 Verona, WI 53593 USA Tel: +1 (608) 831-1255 http://www.iccdesigns.com